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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth (Chairman)
(appointed on 2 July 2024)

Mr Chan Wing Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

Ms Luo Ying (appointed on 5 April 2024)

Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth (resigned on 5 April 2024)

Mr Qu Hongging (resigned on 31 March 2025)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (appointed on 24 September 2024)

Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Zhu Shouzhong (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Mao Shuguang (appointed on 24 September 2024 and
resigned on 1 February 2025)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Chan Wing Sum (appointed on 31 March 2025)

Ms Ma Wing Yee (appointed on 30 June 2025)

Mr Wong Kwok Ming (resigned on 1 April 2024)

Mr So Wing Chun (appointed on 1 April 2024 and
resigned on 5 August 2024)

Mr Qu Hongging (resigned on 31 March 2025)

Ms Yan Hoi Ling Jovian (appointed on 5 August 2024 and
resigned on 30 June 2025)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Ma Wing Yee (appointed on 30 June 2025)

Mr Wong Kwok Ming (resigned on 1 April 2024)

Mr So Wing Chun (appointed on 1 April 2024 and
resigned on 5 August 2024)

Ms Yan Hoi Ling Jovian (appointed on 5 August 2024 and
resigned on 30 June 2025)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent (Chairman)

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (appointed on 24 September 2024)

Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Zhu Shouzhong (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Mao Shuguang (appointed on 24 September 2024 and
resigned on 1 February 2025)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent (Chairman)

Ms Luo Ying (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (appointed on 24 September 2024)
Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Qu Honggqing (resigned on 1 February 2025)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent (Chairman)

Ms Luo Ying (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (appointed on 24 September 2024)
Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Qu Hongging (resigned on 1 February 2025)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (Chairman)
(appointed on 24 September 2024)

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent
Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)
Mr Qu Hongging (resigned on 1 February 2025)

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth (Chairman)
(appointed on 16 April 2025)

Mr Chan Wing Sum (appointed on 16 April 2025)

Ms Luo Ying (appointed on 16 April 2025)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

22/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre
30 Harbour Road

Wan Chai

Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited
China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Chiyu Banking Corporation Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

OCBC Wing Hang Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong
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LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE COMPANY

As to Hong Kong law
Simmons & Simmons
30/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road

Hong Kong

As to Hong Kong law

King & Wood Mallesons

13/F, Gloucester Tower, The Landmark
15 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Level 8, K11 ATELIER King's Road
728 King's Road, Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

3638

COMPANY WEBSITE ADDRESS

https://3638hk.com

(information contained in this website does not form part of this report)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY B RS E

A summary of the results and the financial position of the Group for — AN& B &:F R @ FE 2 248 M SR8
the last five financial years is set out as follows: BT :

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+-HLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
bkl T UF T —T--F —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FAT FHT FAT FHAT

Results 4
Revenue WA 238,977 357,111 456,565 1,702,549 2,023,680
Gross profit EH 97,748 14,204 5,908 38,448 62,756
(Loss)/profit before income tax B FTE R AT (E518),/
FE (72,121) 11,142 (109,659) (259,605) (105,910)

(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BR),/FHE (73,810) 11,027 (129,974)  (239,419) (93,448)
(Loss)/profit for the year RRARHEEANELEE

attributable to owners (E518),/FIH

of the Company (76,094) 14,759 (127,605) (241,018) (93,108)
Financial position B AR R
Total assets BEBHE 559,694 478,159 437,887 514,774 935,989
Total liabilities BERE 361,560 198,920 251,605 220,074 402,113
Total equity AT 198,134 279,239 186,282 294,700 533,876
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Hunlicar Group
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Year"”) to shareholders for
review.

During the Year, the Group was principally engaged in (i) computer
and electronic products trading business, (ii) food trading business,
(iii) financial services business (including securities brokerage business,
advisory services business, money lending business, insurance
brokerage business, and trust services business), and (iv) family office
services business.

A NEW CHAPTER: FRESH LEADERSHIP AND THE
"DUAL-CORE” STRATEGY

The 2024/25 fiscal year marks a year of profound significance for the
Group. During the Year, the Group experienced a change in its
controlling shareholder. This change brought a newly structured
Board and management team, marking the beginning of an exciting
new chapter in our development. Under my leadership, the Group
has implemented a “dual-core” strategic framework: building on its
solid foundation in financial services, enhanced by technology, and
collaborating with its existing electronic trading and food trading
businesses to drive integrated growth.

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE AND FINANCIAL
OPTIMISATION

With the support of the new controlling shareholder and the
guidance of the new management team, the Group has adopted a
refined management strategy for its core businesses. The focus has
been on optimising operating cash flow, controlling costs, upgrading
business structures, and improving resource allocation. Management
prioritised cash flow management and strengthened the control of
receivables, which is clearly reflected in our annual financial results.

The segment revenue decreased to approximately HK$239.0 million;
however, the Group achieved a gross profit of HK$97.7 million due
to effective cost reduction and business optimisation efforts. The
gross profit margin improved significantly, rising from about 4.0%
last year to 40.9% this year, which reflects a marked enhancement in
operational efficiency. Additionally, we restructured our interest
expenses by replacing short-term bank loans with low-interest long-
term debt, reducing financial costs to approximately HK$9.1 million
and further stabilising our financial structure.
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The Group identified several expenses, which include a HK$56.0
million fair value change from reclassifying property, plant, and
equipment as investment properties, a HK$8.7 million impairment
loss on goodwill and intangibles assets, and HK$33.7 million in
increased unallocated expenses due to business expansion. This
expansion includes activities related to Al in finance and technology,
workforce growth, and office upgrades. As a result of these factors,
the Group reported an adjusted loss of approximately HK$73.8
million.

BUILDING STRATEGIC RESILIENCE FOR FUTURE
GROWTH

In a volatile global economy marked by cyclical industrial adjustments
and geopolitical risks, the new management has introduced the
“Strategic Resilience Building Plan”. Although changes like cash flow
optimisation and cost control may lead to short-term performance
fluctuations, these are intentional strategies aimed at reallocating
resources toward future core growth areas. Rather than simply
reacting to market changes, the Group is actively transforming
challenges into opportunities for structural improvement. Each
performance metric reflects our industry insights and expertise in
effective management, focusing on long-term goals.

STRONG PERFORMANCE ACROSS FOUR CORE
BUSINESSES

Our four business segments, computer and electronic products
trading business, food trading business, financial services business,
and family office services business, sustained healthy operations,
providing strong liquidity support. Total current assets and total
assets grew to approximately HK$361.3 million and HK$559.7
million, respectively, enhancing our asset structure.

Computer and Electronic Products Trading Business

After six months of comprehensive reforms implemented by the new
management, such as optimising client portfolios, refining credit
terms, and reducing the risks of bad debt, the business segment
successfully turned around from a gross loss last year to achieve a
gross profit of HK$6.2 million. This resulted in a gross profit margin
of approximately 6.9% and a segment profit of HK$1.9 million.

Food Trading Business

Due to effective cost planning and quality certifications, which
allowed access to catering groups and hotels, the net profit margin
improved significantly. This business segment generated a gross
profit of HK$19.5 million and a segment profit of HK$4.0 million,
with the gross margin increasing from 18.3% to 25.4%.
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Financial Services Business

This business segment generated a gross profit of HK$55.2 million
and a segment profit of HK$16.3 million. The securities division had
a strong performance, benefiting from active U.S. markets and
appealing valuations in China and Hong Kong. We continue to focus
on capturing the demand for offshore RMB bond issuance to increase
our underwriting market share.

Family Office Business

Under the “Harbour Family Office” brand, this business segment
offered comprehensive wealth management and inheritance
solutions, generating HK$16.8 million in gross profit and HK$12.3
million in segment profit. In the first half of 2025, we established
strategic partnerships with two leading technology and Al
corporations to develop Al-driven digital family office software. Our
goal is to democratize family office services and drive innovation
within the industry.

LOOKING AHEAD: STEADY GROWTH WITH
INNOVATION

Founded in 2005 and listed in 2013 under the former stock code
8036.HK, the Group proudly marks 20 years of foundational
strength. The new management team is dedicated to building on this
legacy to drive sustained growth. Looking ahead, we recognise that
global geopolitical risks and trade tensions may disrupt supply chains
and financial markets. Therefore, we will remain vigilant, seize
opportunities, mitigate concentration and liquidity risks, and explore
new business avenues for steady advancement.

The Group is implementing a refreshed governance structure to
improve business operations, drive strategic innovation, and enhance
both efficiency and competitiveness. We are committed to
establishing a strong foundation for sustainable, high-quality
development. Our goal is to repay the trust of our shareholders and
partners through consistent progress and professionalism.

Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth, aged 58, has served as the Chairman
and Executive Director of the Company since 2 July 2024. He serves
as a director of multiple subsidiaries of the Company. He also serves
as the chairman of the executive committee (the “Executive
Committee”) of the Company and a member of the corporate
governance committee (the “Corporate Governance Committee”)
of the Company.

Mr Cheung has over 30 years of management experience in
investment in securities, wealth management, asset management
and financial products. From December 2016 to January 2019, he
served as an executive director of Glory Sun Financial Holdings
Limited, a subsidiary of Renze Harvest International Limited (stock
code: 1282)("Renze Harvest”) principally engaged in the provision
of financial services, including securities brokerage services, advisory
services, asset management services, wealth management services
and money lending services. From October 1998 to January 2019, he
served as an executive director and chief executive officer of Glory
Sun Securities Limited (formerly known as Hunlicar Securities Limited,
China Yinsheng Securities Limited and China Goldjoy Securities
Limited respectively), a company principally engaged in the provision
of securities brokerage services.

Mr Chan Wing Sum, aged 45, has served as an Executive Director
and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 24 August
2023. He serves as a director of multiple subsidiaries of the Company.
He also serves as a member of the Executive Committee.

Mr Chan holds a degree of the Doctor of Business Administration
from the Atlanta College of Liberal Arts and Sciences in the United
States and dual master’s degrees, including a Master’s Degree in
Corporate Governance (with Distinction and was awarded Dean'’s
List) from Saint Francis University (formerly known as Caritas Institute
of Higher Education) in Hong Kong, a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Wales in the United Kingdom,
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Marketing from the Edinburgh Napier
University. He is a Graduate Member (GradCG) of the Chartered
Governance Institute and a Certified Management Accountant (CMA)
accredited by the Australian Institute of Certified Management
Accountants.
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Mr Chan has engaged in asset management and financial services in
mainland China, Hong Kong and Singapore for nearly 20 years. He
has served in senior management positions in several listed
companies.

From April 2022 to August 2023, he served as a director and the
chief executive officer of Mouette Securities Company Limited, a
company principally engaged in the provision of securities brokerage
services, advisory services and asset management.

From August 2021 to March 2022, he served as the chief investment
officer of Capital Realm Financial Holdings Group Limited (formerly
known as China Investment Development Limited) (stock code: 204).

From June 2020 to July 2021, he served as the chief executive officer
and chief investment officer of Apollo Capital Management Limited,
a company principally engaged in the asset management business.

From September 2019 to May 2020, he served as the chief
investment officer and executive director of China Hong Kong Link
Asset Management Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Long Well
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Tou Rong Chang
Fu Group Limited) (Stock code: 850 (delisted)).

From May 2014 to October 2019, he served as the chief investment
officer and an executive director of Glory Sun Asset Management
Limited, a subsidiary of Renze Harvest.

Ms Luo Ying, aged 36, has served as an Executive Director of the
Company since 5 April 2024. She serves as a director of multiple
subsidiaries of the Company. She also serves as a member of each of
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the
Company, the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of the Company and the Executive Committee.

Ms Luo earned a Master’s Degree in Financial Management from
Pace University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Financial Services from
Kansas State University, both in the United States. She has over 10
years of experience in finance and corporate governance for listed
companies in Hong Kong and the United States. From May 2016 to
December 2023, she held a number of senior management positions
in Renze Harvest.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent, aged 59, has served as an
Independent Non-Executive Director since 26 June 2012. He serves as
the chairman of each of the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) of the Company, the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee.

Mr Loo is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He has over 35 years
of experience in the accounting, auditing, corporate finance and
business advisory areas. Before joining the Group, he has over 17
years of auditing experience with PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong
Kong. From 2016 to 2022, he was the vice president, chief financial
officer and company secretary of Cosmo Lady (China) Holdings
Company Limited (stock code: 2298). From March 2005 to November
2016, he was an executive director, chief financial officer and
company secretary of Hengan International Group Company Limited
(stock code: 1044).

Mr Leung Wai Kwan, aged 42, has served as an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since 24 September 2024. He
serves as the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
and Remuneration Committee.

Mr Leung holds a Master’s Degree in Corporate Governance from
the Saint Francis University Hong Kong and a Bachelor’s Degree in
Social Work from the City University of Hong Kong. He has over 18
years of extensive experience in the areas of investor relations
management, corporate governance, legal and regulatory,
environmental, social and governance (ESG) and sustainable
development. He is the founder and director of KPI Commercial
Consultancy Services Company Limited and has substantial
experience in the provision of strategic advice to corporations on the
preparation of ESG reports and the optimisation of internal control
systems. He has worked with corporations and listed companies in
Hong Kong to enhance corporate governance, strengthen internal
controls, and execute and implement ESG project objectives.
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Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel, aged 66, has served as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 February 2025. He
serves as a member of the Audit Committee.

Mr Lee is a certified public accountant with a practising certificate.
He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
From 2005 to 2023, he served as a partner of BDO Limited, Hong
Kong member firm of the international accounting network BDO.
From 2013 to 2022, he was a member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Hainan Committee. Since 29
November 2023, he has served as an independent non-executive
director of Baijin Life Science Holdings Limited (stock code: 1466).
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MARKET OVERVIEW

Market Overview of Computer and Electronic
Products Trading Business

The trading business of computer and electronic products in Hong
Kong has been facing a rather challenging situation recently. The
global economic slowdown has had a substantial impact.
Uncertainties in the international economic environment, such as
trade frictions and fluctuations in exchange rates, have reduced the
purchasing power of consumers and the willingness of enterprises to
invest. For instance, the ongoing trade disputes between major
economies have led to higher costs for imported components,
squeezing the profit margins of trading companies.

In terms of market performance, the growth rate of computer and
electronic products trading in Hong Kong has declined significantly in
recent years. The once — prosperous trading volume has shown
signs of contraction, and the number of trading enterprises has also
decreased to some extent. In conclusion, the computer and electronic
products trading business in Hong Kong is in a period of
transformation and adjustment, and it needs to find new growth
points and business models to face future challenges.

Market Overview of Food Trading Business

During the year under review, the food trading landscape in Hong
Kong has encountered a series of challenges alongside emerging
opportunities. As the sector progressed into 2024, it faced significant
difficulties due to economic uncertainties and shifting consumer
behaviour which resulted in a decline within the retail market for
food-related items. Traditional brick-and-mortar retailers and food
businesses have struggled to maintain customer engagement,
experiencing reduced foot traffic and escalating costs, particularly in
competitive urban environments. Moreover, operators within the
restaurant industry have confronted a range of obstacles, evidenced
by a decline in both sales and the number of establishments in key
districts.

The market is projected to experience a gradual recovery in 2025.
Factors such as reduced commercial rents and policy initiatives,
including expanded visa programs designed to attract visitors from
mainland China, are likely to enhance consumer spending. The city’s
recognition as a culinary hub is vital, as the demand for premium and
diverse food products is sustained by both local residents and
tourists.
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The online food trading sector has emerged as a promising area of
growth, propelled by increasing convenience and the rapid adoption
of technology. Food delivery platforms and e-grocery services are
gaining significant traction among urban consumers who favour
contactless shopping options. Furthermore, advancements in supply
chain management, in conjunction with collaborations between local
vendors and digital platforms, are enhancing operational efficiency
and expanding market reach.

Despite the persistent challenges of global inflation and logistical
disruptions, the food trading sector exhibits notable resilience,
facilitated by Hong Kong's strategic geographic positioning and its
diverse culinary landscape. This resilience suggests a favourable
outlook for long-term stability. Industry stakeholders are effectively
responding to emerging trends, including health-conscious dining,
sustainable sourcing practices and the popularity of fusion cuisine.
Such strategic adaptations position the food trading business to
leverage changing consumer preferences in the foreseeable future.

Market Overview of Financial Services Business

In the years 2024 and 2025, Hong Kong, recognised as a prominent
global financial hub, has encountered a complex array of trends
within its financial services sector.

In the securities brokerage industry, market volatility has exerted a
considerable influence. Various factors, including global economic
uncertainties, geopolitical tensions and fluctuating interest rates,
have significantly impacted trading volumes. While some investors
have opted for a more cautious investment strategy, others have
sought to capitalize on market fluctuations. Moreover, the advent of
digital trading platforms has revolutionised the brokerage landscape,
with firms competing to deliver advanced trading tools, real-time
data analytics and reduced transaction costs to attract clients.

The advisory services sector is currently experiencing significant
demand as businesses and high-net-worth individuals seek assistance
in navigating a complex economic landscape. These clients
increasingly rely on financial advisors for investment strategies, risk
management, and comprehensive wealth planning. Advisors with
expertise in sustainable finance, particularly in environmental, social
and governance (ESG) investing, have noted a marked increase in
client interest, reflecting a wider global shift towards responsible
investing practices. Nonetheless, the market remains highly
competitive with both local and international firms actively vying for
market share.
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The money lending sector encountered considerable challenges in
2024. Rising interest rates curtailed the borrowing intentions of both
businesses and consumers, resulting in a decline in overall loan
volume as potential borrowers were deterred by the escalating cost
of capital. Moreover, the introduction of more stringent regulatory
requirements, intended to enhance financial stability, imposed
additional compliance obligations on lenders. Nevertheless, there
remains a notable demand for specialized lending, particularly in the
form of loans for small and medium-sized enterprises with robust
business models. In response to these challenges, lenders have
adopted a more risk-averse strategy, conducting comprehensive
credit assessments prior to the approval of loans.

The financial services sector in Hong Kong has encountered various
challenges. However, its inherent resilience and adaptability to
technological advancements, coupled with its strategic geographic
position, continue to enhance its prospects for future growth.

Market Overview of Family Office Services Business

The family office services sector in Hong Kong is undergoing
substantial growth and consolidation during the years 2024 and
2025, thereby reinforcing its position as a premier global hub for
wealth management and strategic financial planning. This expansion
is primarily driven by the region’s economic stability, favourable
regulatory framework and accessibility to international markets.
Consequently, Hong Kong has emerged as the preferred destination
for ultra-high-net-worth individuals (UHNWIs) and families who are in
search of comprehensive solutions for wealth preservation and
generational planning.

Government initiatives have been instrumental in fostering growth
within the sector. Proactive strategies designed to attract new family
offices, including streamlined registration processes, tax incentives
and targeted outreach efforts, have led to a notable increase in the
establishment and expansion of both local and international
operations. Additionally, initiatives aimed at enhancing Hong Kong’s
reputation as a centre for sustainable and ESG-aligned investments
have resonated with global clients, reflecting a broader trend towards
responsible wealth management.

16

—ToWF - FEITEEBHEROKE - F
REFMAS TEEIEBEENEESE 8%
ERERETR  BEERAREARKAE LT
MEMANL 1o EERTERIBELENE
BREEERNSIAGERATREINEGR
B AT BRAERNBRIDARE - LE
EHEHERARROPNEENER - BE
BB B BREUE ISR R R AR
B - AEREE R Z AET R EAERRHE o

FENTHREEBIZRUSE - AW - HE
BREEME XIME SR EERE N - N EEB
BB E - BT HERIIERMATR

KEMAERBER 2T SHE

BEERGHAERBITEBRN T _HFER=
ERFREARERNES  KHMBEHE
RERVEEELRRBEMETBRE D OO
- E—RETBEXREKERE  BHNEE
ERLEANBERTSNENMES - Bit - &
BEKASKMERERERRE ZEERTT
RHERFEALTRFKENEREB M o

B EEABIMEER TR R - BTAI
RGN E I ENEGEE - 2REECER
miz - MREB LA EMEMINETE - B
A4 N B b S0 7 AN R B AL A0 o it
S EERABEBERAUBERTERE  #
ENEANRERLNBENERS  ColER
REFPHHRE RROABEINMEEENE
FZi8% -



Annual Report &3k 2025

Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIIEBEBR AT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The services offered within the industry have undergone significant
evolution to address a diverse array of client needs. These offerings
now include not only traditional wealth management and investment
strategies but also specialised services such as succession planning,
philanthropy advisory and cross-border asset allocation. The extensive
pool of financial expertise available in Hong Kong, coupled with its
seamless integration of global and regional networks, empowers
family offices to effectively navigate complex regulatory frameworks
and capitalize on opportunities within emerging markets.

Despite the challenges posed by global economic uncertainties, Hong
Kong remains strategically positioned as a gateway to mainland
China. The city is renowned for its financial stability, which fosters
long-term investor confidence. As family offices increasingly
emphasize diversification and resilience, Hong Kong’s capability to
offer tailored, high-value services ensures its sustained prominence in
the global family office sector in the forthcoming years.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) computer and electronic
products trading business, (ii) food trading business, (iii) financial
services business (including securities brokerage business, advisory
services business and money lending business), and (iv) family office
services business.

For the year under review, the revenue of the Group recorded
approximately HK239.0 million (2024: approximately HK$357.1
million), representing a decrease of 33.1% over last year. The Group
experienced a decline in revenue due to the negative effects of the
global market environment. Although the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic has come to an end, the recovery of the global economy
remains slow, influenced by the broader macroeconomic conditions.
Various sectors of society are working hard to progress despite these
challenges.

The global economic environment is affected by several uncertain
factors, including inflation, geopolitical tensions, and tightening
financial conditions. The ongoing decline in consumer confidence is
hampering the global recovery and contributing to weakening trade.
Additionally, rising costs in areas such as logistics, finance, trade, and
promotion, along with labour shortages, are increasing competition
among businesses. These factors are creating significant challenges
for all companies within the Group.
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Business Review of Computer and Electronic
Products Trading Business

During the year under review, this business segment has attempted
cost-control measures. These include negotiating better terms with
suppliers, cutting unnecessary expenses in marketing and
administration, and optimising resource use. This business segment
has also aimed to strengthen its long-term business relationships with
both suppliers and customers. By collaborating closely with suppliers,
it can ensure a stable supply of high-quality products and secure
more favourable pricing terms.

In addition, the Group continues to maintain a stringent credit policy,
not only by sustaining good relationships with suppliers but also by
actively collecting accounts receivable, increasing operational capital
levels, and reducing liquidity risk.

For the year under review, the revenue of this business segment
recorded approximately HK$90.0 million (2024: approximately
HK$248.8 million), representing a decrease of 63.8% over last year
and accounting for approximately 37.7% (2024: approximately
69.7%) of the Group's total revenue. The decrease in revenue was
primarily due to more intense market competition and weak demand.
Despite this, the business segment successfully turned a profit and
actively reduced the total amount of accounts receivable to reduce
the risk of bad debts under the background of the reciprocal tariffs
imposed by the United States, global trade was negatively affected.

Outlook of Computer and Electronic Products
Trading Business

This business segment will continue to monitor market trends closely.
It will take prompt and appropriate actions to adjust its business
strategies and allocate resources effectively under different market
conditions.

Artificial intelligence continues to develop rapidly, and this business
segment expects the commercialization of related technologies to
become increasingly widespread. The demand for related products
and components presents an opportunity for this business to expand.

Furthermore, due to the increasing geopolitical risks, the computer
and electronics industry may have opportunities to expand from
China to other Asian countries. The Group will also actively seek
opportunities to expand into related markets.
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Business Review of Food Trading Business

In 2023, the Group strategically entered the Hong Kong food trading
industry through the acquisition of companies primarily engaged in
the trading of frozen food products, as well as in the provision of fish
processing and preservation services. This decision enabled the Group
to gain access to a dynamic and competitive market.

The food trading business segment encompasses a diverse array of
activities. It is dedicated to the procurement of various frozen food
products, including whole and cut salmon from Norway, scallops,
eels, sea cucumbers, yellowtail fillets, wagyu beef, lamb and other
frozen seafood and meat items. These products are sourced from
both domestic and international suppliers.

A considerable portion of the customer base for this business
segment comprises local restaurants and frozen food shops. The food
trading team has established a distinct competitive advantage by
offering whole salmon sourced directly from Norway. Customers
have the opportunity to customise their orders based on specific
requirements, including the cutting and packaging of the salmon into
smaller portions or particular sizes. This flexibility effectively addresses
the diverse needs of the market.

For the year under review, the revenue of this business segment
recorded approximately HK$77.0 million (2024: approximately
HK$107.0 million), representing a decrease of 28.1% over last year
and accounting for approximately 32.2% (2024: approximately
30.0%) of the Group's total revenue. The decrease in revenue was
primarily due to the downturn in the food and beverage business in
Hong Kong, resulting a decrease in customer demand.

Contributed by proper cost reduction, net profit margin has increased
significantly. Some imported foods have passed and obtained
certification from quality inspection agencies, which will help to be
included in the suppliers’ list of large catering groups and hotels and
is expected to expand the number of customers and reduce customer
concentration risk.
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Outlook of Food Trading Business

In light of prevailing market conditions, this business segment is
actively implementing strategies to enhance its adaptability. The food
trading team is diligently monitoring market trends, with particular
emphasis on the increasing consumer demand for healthy and
sustainable food options. To broaden its product portfolio, this
business segment is acquiring Chain of Custody certifications from
the Marine Stewardship Council (MSC) and the Aquaculture
Stewardship Council (ASC). These certifications establish sustainability
standards for both wild-caught and farmed seafood. The food
trading team is dedicated to assuring consumers and purchasers that
its seafood is sourced from well-managed and sustainable practices.

In order to manage costs effectively, the food trading team will
pursue the negotiation of long-term contracts with suppliers to
secure more favourable pricing. Furthermore, it is investigating
opportunities within the expanding online food sales platform in
Hong Kong to access a broader customer base. The food trading
team also intends to explore potential partnerships with local food
delivery companies to enhance the efficiency of product distribution.

By implementing these strategies, this business segment aims to
improve its current situation and achieve sustainable growth in the
Hong Kong food trading market.

Business Review of Financial Services Business

The financial services business segment that the Group operates
mainly includes securities brokerage business, advisory services
business and money lending business.

Securities Brokerage and Advisory Services Businesses

The Group holds SFC licenses to conduct securities brokerage and
advisory businesses through its subsidiaries. This business developed
steadily during the year, contributing approximately HK$51.1 million
in gross profit and approximately HK$13.1 million in divisional net
profit. The securities brokerage sector continued to perform
outstandingly. The active US stock market and relatively cheap
valuations of the stock markets in China and Hong Kong were
conducive to the increase in trading income.
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The past financial year was marked by significant global economic
volatility, with rising inflation, elevated interest rates, and geopolitical
tensions weighing on market sentiment. Hong Kong, as an
international financial hub, faced unprecedented challenges,
including sluggish retail and catering recovery, a downturn in the
property market, and weakened investor confidence. However,
strategic policy interventions from both the Chinese government and
the Hong Kong SAR authorities, coupled with a resurgence in capital
market activity, have set the stage for a promising recovery.

In the latter half of 2024, a series of stimulus measures from Beijing
revitalized capital markets. These policies, aimed at boosting liquidity
and investor confidence, led to a strong rebound in both A-share and
Hong Kong stock markets. The Hang Seng Index (HSI) has surged by
39.8% from 16,541 on 31 March 2024 to 23,119 as at 31 March
2025.

Despite a turbulent year, Hong Kong's capital markets have shown
remarkable resilience. With strong policy support, technological
advancements, and shifting global capital flows. The securities
brokerage sector recognized the need to regularly review and adjust
business strategies with a prudent and balanced risk management
approach to navigate future challenges while seizing emerging
opportunities. Building a diversified, sustainable, and dynamic
financing platform has always been a priority for the Broker Segment
to enhance its competitiveness.

Money Lending Business

The Group, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Hunlicar CCIG
Financial Management Limited (“Hunlicar CCIG"), is actively
engaged in the money lending business, primarily focusing on the
provision of short-term loan financing to both individual and
corporate clients. This activity is conducted through a business
network in Hong Kong and complies with the Money Lenders
Ordinance (Cap. 163). The duration of the loans is typically one year
and the interest rates range from 10.0% to 15.0%, reflecting
prevailing market conditions. This business contributed approximately
HK$4.1 million in gross profit and approximately HK$3.2 million in
net profit.

B ki M o3 B

B E— A B E B R 2 BRI AR K
B @KL MEEAWEBURERRBE
SHSBEEAR - EEERBEEREZRTL @
BRIMAREHNKE  BRTERERESHFS
h-BHERE - ZREERFELREF - AT H
BHAMEEREE BB IERRTE - i
FEARMIGEBNES - R SHNIREFETE
o

ZEDFTEF AR R RS R
TEAMG - BEFAERRABEMEEEE
DRBERERARMBRTISH HIR AP RE -
EBAEESEHR-_ZE-NF=A=1+—HH# 16,541
A8 U E_E-_RE=A=+—0H
23,1192 o

BERETBHEN—F BEEAMBDHERR
HIE LAV BN - BRER A NEVBRR X5 ~ el
EXMERENRBNBEE - BFELITER
BEA L BAEER FERREREIETTEE DS
B R AR - AR ARREKE - [
R IR IR M OE - ITEZ TE - AIHE
BEIHRMEFE —ERFBRBEHEN
HIEH

=EXH

AEEFBEXENBARFNINECMERES
Al ([ZFRmEew])  BEEEEEES
FEEIRABEARGEREFRUEHERNR
B REBBREBMEBHGET  UKE
CRUIBEAEB) (BB EBIZE163E) - BEFRHIR
—E—F  FENT10.0%ZE15.0% + BB
T AART o REKEBLEF 494,100,000 %
JC KA F 493,200,000/ 7T °

21



Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIEBEAR AT

Annual Report &3 2025

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B i M o3 M

For the year under review, the revenue of this business segment
recorded approximately HK$55.2 million (2024: approximately
HK$1.3 million), representing an increase of 42.4 times compared to
last year and accounting for approximately 23.1% (2024:
approximately 0.4%) of the Group's total revenue. The increase in
revenue was primarily due to the group’s active efforts to improve
the credit rating mechanism. This includes strict due diligence on
borrowers, continuous monitoring of loan repayment status, actively
following up on overdue accounts for the month, and hiring a new
team to proactively develop new client sources.

Outlook of Financial Services Business

In 2025, the securities brokerage sector in Hong Kong is anticipated
to benefit significantly from the city’s status as a global financial hub.
The expansion of emerging industries, coupled with the growth of
cross-border trading initiatives, is likely to enhance trading volumes.
Additionally, the increasing prosperity of the local population will
result in a higher number of individuals seeking investment
opportunities, thereby augmenting the demand for brokerage
services. In addition, the securities brokerage sector still expects
strong demand for overseas RMB bond issuance and aims to continue
to focus resources on increasing the market share of underwriting
business.

To enhance the effectiveness of the securities brokerage operations,
the securities brokerage team will allocate additional resources
towards the investment in advanced trading technologies. The
securities brokerage sector will continue to upgrade its trading
system, improving speed, stability, and cyber security. It always
strengthens compliance frameworks in anticipation of tighter
regulations, ensuring seamless adaptation to new policies.
Furthermore, the securities brokerage team intends to provide a
diverse array of investment products, including alternative
investments, access to international markets and options aligned with
environmental, social and governance (ESG) criteria in order to attract
a broader clientele.
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The advisory services sector is well-positioned for growth, driven by
the increasingly complex economic and regulatory landscape. Both
corporations and high-net-worth individuals are expected to continue
seeking professional guidance on investment strategies, risk
management and wealth planning. To enhance the efficacy of these
services, the advisory team will prioritise the assembly of a group of
highly skilled and knowledgeable advisors. This team will implement
ongoing training programs to ensure that advisors remain informed
about prevailing market trends, regulatory developments and new
investment products. Moreover, the advisory team will strive to
improve the overall quality of services, thereby empowering advisors
to deliver more personalized and data-driven advice to their clients.

In the realm of money lending, high interest rates may present
certain challenges. However, opportunities remain in niche markets,
particularly in lending to small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
with innovative business models. To optimise its lending operations,
the money lending team will enhance its credit assessment
capabilities. By employing advanced data analytics and artificial
intelligence, the team will be able to evaluate borrowers’
creditworthiness with greater precision, thus minimising the risk of
default.

Additionally, the money lending team will remain vigilant regarding
regulatory requirements to ensure comprehensive compliance. The
team will offer competitive interest rates and flexible repayment
terms to attract a broader range of borrowers amid a competitive
marketplace. Furthermore, the team will endeavour to cultivate
stronger relationships with borrowers by providing exemplary
customer service, thereby fostering repeat business and encouraging
positive word-of-mouth referrals.

Business Review of the Family Office Services
Business

In 2024, the Group commenced its family office service to cater to
ultra-high-net-worth individuals and families. This business segment
is dedicated to delivering a comprehensive financial and professional
service platform for clients in Greater China with a focus on wealth
preservation, appreciation and inheritance planning. Our experienced
team is committed to developing personalised, detailed plans that
align with each client’s financial circumstances and objectives. As the
affluent population in Greater China continues to expand and
favourable policy conditions remain, considerable opportunities are
anticipated to arise for the family office business.
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For the year under review, the revenue of this business segment
recorded approximately HK$16.8 million accounting for
approximately 7.0% of the Group's total revenue.

Outlook of the Family Office Services Business

In 2025, the family office service sector in Hong Kong is anticipated
to experience significant growth, propelled by comprehensive policy
support and a surge in demand. The government’s provision of tax
incentives and initiatives aimed at attracting additional family offices
will enhance the region’s global competitiveness. As the number of
high-net-worth individuals in the Asia-Pacific region continues to rise,
coupled with an increasing need for cross-border wealth
management from mainland China, Hong Kong will remain a
strategic hub for asset allocation and inheritance planning.

The family office team intends to broaden its service offerings to
encompass global investments, tax planning and succession
strategies. The team intends to invest in talent acquisition and
training to effectively navigate complex financial scenarios while
embracing advanced fintech solutions for optimised portfolio
management and data-driven decision-making. In addition,
technology has broken the boundaries of the traditional family office
business model. Whether it is obtaining long-term and stable returns
from investment or inheriting family wealth, it will no longer be
exclusive to high-end customers. In line with the times, the family
office team signed a strategic co-operation agreement with two top
technological and artificial intelligence corporations in the first half of
2025, aiming to launch digital family office software and solutions
with artificial intelligence as one of the core objectives. These
initiatives are designed to capitalize on emerging opportunities and
strengthen our competitive position in the market.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

Revenue by business segments for the Group's revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2025 is as follows:

o Computer and electronic products trading business:
approximately HK$90.0 million, being a decrease of
approximately HK$158.8 million when compared to the
previous year of approximately HK$248.8 million

o Food trading business: approximately HK$77.0 million, being a
decrease of approximately HK$30.0 million when compared to
the previous year of HK$107.0 million

o Financial services business (including securities brokerage
business, advisory services business and money lending
business): approximately HK$55.2 million, being an increase of
approximately HK$53.9 million when compared to the previous
year of approximately HK$1.3 million

The Group’s total revenue for the year was approximately HK$239.0
million, being a decrease of approximately HK$118.1 million when
compared to the previous year of approximately HK$357.1 million.
The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
derived from computer and electronic products trading business.

Gross profit margin for the year was approximately 40.9% (2024:
Gross profit margin of approximately 4.0%). Increase in gross profit
margin was mainly caused by the relatively higher gross profit earned
from financial services business and family office services business.

Selling Expenses
Selling expenses for the year decreased by approximately HK$0.1

million from Last Corresponding Year, which was mainly incurred for
the food trading business.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year increased by
approximately HK$54.7 million compared to the Last Corresponding
year. This increase was primarily due to expenses related to the full
operation of the securities brokerage and advisory business began
during the year. Additionally, staff costs increased to HK$39.1 million
(Last corresponding year: HK$19.2 million) to accommodate the
company'’s development and the hiring of additional staff.

Reversal of Expected Credit Loss on Financial
Assets, net

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a net
amount of Expected Credit Loss (“ECL"”) on financial assets of
approximately HK$2.2 million reversal, being a decrease when
compared to the reversal in Last Corresponding Year of
approximately HK$54.0 million, which was mainly attributed to the
change in ECL incurred from repayment of loan receivables. During
the Current Year, the rates of stock market volatility and deterioration
in economy were slower compared to the Last Corresponding Year,
the group recorded a reversal of ECL on cash client receivables of
approximately HK$1.1 million (2024: provision of approximately
HK$4.0 million). The Group did not engage any independent external
valuers to perform the assessment of ECL on financial assets, instead,
conducted an internal assessment and evaluation to support the
impairment made. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. Reversal
of expected credit loss /(expected credit loss) on financial assets, net
are as follows:

—BRRITHRER

AEEZ—BETHRERREF RPN
54,700,000/ 7 ° :ZEMEZHNRAFEFR A
PHKEEHF SR BRAEBRBOR
B tboh - B TRk AN 1€ 2 39,100,000 7% 7T (&
F[EH 1 19,200,000 7T) LBl & A RIER &
ERAFZET -

CTREERNFESERE - FHE

HE-_Z-_AF=ZA=t+—HLFE T45H
NEcHEERDEESE((RAEEEE])
% 58 43 [0 492,200,000 7T ¢ B £ F B E 4
54 000,000 TLEFTRL BBV EEHE

REZBERKREREENEHEEBEBEME
B o MAFENRN - BMEE) MEEBLHRE
BEFRE  AEBSRSRUIREEFRIEN
FEERE E B EA @4 1,100,0008 T (—ZE =M
F : BEX4,000,00087T) o AEEIEEZEE
BN EEMES M EEETRBEER
EI8TAE - R ETT NI ETE MATAZ A S B BT
FHERE - BHEEEBENSERSREA S
T URBREERRB TS ERARAE
B cMEEBNEEHFERD, GEHEEES
B FRuT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024

—ECRE —EZEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

THxT FHEIT

Loan receivables (i) FERCE T () 1,684 58,154

Cash client receivables (ii) JEUNIR & &P FRIA (i) 1,093 (4,011)

Trade receivables g SRR (625) (181)
Total ECL on financial assets reversed in RETHELONSMEETRY

profit or loss FEEBBEH 2,152 53,962
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The basis for determining the impairment of the Company is based
on the ECL model according to HKFRS 9. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs
except for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for which the
impairment allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the impairment allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the impairment allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

In addition to the above three-stage framework, if there is evidence
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery, the relevant amount will
be written off.

The assessment of the impairment is conducted based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the change of the
factors in the ECL formula (if any), and determines whether the credit
risk of financial assets has changed.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables which
are considered on a collective basis taking into consideration past
due information and relevant credit information such as forward-
looking macroeconomic information. For all other instruments, the
Group measures the impairment equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, where the Group would then consider recognising
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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In assessing whether the credit risk on the financial assets has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

(i) Expected credit loss on loan receivables and
interest receivables

Loan receivables and interest receivables are arising from the
money lending business. The business model of the money
lending business is targeted to provide short-term loan
financing to individual and corporate clients through its
business network in Hong Kong. The term of loans is within
one year. The interest rate is within a range from 10% to 15%
by reference to the market.

Credit risk assessments were performed by the Group before
each loan was advanced. Identity checks, financial background
checks, relevant public searches (such as company search and
land search) were conducted on the borrowers (where
applicable). In credit assessment, the Company will normally
take into account factors including, but not limited to personal
financial background and repayment ability of the borrowers,
internal and external credit checking results, and the borrowers’
repayment record to assure the clients have the financial
capacity to meet loan obligations.

Subsequent to the drawdown of loans, to ensure that loan
repayments are punctual and past due accounts are handled
efficiently, the Group actively reviews and monitors the loan
repayment status on a regular basis.

The Group has closely monitored the loan receivables for the
purpose of assessing credit risk and has put effort into the
collection procedures of the loan receivables, such as making
phone calls and sending reminders to the relevant customers
from time to time. The Group may also negotiate with
customers on the repayment arrangements on a case-by-case
basis according to the circumstances of the customers. Legal
actions may be brought against the relevant customers
depending on the actual circumstances on a case-by-case basis.
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ECL assessment is done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, latest financial capabilities of the borrowers,
general economic and financial conditions and an assessment
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of
conditions at the reporting date.

The Group performs collective assessments on impairment
allowance for the loan receivables and respective interest
receivables on a regular basis by dividing its loan receivables
into different groups according to the loan types, with each
loan type sharing similar credit risk characteristics, and
calculates the ECL for each loan type. The measurement of
impairment allowance for collective assessment is mainly based
on the amount of loan receivables and interest receivables of
each loan type at a point of time and will take into the past-
due status, the probability of default (which may be affected by
the duration of delinquency), loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default), historical repayment
performance and adjusted by forward-looking information such
as the economic and financial environment, etc.

The Group also performs individual assessments on impairment
allowance for the loan receivables and interest receivables. For
individual assessment, the amount of impairment allowance on
loan receivables and interest receivables will be considered on a
case-by-case basis by way of expected cash flow, taking into
account, among other factors, the expected date of recovery.

The Group considers the loan and respective interest receivables
as a loss if the repayment of principal and/or interest has been
overdue for a pro-longed period and the collection of principal
and interest in full is considered improbable after exhausting all
collection efforts such as initiation of legal proceedings.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a
reversal of ECL on loan receivables of approximately HK$1.7
million (2024 reversal of approximately HK$58.2 million); no
written off of ECL on loan receivables (2024: provision of
approximately HK$24.4 million) and no written off of ECL on
loan interest receivables (2024: provision of HK$7.5 million),
after assessing all the borrowers’ financial background,
repayment abilities and expected future cash flows. During the
year, the repayment of loan receivables and interest receivables
were approximately HK$45.3 million and HK$3.9 million
respectively (2024: approximately HK$63.6 million and HK$1.3
million respectively).
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Date of
entering
Borrower into the loan
BRA AYERBEH
Borrower A 27 August 2016
(an individual)
ERAAEA) N
NA=++H
Borrower B 17 April 2019
BHAB —T-NF
mA++H
Borrower C 17 April 2019
(an individual) Mote D
1 FAC —NE
(fAA) D mA++H
Borrower D 30 May 2019
(an individual)
BRAD(EAN) —E-NE
AA=1AH
Borrower E (ot 17 March 2020
ERRAEHED it Sk 33
=At+tH
Borrower F 2 April 2020
(an individual) tote D
EHAF b Sk 23
(A )mED mA=A
Borrower G 22 April 2024 and
7 November 2024
BHAG —TomE
HAZTZAR
—EomE
T—A+H

Annual Report %] 2025

2025
Principal
amount
—BCRE

FEH
(HK$'000)
TR

7,000

40,000

20,000

17,500

The following table sets out a schedule of the loan portfolio of
the Group under its money lending business for the year ended
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024:

TR AEERBE_ZT_RAF=H
=t—BR-ZE-_MFE=ZA=+—HI1
FEEEEBAE T ZERERIIR

2024 Interest
Principal rate Tenor  Background of borrower/
amount (yearly) (year) guarantor (if any)
—ENE Fl= BE  BRAERAN
biNcE: (8%) () Ex(wH)
(HK$'000)
FHET
7,000 15% 1 Amerchant
AA
40,000 8% T Aninvestment holding company,
engaged in financial investment
activities
REERAR  (EERRE
L
40,000 8% 1 Apersonal investor
BAAREE
20,000 12% 1 Amerchant
AA
48,700 12% 1 Aninvestment holding company
RAERRRA
7,000 18% 1 The borrower and guarantor are
businessmen
ERARERAGBEA
- 12%-15% 1 The borrower is an investment

holding company and the

guarantor is a personal investor
BRAR—ERERRE

ERAR— %ﬂA&ﬁ%
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the year ended 31 March 2024.

Date of 2025 2024 Interest
entering Principal [EEZ{LIIE] rate Tenor  Background of borrower/
Borrower into the loan amount amount (yearly) (year) guarantor (if any)
ek — S Flp: MR ERAERAN
EEUN AV EREH xeH xeH (BF) () BxWAH)
(GLEYNOM  (HK$'000)
THET THET
8. Borrower H 27 May 2024 and 40,000 - 12-15% 0.5  The borrower is a trading
21 October 2024 company and the guarantor is
a businessman
fEFAH e S i BHRAR—HESRARERA
TAZ+HERRK R—ABA
b= 113
+AZ+—-8
9. Borrower | 19 August 2024 15,000 - 12% 0.5  The borrower is an investment
holding company, engaged in
financial investment activities
and the guarantor is personal
investor
fEFAL —EomE %ﬁAﬁ*ﬁ%%%@&;
NAt+HIE RBRREERAA
%ﬁAﬁﬂA&é%
10.  Borrower 12 November 2024 2,400 - 12% 3 Apersonal investor
(an individual)
BRAJMEA) —TomE EAREE
+—A+=AH
11, Borrower K 27 February 2025 9,120 - 10% 0.5  The borrower is an investment
and 28 February holding company, engaged in
2025 financial investment activities
and the guarantor is personal
investor
fERAK —EonE fERAR— ﬁ%%é@&’
“AZtTERR EERREERDE
e o %ﬁAﬁﬂA&é%
“R=+N\AH
151,020 162,700
Note 1: Borrower C, Borrower E and Borrower F have settled their loans during e BRAC BERAERERAFEREZZ

EoNE=A=t+—HIEFEHFEER -
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Respective guarantees were given for each of the loans owed
by Borrower F, Borrower G, Borrower H, Borrower [, and
Borrower K, and the terms of each of the loans owed by
Borrower A, Borrower B, Borrower C, Borrower D, Borrower E
and Borrower F (the “Relevant Borrowers” and each a
“Relevant Borrower") allow the Group to appoint receiver(s)
to liquidate any securities held by a Relevant Borrower in a
securities account with the Group to offset outstanding
amounts due upon the occurrence of an event of default. A
pledged debenture and the related security instruments have
been charged as security for the loan owed by Borrower I. Save
the above, no credit enhancement features (including security
or collaterals) were provided in respect of the outstanding
loans.

Impairment losses on loan receivables

As at 31 March 2025, the gross carrying amount of loan
receivables of approximately HK$85.2 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$63.1 million) are denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, unsecured, bearing fixed interest rate from 10%
t0 15% (2024: 8% to 15%), and recoverable within one year
from the dates of inception of the loan agreements. For the
year ended 31 March 2025, the principal loaned to 87.5% and
12.5% of the money lending business client range from HK$0
to HK$20,000,000 and HK$20,000,001 to HK$40,000,000
respectively. Individual clients and corporate clients represent
37.5% and 62.5% of the money lending business clients
respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the
principal loaned to 66.7% and 33.3% of the money lending
business client range from HK$0 to HK$20,000,000 and
HK$20,000,001 to HK$40,000,000 respectively. Individual
clients and corporate clients represent 66.7% and 33.3% of
the money lending business clients respectively.

As at 31 March 2025, impairment losses on loan receivables
(“Impairments”) in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$46.5 million (2024: HK$48.2 million) were recognised.
Such Impairments were made in respect of the three (2024:
three) Relevant Borrowers, none of which were, or were
entitles controlled by, the Directors or other connected persons
of the Company.

BRAF BRAG - BFHAH - BHAI
RABRAKE B RERT 2 B EFER
mERAA fERAB ERAC &K
AD - fERAERIERAF([HRERA]
REBMAER BBRERADARER
BEENGRRTHFARERNBELERNEN
REEZREAZREABBERARAE
KENFFRP T RENEMAEFNE
HENHAEESH - CERESFRIAH
ERTACEMESERAIARERD
R BRLMEI - WEEPERER
(BREEALERR) CHRREENE
R -

BHRERZBESR

MNZEBE-_RE=A=+—0 EREZZ
BRE 481 #785,200,000/8 7T (ZE P04
ZA=+—H : %763,100,000/8 7T ) A5
TOETE - EEF  H10% 2 15% (= F
ZUOF 8% = 15%) Z EE FI X B
WA R ERBEERB R —FARUK
Be-HE-_T-_HAFZA=F+—HIF
B BERF875% N125% 2 (BB ¥
BERPZAED AN TFOBTE
20,000,000 JT 520,000,001 7T &
40,000,000 7L - AARFRAREF
DAL EEEBEFR37.5% & 62.5% °
BE-_Z-_NME=A=+—HIFE &
KT 66.7%NM3B3I%ZIEEEKEFLZ
AL ED RN T 0I0ZE 20,000,000 47T
20,000,001 % Jt Z 40,000,000 JT °
BAEPRAGBIEFPDIMEEEEBRE
FHr66.7% 5% 33.3% °

NRZE-_RAE=A=+—80 2HRERK
B AERBER(RE]) %54 46,500,000
T (ZF Z M4 : 48,200,000 7T ) °
BRREDH=2(ZZ_ME : =8) -
ERAERAED  ERBETMEEER
ABRAREBRHEMBEBEAL - JFEMT
MEBERANESHAAGESRE
fth B8 A 42 H o
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The following table sets out further details of the Impairments: THREIIHEZE—FFE
Outstanding Amount of
principal  Impairments
amount as at as at
Principal 31 March 31 March
Borrower amount 2025 2025 Reasons for the Impairments
R-ZZB-HF RZEB-HF
=A=t—-HB =A=+—H
BRA rEHE 2REELREH ZRESE FREERR
(HK$'000) (HK$'000) (HK$'000)
FHT FHT FHT
Borrower A (an individual) 7,000 3,601 (3,601)  When Borrower A failed to repay
the loan upon maturity
EBERAAMEAN) BERIMBERAAREER
Borrower B 40,000 30,292 (30,292)  When Borrower B failed to repay
the loan upon maturity
AR AB EERIHRERABREREE
Borrower D (an individual) 20,000 12,595 (12,595)  When Borrower D failed to repay
the loan upon maturity
ERCAD (EA) ERE R ERADKREER
Borrower G 17,500 8,000 - nla
BERAG TEA
Borrower H 40,000 7,000 - nla
AR AH TNEA
Borrower | 15,000 12,216 - nla
EEON TE A
Borrower J (an individual) 2,400 2,400 - nl/a
fERAI(EA) TEA
Borrower K 9,120 9,120 - nla
ERAK A
151,020 85,224 (46,488)
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For the outstanding loans in respect of Borrower A, Borrower B
and Borrower D, the Group has taken into account the past-
due status, historical repayment performance, probability of
default and expected amount recoverable from each of these
borrowers, and as at 31 March 2025, each of their respective
loan receivables are considered to be credit-impaired. Full
provision has been made after deducting expected future cash
flows that may be recovered by the Group, through the
appointment of receiver(s) to liquidate any securities held by
each of the borrower concerned pursuant to their respective
loan agreements with the Group. The impairment loss is the
aggregate difference between the principal outstanding and
the expected future cash flows recoverable from these
borrowers.

Actions taken to recover overdue loan receivables

The Group has continued to take actions to recover loan
receivables due to it during the year ended 31 March 2025.
Following negotiations and recovery efforts made by the
Group, Borrower C, Borrower E and Borrower F have settled
their loan due to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024.

In respect of Borrower A, Borrower B and Borrower D, the
Group issued demand letters to them demanding immediate
repayment of the due but unpaid principal and interest under
the loans. The Group has consulted legal advisers and has
appointed a professional independent receiver to recover the
outstanding loans from these borrowers. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, the Group recovered approximately
HK$0.4 million (2024: approximately HK$0.9 million),
approximately HK$9.2 million (2024: HK$Nil) and
approximately HK$6.6 million (2024: approximately HK$0.2
million) in respect of the outstanding loans owed by Borrower
A, Borrower B and Borrower D respectively.

In respect of Borrower G, Borrower H, Borrower |, Borrower J
and Borrower K, the Group has taken into account the pastdue
status, historical repayment performance, probability of default
and expected amount recoverable from each of these
borrowers, and as at 31 March 2025, each of their respective
loan receivables are considered to be low credit risk and no
credit impairment has been made.

IERAA - BERABRERADHKIE
BERME  ARECF RARNKR - E
SEEARKRE  BOBER LA ARG EE
RAWREWFERASRE  ARR T -hF
ZA=1t—R REZENEEEFTIHK
BREHREERE - EIURAREES
ZEREAERSBBERARERS
EEEAEETUNERGH T ANE
AESMA KB ERRIRERE
% AEECTBEHERE - REBERS
AEEAZHABEZFERARDOTE
HARKESREZHWAER -

BENAHERERARNZITE

BE_Z-_RAF=—A=1+—HItFE &K
EEEBRDTHENENEZERE
Mo BREERAEBHIUBTEIER @ (&
HAC BERAERBARAFEREZZ
TN FZRA=+—HLEFELBRES
BN AEB 2 ER -

MEZRAA EFRABREBRADME -
AEED RFEESEDERE - BRIAME
EERETDIHEREN ZAKE R
B o AEEDHKARERTEEAER
BUEEARNZSERABIREEER
ReBHE-_T-_RAF-_A=Z+—HI*F
[E KREERMERAA EFABRER
ADFTRK(EEEF S 5B [ 4 400,000
77T (= P04 : #9900,00087T) ~ £
9,200,000 L (ZZEZWF : T L) &
496,600,000/ ;T( = & — I F: %
200,000 7T) °

FALETRA G~ fEFRAH - AL ERRA
IREFRAKTE - AREEF KB MR
N BLERKRE  BOBERRAIBEA
HZEERAREEEREE - UER-F
“HEZA=+—H BEZENEKE
TR R EEERR KL EFHEE
RE
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Despite the Impairments being made as at 31 March 2025, the
Group reserves all of its rights to take legal actions to recover
any outstanding amounts due from each of the Relevant
Borrowers to safeguard the interests of the Group and the
shareholders of the Company.

Expected credit loss on cash client receivables

Cash client receivables are arising from the securities brokerage
business. For cash client receivables, the Group considers there
has been a significant increase in credit risk when clients cannot
meet the loan call requirement and use the loan-to-collateral
value (“LTV") to make its assessment.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying a significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

The Group considers a cash client receivable is in default when
LTV is larger than a defined benchmark. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a cash client receivable to
be in default when there is a significant shortfall which
indicates the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full taking into account the pledged
securities held by the Group. A cash client receivable is written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recorded a
reversal of ECL on cash client receivables of approximately
HK$1.1 million (2024: provision of approximately HK$4.0
million). The change was mainly due to the slower rates of
stock market volatility and deterioration in economy during the
year. The decrease in market value of the pledged securities of
each client was relatively steady during the Current Year.

(ii)

B ki M o3 B

BEER_T-_AF=A=+—HFE
BE - AEBNRERIVERTHENS
BRERAPTAERERIAREEREALZ
2EER) - UREAREERARBBERZ
s o

BREZEFHBENBAEERFR

FEYR & TP RIAK B BHFELET - Bt
EYREFFPHREMSE  AEER/ER
FPEENAEREHZRAERERE
HeEE(EREFRERE]) ETHE
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AEBETHERAUBNEERRE S
KR8 AN e AR A B PR I SE B E g
7] TeMmEEIRA RIS e S SR B H Al
RN VE N EOPN =R il

RAREERREENS  AEERRE
AEELERR B BRIRNE R BRE
BATKAgEAERA(BRASEE) X
BNR(TERAEEMAFERERR)
- BVBEGEK = -

AEERS  BEFEMREEEBEE
EER BURSEPREBELDY - A
- EETERT  MHRERER K
RASE KA EEFRAREFTAD
EEAESRTEWEREREANEE -
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BHE_Z-_RAF=A=1+—RHIEEE K
EEREURESCEFRBERESEHES
518 # 149 1,100,000 36 70 ( ZF MY 4F -
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Change on fair value upon transfer from property,
plant and equipment to investment property

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group transferred certain
property, plant and equipment to investment properties with the
aggregate carrying amount of HK$179,534,000 (2024: HK$Nil)
resulting in a loss in change in fair value of HK$56,034,000 (2024:
HKS$Ni).

The main reason for the change is the change in the purpose of
holding the properties. The management expects to obtain rental
income from the properties or to obtain additional cash flow from
the sale of the properties in the future.

Other Income and Gains, net

The Group's other income and gains for the year was approximately
HK$7.7 million (2024: approximately HK$2.5 million). The amount
mainly represents management fee income and change in fair value
of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year was approximately HK$9.1 million, being a
decrease of approximately HK$2.6 million when compared to the
previous year of approximately HK$11.7 million. The decrease was
mainly due to the repayment of bank borrowing during the year.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense for the year was approximately HK$1.7 million
(2024: approximately HK$0.1 million). The change was mainly due to
the assessable profits generate from food trading business and family
office services business during the year.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a loss of approximately HK$73.8 million for the

Current Year, as compared to profit of approximately HK$11.0
million for the Last Corresponding Year.
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Loss for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

The loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$76.1 million (2024 profit of
approximately HK$14.8 million), resulted in a basic loss per share for
the year of HK97.0 cents (2024: basic earning per share of HK27.56
cents (restated)) and diluted earning per share for the year of HK97.0
cents (2024: diluted earning per share of HK27.56 cents (restated)).

Inventories, Loan Receivables and Account
Receivables

The Group has enhanced the inventory control policy to manage
business risks associated with its principal activities. Inventories as at
31 March 2025 was approximately HK$3.4 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$8.3 million). The overall inventories turnover days
remained healthy and reasonable for the year under review.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's loan receivables amounted to
HK$38.7 million (31 March 2024: approximately HK$14.9 million),
which arise from its money lending business in Hong Kong. The
Group recorded a reversal of ECL of approximately HK$1.7 million for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately HK$58.2
million).

The Group continues to closely monitor the settlements from its
customers on an ongoing basis to manage the credit risk from time
to time. As at 31 March 2025, included in the account receivables
are trade receivables and cash and margin client receivables, which
amounted to approximately HK$96.2 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$104.1 million) and approximately HK$2.9 million
(31 March 2024: approximately HK$11.4 million), respectively. Trade
receivables are arising from its trading business. Cash and margin
client receivables are arising from its securities brokerage business.
The Group recorded provision of ECL of approximately HK$0.6
million (2024: provision of ECL of approximately HK$0.2 million) on
trade receivables and recorded an reversal of ECL on cash client
receivables of approximately HK$1.1 million (2024: provision of
approximately HK$4.0 million) for the year.

B ki M o3 B
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Liquidity, Financial Resources, Working Capital and
Treasury Policy

As at 31 March 2025, cash and cash equivalents of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$21.9 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$67.7 million), and the Group’s net assets
amounted to approximately HK$198.1 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$279.2 million). As at 31 March 2025, there was
approximately HK$87.0 million outstanding borrowings balance (31
March 2024: approximately HK$122.9 million).

As at 31 March 2025, non-current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$198.4 million (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$243.3 million), the Group’s current assets amounted to
approximately HK$361.3 million (31 March 2024: approximately
HK$234.8 million), and net current assets as at 31 March 2025
amounted to approximately HK$32.7 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$42.6 million). As at 31 March 2025, the current
ratio was approximately 1.1 (31 March 2024: approximately 1.2)
(calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total current
liabilities).

The Group’s gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total
capital (the sum of total equity and net debt), as shown in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposit. The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2025 was approximately
24.7% (31 March 2024: approximately 12.6%).

The Group funds its business and working capital requirements by
using a balanced mix of internal resources, borrowings and funds
from the Company’s equity fund raising exercises. In order to release
the Group’s liquidity stress, the Group will resolve different
approaches including but not limited to reduction of overall operating
cost in all aspects and endeavor to obtain both long-term and short-
term credit facilities. The Group will strive to reduce credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. The Group would also be receptive
to any feasible proposals to dispose of the low utilizing properties as
suitable opportunities arise. The Group will continue to make efforts
to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position by any ways
including actively and regularly reviewing its capital structure
negotiating with banks and other institutions for roll-over or re-
financing its existing borrowings and will consider raising additional
fundings by bank borrowings and by issuing bonds or new shares,
where appropriate.
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Capital Structure and Fund Raising Activities

The capital of the Company comprises only ordinary shares. Save as
disclosed in this report, no fund raising activities were conducted by
the Company during the year.

Rights Issue in January 2024

The Company completed a rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on 22
January 2024. The net proceeds from the Rights Issues was
approximately HK$55.4 million. The net proceeds was intended to be
applied towards (i) expanding the Group’s trading business and
financial services business, (ii) exploiting any opportunities to acquire
new businesses or make strategic investments to broaden or create
synergy for the Group’s trading business, and (iii) the general
working capital of the Group. For details of the reasons for the Rights
Issue, please refer to the announcement dated 17 November 2023
issued by the Company and the circular dated 18 December 2023
issued by the Company.

As at 31 March 2025, the net proceeds from the Rights Issues was
fully utilised as intended.

Share Reorganisation in September 2024

On 23 August 2024, the Company proposed to implement a share
consolidation on the basis that every 12 issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.008333 each would be consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.1 each. Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on
24 September 2024, the share consolidation was approved by the
shareholders of the Company and became effective on 26 September
2024. Immediately after the completion of the share consolidation,
the total number of issued shares of the Company was adjusted from
947,085,300 to 78,923,775. Accordingly, the board lot size of the
shares of the Company for trading on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited changed from 12,000 shares to 1,000 shares.

For details of the share reorganisation, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 23 August 2024, the circular
of the Company dated 30 August 2024 and the announcement of
the Company dated 26 September 2024.
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Repurchase of Shares in September 2024

On 26 September 2024, 1,150,000 shares of the Company were
repurchased by the Company and held as treasury shares (as defined
in the Listing Rules).

On 27 September 2024, 350,000 shares of the Company were
repurchased by the Company and held as treasury shares (as defined
in the Listing Rules).

Cancellation of Treasury Shares in December 2024

On 6 December 2024, 1,500,000 treasury shares (as defined in the
Listing Rules) were cancelled by the Company.

Capital Commitments

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2025 (31
March 2024: Nil).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s other borrowings of approximately
HK$60.0 million were secured by Group's investment properties
situated in Hong Kong of approximately HK$123.5 million.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of approximately
HK$113.7 million were secured by Group’s leasehold properties
situated in Hong Kong of approximately HK$186.9 million.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’'s pledged bank deposits of
approximately HK$15.0 million were pledged to a bank for the
issuance of letter of credit.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures by the Group during the
Current Year.
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Foreign Currency Exposure

The Group is exposed to certain foreign currency risk primarily with
respect to Renminbi (“RMB”) and United States dollar (“US$") as
most of the transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollar
("HK$"), RMB and US$. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily through expenses transactions that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
companies. During the year, the Group recorded a foreign exchange
gain of approximately HK$0.5 million (2024: approximately HK$0.5
million). The Group manages its exposure to foreign currency
transactions by monitoring the level of foreign currency receipts and
payments and ensures that the net exposure to foreign exchange risk
is kept to an acceptable level. During the year, the Group has not
used any forward exchange contract to hedge against foreign
exchange risk as management considers its exposure as not
significant. The Group will continue to manage the net exposure of
foreign exchange risk to keep it at an acceptable level from time to
time.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2025 (31 March 2024: Nil).

Employees and Emolument Policy

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a total of 75 (31 March 2024:
56) employees. Employee benefits expenses, including Directors’
remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2025, totally amounted
to approximately HK$39.1 million (2024: approximately HK$19.2
million). The Group’s remuneration policy is based on the position,
duties and performance of the employees. The employees’
remuneration varies according to their positions, which may include
salary, overtime allowance, bonus and various subsidies. The Group
offers a comprehensive remuneration and benefits package to all its
employees. In addition, the Group has adopted a share option
scheme and a share award scheme for providing incentives and
rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. The Group has also adopted other employee
benefits including a provident fund scheme for its employees in Hong
Kong, as required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, and has participated in employee pension schemes
organised and governed by the relevant local governments for its
employees in the PRC.
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Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Subsequent Event After Reporting Period
Partial Offer in April 2025

On 20 February 2025, Talent Virtue International Limited (the
"Offeror”) and the Company jointly announced that the Offeror
intended to make a preconditional voluntary cash partial offer to
acquire a maximum of 19,439,034 shares in the issued share capital
of the Company from qualifying shareholders (the “Partial Offer”)
at an offer price of HK$4.50 (the “Offer Price”) per offer share.

The Partial Offer was closed on 7 April 2025 after the fulfilment of
the conditions to the Partial Offer. For details of the Partial Offer,
please refer to the joint announcement dated 20 February 2025
jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company, the composite
document dated 12 March 2025 jointly issued by the Offeror and the
Company, the joint announcement dated 24 March 2025 jointly
issued by the Offeror and the Company, the joint announcement
dated 25 March 2025 jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company,
and the joint announcement dated 7 April 2025 jointly issued by the
Offeror and the Company.

Acquisition of Victoria Wealth Management Limited in
May 2025

On 30 May 2025, Lead Polestar Limited (“Lead Polestar”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share transfer
agreement with TOPMAX FORTUNE INVESTMENT DEVELOPMENT
LIMITED (“TOPMAX"), pursuant to which Lead Polestar conditionally
agreed to acquire and the TOPMAX conditionally agreed to sell 82%
of the entire issued share capital of Victoria Wealth Management
Limited (“Victoria WM") (a company incorporated under the laws of
Hong Kong with limited liability and is principally engaged in the
provision of wealth management and insurance services in Hong
Kong. Its business includes providing wealth management, life
insurance, investment-linked savings plans, critical illness and health
insurance and general insurance services) at a consideration of
HK$1.4 million. Upon the completion of the acquisition on the same
day, Victoria WM became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
and its results will be consolidated into the financial statements of
the Group. For details of the acquisition, please refer to the
announcement dated 30 May 2025 issued by the Company.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Hunlicar
Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) present the annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) computer and electronic products trading
business, (ii) food trading business, (iii) financial services business
(including securities brokerage business, advisory services business,
money lending business, insurance brokerage business, and trust
services business), and (iv) family office business.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES AND INTERESTS IN
ASSOCIATES

Details of the principal subsidiaries and interests in associates as at 31
March 2025 are set out in Notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future development are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 7 to 9 and pages 14 to 42 respectively of this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 6 of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in the consolidated income statement and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income on pages 103 and 104 of this
annual report.

Interim dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of interim dividend for
the six months ended 30 September 2024 (for the six months ended
30 September 2023: Nil).
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Final dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil).

As at 31 March 2025, there was no arrangement under which a
Shareholder had waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
(2024 nil).

BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s borrowings as at 31 March 2025 are set out in
Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company in the year
ended 31 March 2025 are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed under the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” below and the Share Award Scheme
as disclosed under the section headed “Share Award Scheme”
below, during the year ended 31 March 2025, no equity-linked
agreements were entered into by the Company or subsisted at the
end of the Current Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director,
other officer and auditor shall be entitled to be indemnified out of
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director, Auditor or other officer of the
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Company about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the relevant law of the Cayman Islands,
being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
its existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF OR EXEMPTION

The Board is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to any
existing Shareholder by reason of his/her holding of the securities of
the Company.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 107 and 108, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity holders, comprising the share premium,
contributed surplus, net of shares held for share award scheme and
accumulated losses, amounted to approximately HK$175.9 million.

Under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
account of the Company in the amount of HK$589.2 million may be
applied for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders provided
that immediately following the date on which the distribution or
dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. Subject to the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company, the Company may from time
to time declare dividends in any currency to be paid to the members
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of the Company but no dividend shall be declared in excess of the
amount recommended by the Board. The Board may also from time
to time pay to the members of the Company such interim dividends
as appear to the Board to be justified by the profits of the Company.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of the Board,
which will take into account, inter alia, the following factors when
considering the payment or declaration of dividends:

(i)  financial results;
(i) cash flow situation;

(iii)

business conditions and strategies;

(iv)

future operations and earnings;
(v)  capital requirements and expenditure plans;

(vi)

interests of shareholders;

(vii)

any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
(viii) any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable dividend policy. The Board will continue to review the
dividend policy and reserve the right in its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend policy from
time to time, and the dividend policy shall in no way constitute an
assurance or a legally binding commitment by the Company in
respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company
to declare a dividend in any particular amount for any given period.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the top five customers and the
largest one accounted for approximately 75.0% and approximately
34.1% respectively of the total sales for the year. Purchases from top
five suppliers and the largest one accounted for approximately
81.4% and 53.5% respectively of the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or any
shareholder (which of the best knowledge of the Directors own more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The directors are aware that the Group is exposed to various risks,
including some specific to the Group or the industries in which the
Group operates. The directors managed that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver
on its strategies, as well as those which may present positive
opportunities, are identified, reported, monitored, and managed on
a continuous basis. The financial risk management policies and
practices of the Group are shown in Note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the directors and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operations and there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations during the year.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS
AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers to meet its immediate
and long-term goals. Regular and continuous communication with
our suppliers, customers and other stakeholders is carried out
through regular meetings, conferences, and promotional events.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to upholding
rigorous environmental and social standards to ensure the sustainable
development of its business operations. It adheres strictly to all
relevant laws and regulations related to workplace safety,
employment practices and environmental protection. It acknowledges
that a prosperous future is contingent upon the involvement and
contributions of all stakeholders. Consequently, it actively encourages
its employees and partners to participate in environmental and social
initiatives that benefit the broader community. It strives to maintain
robust relationships with its employees and to enhance collaboration
with its suppliers, thereby ensuring the delivery of high-quality
products and services to its customers in support of sustainable
development.
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The dedication to environmental stewardship is further demonstrated
by the Group’s continuous efforts to promote ecological awareness
throughout its business practices. It advocates for environmental
conservation and strives to foster awareness among its employees
regarding its significance. Additionally, it emphasizes the principles of
recycling and waste reduction while implementing sustainable office
practices. Details regarding the Group’s environmental, social, and
governance initiatives will be provided in the Environmental, Social,
and Governance Report published by the Company on 31 July 2025.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Directors who were in office during the year and up to the date
of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth (appointed on 2 July 2024)

Mr Chan Wing Sum

Ms Luo Ying (appointed on 5 April 2024)

Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth (resigned on 5 April 2024)
Mr Qu Hongging (resigned on 31 March 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (appointed on 24 September 2024)

Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Zhu Shouzhong (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Mao Shuguang (appointed on 24 September 2024 and
resigned on 1 February 2025)

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel, who was appointed to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, shall hold office until the Annual
General Meeting (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election
at the AGM.

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Ms Luo Ying and Mr Leung Wai Kwan shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible to offer themselves for re-
election at the AGM.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent Non-
Executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchanges of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules™).
The Company considers all of them to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical information of the Directors and senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 10 to 13 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals
with the highest emoluments are set out in Notes 42 and 33 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
which (i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), (i) were required
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or (iii) were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

EERESTBRAERKRYG - 16
R REEEFFNERIXR

RZE-_RAF=A=+—H EEXAQTK
BITHRABREESENBHBEANERAR SHE
ERAEEE (EELHELPAEGEN((EHRE
B&RAI]) EXVEBRRE) B - ARGk
EREFEPEE()RBESRAEGRAIEXVEE
7R 8D EBNME RN T MR TR AR
(BIERERS RBAEGED B B G X ek
SAEEENEREAR)  (VREEHFLBE
15151 55 352 (& 7B RE SRR RZ G ST IR B it A Y
g RORE - Sk (i) IR 4R AR BB 82 C3 AT
EHBETAESETESR DEESTR([E
E<FR D BANSRRR MR FTMER RAR
o

Interests and short positions in shares and REATRGREERG Z2ERR
underlying shares of the Company RE
Approximately
percentage
of shares
Capacity in which Total in issue as at
interests in shares Interests interests 31 March 2025
Name of Director are held in shares in shares (Note 1)
ER=ZB=HF
=A=+—H
ERITRGOZ
BABEDL
R BERNEZZSH R = RO ERAEE (PfFEE1)
Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth Beneficial owner 3,750,000 (L) 42,584,000 (L) 55.00%
REUE EnlEEA
Interest in controlled 38,834,000 (L)
corporation (Note 2)
REEEER (FF5E2)
Note 1: As at 31 March 2025, the total issued share capital of the Company amounted MizE1: RZZBE-RAE=F=+—"H AR AIDETRALE

to 77,423,775 shares.
Note 2:  As at 31 March 2025, these shares were beneficially owned by Talent Virtue
International Limited (“Talent Virtue”) being interested in 38,834,000 shares
in the Company. As Talent Virtue is wholly owned by Mr Cheung Lit Wan
Kenneth (“Mr Cheung”), Mr Cheung as the chairman of the Company is
deemed to be interested in the shares owned by Talent Virtue by virtue of the
SFO.

Abbreviations: “L" stands for long position
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following, not being a Director or the chief executives of the
Company, have an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO and are recorded in the register kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO:

Interests and short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company

Capacity in which interests

R

FTERRRAEMALTRIRG - 186
R REEEFNERIXR

RZZ-_RF=ZA=+—H BEFHM M
TALT(UFEEFRARFRSTHRAE)RA
RE M RBEBR O P REEREZES LAEIF
I XV ERER 2 M3 0 BRI AR A R B EE )2
ARBREBEEFEREGRIIFE3BHEFENE
M PTRC ek s SOR R

WAD TR RAABR G 2 M RA

=)

Approximately

percentage

of shares

in issue as at

Number of 31 March 2025

Name of substantial shareholders in shares are held shares held (Note 1)

ER=2B=HF

=A=+-—H

ERTRMOZ

BABEDL

TERRHEE BB BEROERZEM FrisRoEAR (PBFEE1)

Talent Virtue International Limited Beneficial owner 38,834,000 (L) 50.16%
TIEER AR A A EmEBA

Shen Pei Lin Beneficial owner 9,876,333 (L) 12.76%
wimR EmEBA

Note 1: As at 31 March 2025, the total issued share capital of the Company amounted
to 77,423,775 shares.

Abbreviations: “L" stands for long position

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company had not
been notified of any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.
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R (L RETA
R EXBEREEN RZF_HF=A=1+—
B - RQR]IEE S FR AN DR SRR A

DA BIRER 7 MR RDI S 336 AR
AFENECMACEHMNEAEREIORE -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 September 2023, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) and the major terms of the
Share Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

A. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise the
contribution or future contribution of eligible persons (the
“Eligible Persons”) (including any person who is (or will be on
the date of grant) an employee (or a prospective employee), a
director (or a prospective director) of the Company or any
subsidiaries, or a director or an employee (full-time or part-
time) of any related entity as may be determined by the
Directors or the Remuneration Committee (as the case may be)
from time to time) to the Group, and provide the Eligible
Persons with an opportunity to obtain a proprietary interest in
the Company, to enable the Company to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract resources that are valuable
to the Group and to provide the Company with a means of
giving incentive to, rewarding, remunerating, compensating
and/or providing benefits to such persons who contribute or
may bring benefit to the Group.

B. Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The Board may, from time to time during the scheme period, at
its absolute discretion, offer an option to an Eligible Person to
subscribe for such number of Shares at the exercise price as the
Board may determine, subject always to any limits and
restrictions specified in the Listing Rules.

C. Total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme

As at the date of this report, the total number of shares of the
Company available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
5,261,585, representing approximately 6.8% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company as of the date of this
report.
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D. Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

Unless approved by the shareholders in the manner as set out
in the Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares issued
and to be issued in respect of all options and awards granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes
involving issue of new Shares of the Company to each Eligible
Person (excluding any options and awards lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes involving issue of new Shares of the Company) in any
12-month period (up to and including the date of such grant)
shall not exceed in aggregate 1% of the relevant class of
securities of the Company in issue.

Further options (in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of granting such further options) in excess of this 1%
limit may be granted to an Eligible Person by obtaining
approval of the shareholders in general meeting with such
Eligible Person and his/her close associate(s) (or his/her
associates if such Eligible Person is a connected person)
abstaining from voting provided that the terms (including the
exercise price) and number of Shares subject to the options to
be granted to such Eligible Person are fixed before the relevant
shareholders’ approval is obtained, and the date of the meeting
of the Board proposing such further grant shall be deemed to
be the date of grant for the purpose of determining the
exercise price of such options. The Company must send a
circular to the shareholders disclosing all information as
required by the Listing Rules.

Time of exercise of options

An option may be exercised in whole or in part by the
participant at any time during the exercise period (i.e. the
period to be notified by the Board upon the grant of options
during which they may be exercised, such period not to exceed
10 years from the date of grant of the relevant options) and
subject to compliance with the terms of the relevant option
and the Share Option Scheme.
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The exercise price

The exercise price shall be determined by the Board and shall
not be less than the greater of:

(@)  the closing price of the Shares on the Stock Exchange as
stated in its daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
such option, which must be a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in its daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of such option; and

() the nominal value of the Shares.
Payment on acceptance of option

The amount payable for the acceptance of an option shall be
the sum of HK$1.00 which shall be paid upon acceptance of
the offer of such option. This consideration shall not be
refundable to the participant and shall not be deemed to be a
part payment of the exercise price.

Duration of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of
10 years commencing on 28 September 2023. The Company
may terminate the operation of the Share Option Scheme at
any time by a resolution at the general meeting and in such
event, no further option shall be offered thereunder but the
provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force in
all other respects. All options granted prior to such termination
and not then exercised shall continue to be valid and
exercisable subject to and in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme.
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As at the date of this annual report, no option has been granted by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 14 March 2019, the Company adopted a share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme"”) under which shares of the Company
(the “Awarded Shares”) may be awarded to selected employees
(including executive directors), consultants or advisers of or to the
Group and non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Group (the “Selected Person(s)”)
pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme and the trust deed
of the Share Award Scheme (the “Trust Deed”). The major terms of
the Share Award Scheme are summarised as follows:

A.

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Share Award Scheme is to recognise the
contributions by the Selected Persons and to offer suitable
incentives to attract and retain targeted talent and personnel
for the continuance of operations and future development of
the Group.

Administration of the Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme is subject to the administration of
the Board and the trustee of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Trustee"”) in accordance with the Share Award Scheme and
the Trust Deed.

Limit of the Share Award Scheme

The Board shall not make any further award of Awarded Shares
which will result in the nominal value of the Shares awarded by
the Board under the Share Award Scheme exceeding 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a
Selected Person under the Share Award Scheme shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time. As at the date of this annual report, the maximum
number of shares which may be awarded to each participant
was 774,237 shares, representing 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company, and 7,742,377 shares, representing
10% of the issued share capital of the Company, were
available for issue under the Share Award Scheme.

Pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme, the Board
may, from time to time, at its absolute discretion grant any
share awards to any selected participant at nil consideration.
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Operation of the Share Award Scheme

The Board may contribute funds to the trust constituted by the
Trust Deed (the “Trust”) for the purchase of shares of the
Company and other purposes set out in the Share Award
Scheme and the Trust Deed. The Trustee shall hold the trust
fund in accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed and the
Board may instruct the Trustee to purchase shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange and to hold them on trust for
the benefit of the persons who are eligible for the Awarded
Shares on and subject to the terms and conditions of the Share
Award Scheme and the Trust Deed.

Vesting Period

The vesting period in respect of any Options granted to any
Participant shall be determined by the Board at its discretion
and shall not be shorter than 12 months.

Alteration of the Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme may be amended by a resolution of
the Board provided that no such amendment shall operate to
affect materially and adversely any subsisting rights of any
Selected Person under the rules of the Share Award Scheme.

On 22 August 2023, the Board passed a resolution to amend
the terms of the Share Award Scheme to the effect that the
Trustee is allowed only to purchase the existing Shares on the
market or off the market to satisfy the awards to be granted
under the Share Award Scheme, such that the Share Award
Scheme has become a share scheme that is funded only by the
existing Shares.

Termination of the Share Award Scheme
The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of:

(@) the tenth anniversary date of the date of adoption i.e.
13 March 2029; and

(b) such date of early termination as determined by the
Board by a resolution of the Board, provided that such
termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of any
Selected Persons under the Share Award Scheme.
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No share has been granted under the Share Award Scheme
since its adoption. The number of shares available for award
under the Share Award Scheme as at 31 March 2025 were
7,742,377 shares, representing 10% of the then issued share
capital of the Company.

During the year under review, no share of the Company was
acquired for the Share Award Scheme (last corresponding year:
nil). As at 31 March 2025, 356,200 shares of the Company
were held by the Trustee.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from the share option scheme adopted on 28 September
2023, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2025 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding companies or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or the
chief executives of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate. Save for the disclosed, none of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company or their spouses or children under the age
of 18, was granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate nor had
exercised any such right during the year ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

None of the Directors nor a connected entity of a Director had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, holding
companies or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year ended
31 March 2025.

COMPETING INTEREST OF DIRECTORS,
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS AND THEIR
RESPECTIVE ASSOCIATES

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the board of the
Company, for the year ended 31 March 2025, none of the Directors,
controlling shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) is considered to have
interest in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group and any other
conflicts of interests, which are required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2025.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a remuneration policy to set out a formal
and transparent framework for developing the Company’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The policy is designed to align
individual rewards with corporate goals, encourage sustainable value
creation and attract and retain talent essential to the Company’s
success. The Company will assess from time to time whether the
remuneration programme effectively aligns executive pay with
corporate and individual performance, with reference to corporate
financials where appropriate.

CHANGES IN THE COMPOSITION OF THE
BOARD

Changes in the composition of the Board during the year ended
31 March 2025 and up to the date of this Report of Directors are as
follows:

Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth resigned as an executive Director
of the Company on 5 April 2024;

Ms Luo Ying was appointed as an executive Director of the Company
on 5 April 2024,

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth was appointed as the chairman and an
executive Director of the Company on 2 July 2024;

Mr Zhu Shouzhong and Mr Li Huagiang retired as independent non-
executive Directors of the Company on 24 September 2024,

Mr Leung Wai Kwan was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 24 September 2024;

Mr Mao Shuguang was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 24 September 2024 and resigned as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company on 1 February
2025;
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Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 1 February 2025; and

Mr Qu Hongging resigned as an executive Director of the Company
on 31 March 2025.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings according to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. The Company had made specific enquiries of all
Directors and was not aware of any non-compliance with the
required standard of dealings and its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors during the year ended 31 March
2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated financial
statements. As these connected party transactions constitute fully
exempted continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, they are exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Board confirms that
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float (i.e. at least
25% of the issued shares were held by the public) throughout the
Current Year and up to the date of this report.
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PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company repurchased its
own Shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

BE HEIEOALQF LHES

BE_FT-_AF=ZA=T—RHLFE A2
EAE’Q‘*/\Fﬁﬁ%@E$%H§E@QDT

Aggregate
Number of consideration paid
Date of repurchase BERH Share repurchased Consideration per Share (before expenses)
BERREAR
BEROHE BRERHARE (HBRBA A

Highest Lowest

BS &
HKS$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT TER

2024 —E_ME

26 September HAAZ=+758 1,150,000 2.88 2.59 3,116
27 September AAZ++A 350,000 2.56 2.50 884
1,500,000 4,000

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2025.

As at 31 March 2025, the Company did not hold any treasure share.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 62 to 92
of this annual report.

REVIEW BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2025 complies with applicable accounting standards, the
Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2025 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. Baker Tilly
Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited and to
authorise the Directors to fix its remuneration will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

Save as the above, there has been no other change in the auditor of

the Company in the preceding three years.

On behalf of the Board

Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth
Chairman & Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Hunlicar
Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”) hereby presents the Corporate Governance Report for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Current Year").

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is dedicated to upholding a high standard of corporate
governance. It believes that such standards provide a framework for
the Group to develop effective business strategies and policies while
managing associated risks through robust internal control
procedures. A strong governance framework also enhances the
Group's transparency and strengthens accountability to shareholders
and creditors. The Board has established a corporate governance
committee primarily responsible for developing and reviewing the
Group's corporate governance policies and practices and making
recommendations to the Board.

The Company has adopted the requirements under the code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code”) as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance.

During the Current Year, the Board is of the view that the Company
has complied with the code provisions set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings according to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard of dealings and the Company’s code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors during the Current Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s overall businesses, strategic
decisions and performance.

The responsibilities and accountabilities of the Board and the
Company’s management have been clearly defined through a list of
matters reserved for the Board. This list is reviewed annually by the
Board to ensure it remains relevant to the Company’s needs. The
reserved matters include, but are not limited to, the Group's strategy,
objectives, business plans, budgets, and overall management.
Additionally, the Board is responsible for making decisions regarding
changes in capital or corporate structure, approving the dividend
policy, declaring interim and final dividends, making major
investments, and approving internal policies, codes, and guidelines.

The Board has delegated its powers to management for the daily
operations of the Group. It has allocated responsibilities to five
specific board committees: the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), the corporate governance committee (the
“Corporate Governance Committee”), and the executive
committee (the “Executive Committee”). Each board committee
performs its functions and duties according to its terms of reference
and the relevant code provisions in the CG Code.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises three executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. During the current year, the
number of independent non-executive directors on the Board
exceeds the one-third requirement under the Listing Rules. The
Directors who were in office during the Current Year and up to the
date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth (appointed on 2 July 2024)

Mr Chan Wing Sum

Ms Luo Ying (appointed on 5 April 2024)

Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth (resigned on 5 April 2024)
Mr Qu Hongging (resigned on 31 March 2025)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent

Mr Leung Wai Kwan (appointed on 24 September 2024)

Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel (appointed on 1 February 2025)

Mr Zhu Shouzhong (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Li Huagiang (retired on 24 September 2024)

Mr Mao Shuguang (appointed on 24 September 2024 and
resigned on 1 February 2025)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages
10 to 13 and on the website of the Company. A list setting out the
names of the Directors and their roles and functions is posted on the
websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing
Limited (www.hkexnews.hk).

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth, Ms Luo Ying, Mr Mao Shuguang, Mr
Leung Wai Kwan, and Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel, who were appointed
to the Board during the Current Year, had prior to their appointment
obtained legal advice from an external law firm as required under
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules. Each of them has confirmed his/her
understanding of the obligations as a Director of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s business
strategies and overall policies, and monitoring the performance of
the management and corporate governance functions. The Executive
Directors are delegated to be involved in the day-to-day operations
of the Group’s businesses and ensure that the management is
accountable to the Board, and ultimately to the shareholders. They
demonstrate their willingness to listen to and work closely with
Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Independent Non-executive Directors possess skills and
experience in areas such as accounting, environmental, social and
governance, enhancing the Board’s balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives. They keep up-to-date with the Group’s
business affairs and are involved in scrutinising the Group’s
performance in achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives.
They bring independent judgment on issues of strategies, policies,
performance reporting, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct and the Group’s major decisions. They take
the lead where potential conflicts of interest arise. They also serve on
the board committees.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information and
accounts of the Group. They may seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the Company.
The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent
professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge their
duties to the Company.
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Board Process

The Board meets regularly, and at least four times a year. In addition,
management of the Group provides to Directors, on a regular basis,
monthly updates and other information with respect to the
performance and business activities of the Group. Throughout the
Current Year, in addition to Board meetings, Directors participate in
the deliberation and approval of routine and operational matters of
the Company by way of written resolutions with supporting
explanatory materials, supplemented by additional verbal and written
information from the company secretary (the “Company
Secretary”) or other executives of the Company as and when
required. Details of material or notable transactions of subsidiaries
and associated companies are provided to Directors as appropriate.
Whenever warranted, additional Board meetings are held. Further,
Directors have full access to information on the Group and advice
and services of the Company Secretary. They also have full access to
independent professional advice at all times whenever deemed
necessary and they are at liberty to propose appropriate matters for
inclusion in Board agendas.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, Directors receive
written notice and agenda of the meeting in advance. The full set of
Board papers is normally supplied no less than three days prior to the
meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given as much notice as is
reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. Except for those
circumstances permitted by the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules, a director would abstain from voting on resolutions approving
any contract, transaction, arrangement or any other kind of proposal
put forward to the Board in which he/she or any of his/her close
associates is materially interested, and such Director is not counted
for quorum determination purposes.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AND COMMITMENT

The Board held fourteen Board meetings and one annual general
meeting for the year ended 31 March 2025.

The attendances of the Directors at various meetings held during the
Current Year are set out below:

e S=o0E: o
EEHERR KA

BE-_Z-_RAF=A=+—HIEFE EFe

BRI THOARES

BERNRBERAFARE -

EEHERAFERITNZREZNBERET

W -

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

BiHE/REREEERHE
Audit  Nomination Remuneration Corporate
General Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Governance
meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings meetings
RRAE EZEe¥ BHZESSH REZEeLE FHZReeE L¥Ened
Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth? FAUELAS N 99 /A /A /A N
(appointed on 2 July 2024) (RZE-MECAZREZA) TER TER TER
Mr Chan Wing Sum RA#EE i 14114 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TER TER TER TER
Mr Qu Hongging® ¢ ElgRageTs i 1314 N/A 0 Wl N/A
(resigned on 31 March 2025) (R-E-RE=R=1-HEM) TEA TiEA
Ms Luo Ying*® EEqLs n 1313 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 5 April 2024) (RZZ-MEMATAEZRA) TR TR TR TR
Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth ~ SAMZ T /A 01 /A /A /A /A
(resigned on 5 April 2024) (RZZ-mFmARAFT) TR TR TR TR TR
Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent'3>8 ERMEE 5 i 14/14 b)) b)) 0N "
Mr Zhu Shouzhong? KA i 88 i N/A N/A N/A
(retired on 24 September 2024) (RZEZMENAZTHARE) TR TR TR
Mr Li Huagjang?4 & e i i 88 i i i /A
(retired on 24 September 2024) (RZBZmMENAZTHARE) TR
Mr Mao Shuguang’ FEREE N/A 44 11 N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 24 September 2024 (W=Z-MENA-TEA TER TER TER TER
and resigned on 1 February 2025)  BZERN-E-14F
—A-BEA)
Mr Leung Wai Kwan?457 REBRALT N/A 6/6 i i /1 /1
(appointed on 24 September 2024)  (W=F-MENA-TEA TR
BZf)
Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel FRREE? N/A 0 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 1 February 2025) (M-Z-R%-A-AEER) TEE TEE il TR Gl
Notes: B 5E
1 Chairman of the Audit Committee ! ERLZEQXRE
2 Member of the Audit Committee 2 BERZEGKE
3 Chairman of the Nomination Committee 3 REZEEXRE
4 Member of the Nomination Committee 4 REZEGKE
5 Chairman of the Remuneration Committee s FTMEEexRE
6 Member of the Remuneration Committee 6 FMEEGKE
7. Chairman of the Corporate Governance 7 TEEARAERE
8 Member of the Corporate Governance 8 EERKE
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In addition to Board meetings, during the Current Year, the chairman
(the “Chairman”) of the Board held monthly meetings with the
Executive Directors and also met with the Independent Non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors. Such meetings
provide an effective forum for the Chairman to listen to the views of
the Independent Non-executive Directors on issues including
corporate governance improvement, effectiveness of the Board, and
such other issues they may wish to raise in the absence of other
Directors and senior management of the Company.

All Directors have confirmed that they have given sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group throughout their tenure during
the year ended 31 March 2025. In addition, Directors disclose to the
Company in a timely manner their other commitments, such as
directorships in other publicly listed companies (if any) and major
appointments, as well as update the Company on any subsequent
changes. As at the date of this report, no Independent Non-executive
Director concurrently holds more than three Hong Kong listed
company directorships (including the Company).

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the businesses and operations of the
Group and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

The Company arranges and provides continuous professional
development (“CPD") training in the forms of formal training
programmes, seminars, workshops, expert briefings, webcasts and
selected reading materials to Directors to help them keep abreast of
current trends and issues facing the Group, including the latest
changes in the commercial (including industry-specific and innovative
changes), legal and regulatory environment in which the Group
conducts its businesses and to refresh their knowledge and skills on
the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director. The
Directors are required to provide the Company with details of CPD
training undertaken by them from time to time. The training records
are maintained by the Company Secretary and are made available for
regular review by the Audit Committee.
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The Directors received the following training for the year ended 31 IRBEEFRENLE  EERNEHE_ZS_-_1F
March 2025 according to the records provided by the Directors: ZA=T—RALEFEEIHNEINT

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

Directors relevant topics
TEEL EBEERER

BE=E H t AHBA SR RE AV 153

Executive Directors HITES

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth RRUVES A v
(appointed on 2 July 2024) (R=ZE-NFEA-HEZMT)

Mr Chan Wing Sum PRIKFR I & 4

Ms Luo Ying ERLL v
(appointed on 5 April 2024) (R—Z-_NFEHARREZRT)

Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth FEmz+ -
(resigned on 5 April 2024) (R=ZZE-NFMHARBEE)

Mr Qu Hongging BHE A v/
(resigned on 31 March 2025) (R—E-RF=A=+—H#&IT)

Independent Non-Executive Directors BIkHITES

Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent B SEE v

Mr Leung Wai Kwan ?@J{hm?ﬁi v
(appointed on 24 September 2024) (RZZEZNFNAZTHAEEE)

Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel FRBEE 4
(appointed on 1 February 2025) (RZZE-_RF_-_A—BEZT)

Mr Zhu Shouzhong KRFFEE v
(retired on 24 September 2024) (RZEZNF LA =Z+EAREME)

Mr Li Huagiang ?ﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁ% 4
(retired on 24 September 2024) (RZZEZWFNAZTHEARERE)

Mr Mao Shuguang %B%tf'ﬁi 4

(appointed on 24 September 2024 and
resigned on 1 February 2025)

(RMZZT-_MOFAA-THBEEREIR
R-ZT_RE_-F—HEE)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BYEHMITES

The Company has three independent non-executive directors, all of AR AIE=EZBIUIENITES - HHEESEN
them have appropriate professional qualification or related financial HXEERKEBEYBEENH - HEZERE
management expertise. It has received a written confirmation of 43F$ﬂﬂ§$&’dﬂﬁ§ HEERNEMERE
independence from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors. ERAZSBILIENITEEIBE ©

It considers that each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors is

independent.
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TERM OF APPOINTMENT OF NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors have signed letters of
appointment with the Company with a term of three years.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each Director has either entered a service contract with the Company
or has an letter of appointment. No Director has a service contract
with the Company not terminable by the Company without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

All Executive Directors were appointed without a specific term and
can be terminated by giving three months’ prior written notice or in
certain circumstances as in accordance with the terms of the service
contract. Under the service contract, each Executive Director will be
entitled to a fixed remuneration per month and bonus payable at the
discretion of the Board, determined with reference to the prevailing
market conditions and his/her effort and expertise. The Board shall
review his/her remuneration and other benefits on an annual basis.

All Independent Non-executive Directors were appointed with a
specific term of three years and can be terminated by giving three
months’ prior written notice or in certain circumstances as in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment. Under the
letter of appointment, each Independent Non-executive Director will
be entitled to a fixed remuneration per month, determined with
reference to the prevailing market conditions and his/her effort and
expertise. The Board shall review his/her remuneration and other
benefits on an annual basis.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are laid down in the Articles of Association. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association, the Directors shall have the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
existing Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at each annual general meeting, one third of the
Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results of the Company are published in a
timely manner, within three months and two months respectively of
the year end and the half-year end.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial statements is
set out below. This should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the independent auditor’s report on pages 93 to
102 which acknowledges the reporting responsibility of the Group's
auditor.

Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
the annual report and financial statements of the Company. The
Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Listing Rules. Directors should incorporate
such internal control as the Directors determine as necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial statements, the
Group has adopted appropriate accounting policies and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable in accordance with the
applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose the financial position and reflect
the transactions of the Group, upon which financial statements of
the Group could be prepared in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies.
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Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities within the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, are of the view
that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is
appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

Audit Committee

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors who possess the appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting experience, business
management experience and skills to understand financial statements
and monitor the financial governance, risk management and internal
control system of the Group. The composition of the Audit
Committee exceeds the independence requirements under the Listing
Rules. It is chaired by Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent with Mr Leung Wai
Kwan and Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel as members.

The Audit Committee shall have the following responsibilities, powers
and discretion:

(i)  toreview the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant
or external auditors before submission to the Board;

(i)  to review the relationship with the external auditors by

reference to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and

terms of engagement, and make recommendation to the Board

on the appointment, re- appointment and removal of external
auditors;

to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures; and

to review arrangements which employees of the Company can

use to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Current Year to
review interim results, annual results, financial reporting and
compliance procedures, risk management and internal control system
of the Group. It has also made recommendations to the Board on the
re-appointment of the external auditors after reviewing the scope of
work offered, taking into account their remuneration and terms of
engagement. All meetings were attended with the Company’s
independent auditor so that the members of the Audit Committee
could exchange their views and concerns on the financial reporting
process of the Group with the auditor. During the Current Year, the
Audit Committee discharged the duties and responsibilities under its
terms of reference and the CG Code.

Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2025 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued
by the HKICPA. The unqualified auditor’s report is set out on pages
93-102. The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2025 have also been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

Under CG Code provision D.2.5, the Company should have an
internal audit function. The Company has no internal audit function
because the Company has maintained an internal control system and
its implementation has been considered effective and adequate by
the Audit Committee and the Board. In addition, the Audit
Committee has communicated with external auditors of the
Company to understand if there is any material control deficiency.
Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for one on an
annual basis.

Procedures and Controls over Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information, the Group has internal
policy and procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of
inside information and has communicated to all employees. The
Board is aware of its obligations to announce any inside information
in accordance with the Listing Rules and conducts the affairs with
reference to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission in June 2012. In
addition, only Directors and delegated officers can act as the Group’s
spokesperson and respond to external enquiries about the Group’s
affairs.

B SER R

RAFE BELZBEGBRTMAGH  UEH
AEBNFHRE  FEXSE  MBRERS

BT BEREERANEZGE FZEB
SREHINEZBMMIREN TESHE RE2E
H RIS EIETRIE - At INEZ A e E 3T
ZEREFTSREER - NARBE L ZEAD
Frilegs WEBEXZEGNKE EZHA
RAEETBRAFAERIRER LB TNM
B NAFE  BEREESRREBRESER
rEERTAEITREREE -

FEVBRREFLRS

AEEBEE_TE_RAF-_A=+—HILEFEZ
ém%%ﬁ% EHABESSHMESA
RARBESESMASHEM 2 BBETE
WLG%V EBRABRZZHMBEHNE
9B3FEI102E - ERZESNCENAEEER
—E-RFZAZT+—BIEFENAHTBR
g\%o

RIFEEEATR ZTRMEXED.2.51F - &

RAERBANBEZBEE - ARRILEATE
ZBEE - DEARRRBABEZRGE - ME

REZBENEFEER/EEREMARTRE - 11t
S BZZ B GO EARFINEZBENEE -
THRABHBEMEAREZERE - EE ML
AREEBFR EEHERLAMEZR

k
Be °

}

BRERBHRNBEEZEFRER

RENMBEMARTEEZERFMABEEN

CAEEREBEREEECTAABERZ
BEEERERF YEHAEEREE -EFE
BEBAEERE LR QMERARHE
PT2REZLRPEEBERZEEN_-F
—ERNARMZ [ARBEWERSITF -
AN BEERETw 2 RABE T A EEAR
SEZBEFANOEBEBAREEH 2INRE
il

h
A
pl

g

73



Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIEBEAR AT

Annual Report &3 2025

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board holds overall responsibility for the internal control of the
Group, which includes risk management. To ensure effective and
efficient operations and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, the Group places a strong emphasis on its risk
management and internal control system. This system is essential for
mitigating the Group’s exposure to risk. It is designed to provide
reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements or losses and to manage and eliminate risks associated
with operational failures and achieving business objectives.

The risk management and internal control system is continually
reviewed by the Board, both on an ongoing basis and annually, to
ensure it remains effective and practical in providing reasonable
assurance for the protection of significant assets and the
identification of business risks. The Board is confident that, based on
the information provided to it and its own observations, the current
internal controls of the Group are satisfactory. The Audit Committee
monitors the Group's risk management and internal control system
and reports any significant issues to the Board.

The Group is dedicated to identifying, monitoring, and managing the
risks associated with its business activities. To achieve this, it has
established a practical and effective control system that includes a
clear management structure with defined limits of authority, a robust
cash management system, and regular performance reviews
conducted by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system. They believe that the system in place for
the year ending 31 March 2025 is sound, adequate, and effective in
safeguarding the interests of shareholders and protecting the
Group'’s assets.

Governance Policies

The Group places the highest importance on the ethical, personal,
and professional standards of its Directors and employees. All
employees are required to adhere to various Group policies that
reflect the core values and corporate culture of the organisation. The
code of conduct adopted by the Company serves as the primary
framework for setting conduct expectations, emphasising the
Group's strong commitment to maintaining high standards of
business integrity, honesty, and transparency in all business dealings.
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The Company has established anti-corruption and whistleblowing
policies and systems that promote a healthy corporate culture and
good governance practices. The Group has also adopted and
implemented several other governance policies to integrate its core
values into daily operations and practices. These policies are
periodically reviewed to ensure their relevance and appropriateness
concerning the Group'’s business, corporate strategy, and stakeholder
expectations.

Key governance policies and guidelines of the Group include:

Code of Conduct

The Group's Code of Conduct sets forth the standards for employees
that are necessary to promote honest and ethical behaviour. It
ensures accurate and timely disclosures in the reports and documents
that the Group files or submits to regulatory bodies. The Code also
emphasises compliance with applicable laws and regulations, the
prompt internal reporting of violations, and accountability for
adhering to the Code of Conduct.

Every employee is expected to commit to the Code of Conduct,
which includes guidelines on conflict of interest, diversity, and
maintaining a respectful workplace. It covers health and safety, the
protection and proper use of company assets, record keeping, bribery
and corruption, personal data protection and privacy, as well as
procedures for reporting illegal and unethical behaviour. Employees
are required to report any instances of non-compliance with the
Code of Conduct.

Whistleblowing Policy

To uphold the highest standards of openness, integrity, and
accountability, the Company encourages employees and
stakeholders, including customers, suppliers, creditors, and debtors,
to report any suspected impropriety, misconduct, or malpractice
within the Group. To facilitate this, the Company has implemented a
Whistleblowing Policy, which provides clear reporting channels and
guidance on how to report potential issues.

The policy emphasises the protection of whistleblowers, assuring
them of confidentiality and legal protection against unfair dismissal
or victimisation for any legitimate reports made. The Board has
delegated authority to the Audit Committee, which is responsible for
ensuring that proper procedures are in place for fair and independent
investigations of any concerns raised and for taking appropriate
follow-up actions.
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Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policy

The Group has a strict zero-tolerance policy regarding fraud and
bribery, whether direct or indirect, involving its Directors, officers,
employees, agents, consultants, or any individuals or companies
acting on its behalf. The Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Policy clearly
outlines this stance and helps employees identify situations that may
lead to or give the appearance of corruption or unethical business
practices. Employees are encouraged to avoid such prohibited
conduct and to seek guidance whenever necessary.

If an Employee becomes aware of any actual or suspected breach of
the policy, he/she must report such incidents in accordance with the
reporting and escalation procedures established by his/her employing
company.

Policy on Appointment of Third Party
Representatives

The Group is dedicated to implementing appropriate controls when
engaging third-party representatives, including advisers, agents,
consultants, introducers, and finders. All Group companies must
exercise due care and diligence when selecting these representatives
and monitoring their activities. They should also comply with the
Group's Policy on the Appointment of Third Party Representatives.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Group is dedicated to enhancing long-term shareholder value by
maintaining regular communication with both individual and
institutional shareholders. To achieve this, the Group ensures that all
shareholders have easy, equal, and timely access to publicly available
information. The Shareholders Communication Policy outlines the
framework established by the Company to promote effective two-
way communication, enabling shareholders to engage actively with
the Company and exercise their rights in an informed manner.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy focused on
maintaining an optimal capital structure and achieving investment-
grade credit ratings. This policy aims to provide returns to
shareholders while ensuring sufficient capital resources for business
growth and investment opportunities. Depending on market
conditions, business opportunities, and the maintenance of the
Company’s strong investment-grade credit ratings, the Board intends
to offer a sustainable dividend aligned with the Company’s earnings
improvement and long-term growth. It is confirmed that all dividend
decisions made by the Board were in accordance with the Company’s
Dividend Policy.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Remuneration Committee

As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee comprises
three members with expertise in human resources and personnel
emoluments. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr Loo
Hong Shing Vincent with Ms Luo Ying and Mr Leung Wai Kwan as
members. The composition of the Remuneration Committee meets
the requirements of chairmanship and independence under the
Listing Rules. Although the majority of the members are independent
non-executive directors, the Remuneration Committee has an
executive director among its membership. This is to provide
perspective and insight from executive management on the
capabilities, effectiveness and performance of Directors and senior
management.

The Remuneration Committee shall have the following
responsibilities, powers and discretion:

(i)  to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives;

(i) either (a) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management; or (b) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management. This should include but
without limitation, basic salaries, benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment;

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors;

(v)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;
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(vi) to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

(vii) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate;

(viii) to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; and

(ix) to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Policy

The Company has adopted a remuneration policy to set out a formal
and transparent framework for developing the Company'’s policy and
structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The policy is designed to align
individual rewards with corporate goals, encourage sustainable value
creation and attract and retain talent essential to the Company’s
success. The Company will assess from time to time whether the
remuneration programme effectively aligns executive pay with
corporate and individual performance, with reference to corporate
financials where appropriate.

In determining remuneration, the following factors shall be taken
into account:

(i) the skills, knowledge, experience, and contributions of the
individual;

(i) the contribution on environmental, social and governance to
ensure the Company’s long-term sustainability;

(i) market practices and levels of remuneration paid by

comparable companies in Hong Kong;

(iv)  market trends, including prevailing market conditions, market

data, and relative remuneration levels among industry peers;

(v)  the time commitment and responsibilities of the relevant
position;
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(vi)  Environmental, Social, and Governance Performance Indicators;
(vii) employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(viii) the overall performance and strategic direction of the Group;
(ix) the Company’s corporate goals and objectives;

(x)  the principles of fairness, reasonableness, and alignment with
long-term shareholder interests; and

(xiy proper consideration of objectivity and independence, where
applicable.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management
Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Directors
and senior management of the Company, for the year ended 31

March 2025, are set out below:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

B SER R
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(vil) 7N 5= B 4t BF P A R 18 16k 4F
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N
R
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Number of individuals

FENsE (BT) AB
HK$0 to HK$ 1,000,000 0787 % 1,000,000 7T 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 78 7L 2,000,000 47T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 87T % 2,500,000/ 7T 1

RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

In order to stay attuned to changing expectations of stakeholders,
the Group gives high priority to, and actively promotes, investor
relations and constructive dialogues with the investment community
throughout the Current Year. Multiple channels of communication
and engagement are available.

The Board provides clear and full information on the Group to
shareholders through the publication of notices, announcements,
circulars, interim and annual reports. The Articles of Association is
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company provide one of the primary forums for communication with
shareholders and for shareholders’ participation. Such meetings
provide shareholders with the opportunity to share their views and to
meet the Board and certain members of senior management.
Question and answer sessions at general meetings foster constructive
dialogues between shareholders of the Company, Board members
and Management.

Shareholders are encouraged to participate at general meetings of
the Company physically, through electronic means, or by proxy if
they are unable to attend in person. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association,

(1) one or more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company having the right of voting at general meetings
can deposit a written request to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM") at the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board or
the Company Secretary.

The written request must state the name of the shareholders
concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the
meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions
proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting,
signed by the shareholders concerned.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper
and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to
convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the statutory requirements to all the shareholders. On the
contrary, if the request has been verified as not in order, the
shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.
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If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

The notice period to be given to the shareholders in respect of
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice
of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent to
the shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business days
(whichever is longer) before such EGM.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Nomination Committee

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee is chaired
by Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent with Ms Luo Ying and Mr Leung Wai
Kwan as members. Although the majority of the members are
independent non-executive directors, the Nomination Committee has
an Executive Director among its membership. This is to provide
perspective and insight from executive management relating to the
day-to-day business and operations of the Group, thereby enabling
more suitable candidates to be nominated for consideration.
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The Nomination Committee shall have the following responsibilities,
powers and discretion:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity profile) of the Board
at least annually, assist the Board in maintaining a Board skills
matrix, and make recommendation on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Board to achieve the Group
corporate strategy as well as promote shareholder value;

(i)  to identify suitable director candidates and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
to be nominated as Directors;

(i) to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors having regard to the criteria under the Listing Rules;

(iv)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors;

(v) to review and assess regularly the time commitment and
contribution to the Board by each Director as well as the
Director’s ability to discharge his or her responsibilities;

(vi)  to support the regular evaluation of the performance of the
Board; and

(vii) to review the Director Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company periodically and make
recommendations on any proposed revisions to the Board.

During the Current Year, the Nomination Committee assessed the
structure, size, and composition of the Board. They ensured that the
Board possesses a diverse and balanced mix of skills and experience
that align with the needs of the Group’s businesses. Additionally, the
Committee focused on appointing individuals with the relevant
expertise and leadership qualities to enhance the capabilities of the
existing Directors.
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The Nomination Committee evaluated the independence of all
Independent Non-executive Directors and determined that they all
meet the criteria for independence, based on their annual
confirmations and assessments referenced in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Nomination Committee concluded that the Independent
Non-executive Directors continue to provide balanced and
independent perspectives to the Board. They play a significant role in
the Board committees, offering independent insights and constructive
feedback on key issues related to the Group’s strategy, policies,
performance, accountability, resource management, important
appointments, and standards of conduct. None of the Independent
Non-executive Directors is involved in the daily management of the
Company or has any financial or personal interests that could affect
their judgment. Furthermore, there are no circumstances that would
materially hinder their ability to exercise independent judgment.

Board Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a board nomination policy which sets out
the selection criteria and procedures to nominate Board candidates.
When making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
the Nomination Committee shall consider the potential contributions
a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
experience, independence, age, culture, ethnicity and gender
diversity. The Committee shall consider the following selection criteria
and such other factors that it may consider appropriate for a position
on the Board:

(i)  Attributes Complementary to the Board: The candidate
should possess attributes that complement and expand the skill
set, experience and expertise of the Board as a whole, having
regard to the current structure, size, diversity profile and skills
matrix of the Board and the needs of the Board.

(i)  Business Experience & Board Expertise and Skills: The
candidate should have the ability to exercise sound business
judgment and also possess proven achievement and experience
in directorship including effective oversight of and guidance to
management.

(i)  Commitment: The candidate should have sufficient time for
the proper discharge of the duties of a Director, including
devoting adequate time for the preparation and participation in
meetings, training and other Board or Company associated
activities.
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(iv) Motivation: The candidate should be self-motivated and have
a strong interest in the Company'’s businesses.

(v) Integrity: The candidate should be a person of integrity,
honesty, good repute and high professional standing.

(vi) Independence: Independent non-executive director (“INED")
candidates must satisfy the independence requirements under
the Listing Rules. The INED candidate shall be independent in
character and judgement and be able to represent and act in
the best interests of all shareholders of the Company.

Appointment of any proposed candidates to the Board or re-
appointment of any existing members of the Board shall be made in
accordance with the Articles of Association and other applicable rules
and regulations. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting. The nomination process set out in the Board
Nomination Policy is as follows:

Appointment of New Director

(i)  If the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple
channels for identifying suitable director candidates, including
referral from Directors, shareholders, management, advisors of
the Company and external executive search firms.

(i)  Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential
candidates, the Nomination Committee will shortlist candidates
and make a recommendation based on the selection criteria
and such other factors that it considers appropriate for
consideration by the Board. The Board has the final authority
on determining a suitable director candidate for appointment.

Re-election of Director and Nomination from
shareholders at General Meeting

(i) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-
election, the Nomination Committee shall consider and, if it
considers appropriate, make a recommendation to the Board
for its consideration, for such retiring Director to stand for re-
election at a general meeting. A circular containing the
requisite information on such retiring Director will be sent to
shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules.
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(i) Any shareholder of the Company who wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting
must lodge with the Company Secretary within the lodgement
period specified in the relevant shareholder circular (a) a written
nomination of the candidate, (b) a written confirmation from
such nominated candidate of his or her willingness to stand for
election, and (c) biographical details of such nominated
candidate as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
Particulars of the candidate so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diversified Board.
The Company has adopted a board diversity policy with the aim of
achieving an appropriate level of diversity among Board members
according to the circumstances of the Group from time to time. In
summary, it sets out that when considering the nomination and
appointment of a Director, with the assistance of the Nomination
Committee, the Board would consider a range of diversity of
perspectives, including but not limited to the skills, knowledge,
professional experience and qualifications, cultural and educational
background, age, gender and the potential contributions that the
candidate is expected to bring to the Board, in order to better serve
the needs and development of the Company. All Board appointments
will be based on merits and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity to the
Board.

The policy provides that the Board shall take opportunities to balance
the Board members’ gender diversity over time when selecting and
making recommendations on suitable candidates for Board
appointments, with the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to
gender parity. Currently, the Board has six members, comprising five
male members and one female member. The Board has achieved a
gender parity. To enhance gender diversity on the Board, it will
actively seek opportunities to increase the proportion of female
members over time when selecting and recommending candidates
for future board appointments.
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A summary of the Board Diversity Policy is set out as follows:

Policy
Statement

Measurable
Objectives

Monitoring,
Reporting
and Review

Policy
Compliance
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The Company recognises the benefits of a Board
that possesses a balance of skill set, experience,
expertise and diversity of perspectives appropriate
for the strategies of the Company. The Company
believes that board diversity enhances decision-
making capability and thus the overall effectiveness
of the Board in achieving sustainable business
operation and enhancing shareholder value.

The Company takes into consideration the benefits
of various aspects of diversity, including gender,
age, culture, ethnicity, educational background,
professional experience and other factors that may
be relevant from time to time towards achieving a
diversified Board.

Appointment to the Board is based on merit and
attributes that the selected candidate will bring to
the Board to complement and expand the
competencies, experience and perspectives of the
Board as a whole, considering the corporate
strategy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the structure, size, diversity profile and
skills matrix of the Board, selecting individuals to
be nominated as Directors, reviewing the
succession plan of Directors and making
recommendations on these matters to the Board
for approval. To this end, the Company is mindful
of having an appropriately structured recruitment,
selection and training programme at appropriate
levels so as to identify and prepare suitable talents
for Board positions.

The Nomination Committee reviews from time to
time this Policy, monitors its implementation to
ensure its continued effectiveness and makes
recommendations on any revisions as may be
required to the Board for approval.

Under the current board composition as at the
date of this annual report, the Directors have a
balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including in
management, strategic development, business
development, sales and marketing, finance and
investments.
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As at the date of the report, the Board comprises six directors. The HAZAIMEAH EEG R NBEBMHER - T
table below shows the board structure, and skill sets, expertise and ~ #HF|EES2EE R EEAIALAS TEMNH

competencies of the Directors: Kge -
Name
#H
Cheung Lit Wan Loo Hong Shing Lee Ka Leung
Kenneth Chan Wing Sum Luo Ying Vincent Leung Wai Kwan Daniel
RAUE Bk &R 5] ERER REE FRB
Structure and Size ERRAE
Age Fi 58 45 36 59 42 66
Years on Board EZCTEFR 1 1 1 13 <1 <1
Gender MR M M F M M M
Ethnicity T&Tk C C C C C C
Designation B £D ED ED INED INED INED
Committees ZEE
Audit B2 v v v
Nomination ’E v v v
Remuneration B v v v
Corporate Governance rEER v v v
Executive a7 v v v
Qualification Bi%
Professional %4 N1 N2 N3
Educational BE MSc, MCG, BSc, MS MCG, BSSocSc
MBA, DBA
fifﬁﬁﬁi BEt. EERBEL
TEEREL BEELT Helagat
I%EEEi*
ITHEREL
Skills and Expertise REREENE
Executive leadership & strategy/ REM EH AT v v v v v v
directorship or senior executive TREERRE,/
experience with other listed %%Tﬁiﬁﬁﬁl
company(ies) B8R
Capital market expertise ﬁ$m GERAE v v v v v v
Mainland China exposure FEI A ER v v v v
Accounting professionals/ BHEEAE/ v v v
financial management expertise MHEREEMS
Legal professionals/regulatory & EREEAR/ v v v v v v
compliance/risk management EEHRLE/ ARER
Digital 7t v v v
F: Female M: Male P&t M: 51
C: Chinese ED: Executive Director CEA ED:$\1TES
INED: Independent Non-executive Director INED: B\ JEMMITE F
Notes: BfE -

N1:  Graduate Member of the Chartered Governance Institute and a Certified ~ N1: HESHFAGDAEAGHEES + WBRAFDEME
Management Accountant accredited by the Australian Institute of Certified BB ERINEMERSED
Management Accountants

N2:  Associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants N2 :  HAGMALEE REEHREBINSFSHAA
and fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and BEREER
Wales

N3:  Fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and N3 : HAELAAERABRSFARGHAMACEFREE
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

L
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Workforce Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a workforce diversity policy. This Policy
promotes a diversified and inclusive working environment where
individual differences are respected and all employees are treated
with dignity. It enhances recruitment, supports retention, and fosters
innovation and growth by leveraging diverse perspectives. Key
components include adhering to non-discriminatory employment
practices and procedures, encouraging collaboration among the
workforce, providing training and development opportunities to
address specific needs and career aspirations of diverse employees
and regularly assessing the policy’s effectiveness.

Gender Diversity

The Group has taken and continues to take steps to promote
diversity at all levels of its workforce. As at 31 March 2025, our total
workforce comprised approximately 45% male and 55% female. The
Nomination Committee considered that the current ratio of male and
female employees is relatively balanced. The Group will ensure that
there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level of
the Group so that it will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to the Board in the future.

The Company offers all-rounded trainings to female employees
whom it considers to have the suitable experience, skills and
knowledge of its operation and business, including but not limited
to, business operation, management, accounting and finance, legal
and compliance. This strategy allows the Board to identify capable
female employees to be nominated as a member of the Board in the
future with an aim to providing the Board with a pipeline of female
candidates to achieve greater gender diversity in the Board in the
long run.

Corporate Governance Committee
As at the date of this report, the Corporate Governance Committee

is chaired by Mr Leung Wai Kwan with Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth
and Mr Loo Hong Shing Vincent as members.
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The Corporate Governance Committee shall have the following
responsibilities, powers and discretion:

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees of the Group;

to review the implementation and effectiveness of the
shareholders communication policy;

to review the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanisms ensuring independent views are available to the
Board; and

to review the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
set out in the CG Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

Executive Committee

As at the date of this report, the Executive Committee is chaired by
Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth and Mr Chan Wing Sum and Ms Luo
Ying as members. The Executive Committee shall have the following
responsibilities, powers and discretion:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

to review and approve transactions that are not discloseable
under the Listing Rules and report the results to the Board
regularly;

to conduct due diligence (including but not limited to legal,
financial, operational and finance) and analysis and make
recommendations to the transactions; and

to assist the Board in reviewing transactions to ensure that their
execution complies with the Board’s decisions, as well as the
requirements, guidelines, and regulations outlined in the
Articles of Association, the Listing Rules, and applicable laws.
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(vi)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board and the Corporate Governance Committee have reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and
compliance with the CG Code, reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management and reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements
during the Current Year.

INDEPENDENT VIEW MECHANISM

The Board has adopted a board independence evaluation mechanism,
to ensure independent view and input are available to the Board. The
mechanism includes various measures to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board.

The Board shall at all times comprise at least three independent non-
executive directors that represent at least one-third of the Board,
such that there is always a strong element of independence on the
Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment. Each
independent non-executive director is required to provide an annual
confirmation of his/her independence to the Company and the
Nomination Committee is responsible to assess the independence of
each independent non-executive director annually.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are
given equal opportunity and channels to communicate and express
their views to the Board and have separate and independent access
to the management of the Group in order to make informed
decisions. All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request, seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company'’s expenses for discharging their duties to the Company.

The chairman of the Board will hold meetings with the independent
non-executive Directors without the involvement of other Directors
annually to discuss any issues and concerns. Any Director or his/her
associate who has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board will be dealt with by a Board meeting rather than by
written resolutions. Such Director will be required to declare his/her
interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and not
counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non- executive Directors who, and whose associates,
have no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting.
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The Board has reviewed and considered that the board independence
evaluation mechanism is effective in ensuring that independent views
and input are provided to the Board during the year ended 31 March
2025.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest with a transaction or proposal
to be considered by the Board, such Director is required to declare
such interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is considered at
a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no material interest
in the transaction. The Group also adopted certain internal control
policies to manage potential conflicts of interest.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr So Wing Chun was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) with effect from 1 April 2024
and resigned on 5 August 2024.

Ms Yan Hoi Ling Jovian was appointed as the Company Secretary
with effect from 5 August 2024 and resigned on 30 June 2025.

Ms Ma Wing Yee was appointed as the Company Secretary with
effect from 30 June 2025. She is an assistant manager of SWCS
Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited and has over 10 years
of experience in corporate governance and company secretarial
practice in listed companies on the Stock Exchange. She obtained a
Bachelor’s Degree in Art from the University of Hong Kong. She is an
associate member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and The Chartered Governance Institute in the United Kingdom. She
has duly complied with the relevant professional training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The primary contact person of
the Company with the Company Secretary is Mr Chan Wing Sum, an
executive Director.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, has provided both audit
and non-audit services to the Group. The Audit Committee is
responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment, removal and remuneration of the
independent auditor.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the fee for audit service and non-
audit services (i.e. non-assurance service) provided to the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1.0 million and HK$Nil respectively
(2024: HK$0.9 million and HK$NIil, respectively).
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Current Year, there is no significant change in the
Company'’s constitutional documents.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS SENDING
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

1.  Enquiries about shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, via its online holding
enquiry service at www.tricoris.com, or send email to
is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com or go in person to its public
counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

2. Enquiries about corporate governance or other
matters to be put to the Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous
enquiries. Shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of the Board or Company
Secretary, by mail to 22/F, Sun Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the
Company at (852) 3851 9168 for any assistance.

On behalf of the Board

Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
AL TR

@ pakertilly
R B ] PR

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUNLICAR GROUP LIMITED
(previously known as Huabang Technology Holdings Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hunlicar
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collective
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 103 to 280, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements”
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FRETER

MAREAEASRBERMANEXAE - oY
A HHBRENBARDEENFTE ° %
FEHEERMEAEBAHYBHRALLA
ERRETREN - AT S ELFREEMR
BEBMER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Key audit matter
FARETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RPN ETNAEEBRETSE

Impairment assessment on loan receivables

FE W B R 2 BB RS

Refer to Notes 4(b), 20 and 34.2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

288 SRR T 4(0) ~ 20 % 34.2 °

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of loan
receivables amounted to HK$38.74 million (net of
impairment allowances amounted to HK$46.49 million).
RZBE-_RAF=A=+—H BEREXRNEEES
38,740,000 7 7T (F1FR R (B 5 ## 46,490,000 % 7T ) ©

The management of the Group estimated the amount of
12-month expected credit losses (“ECLs”) of loan
receivables based on information including credit profile
of the borrowers, historical settlement records, ageing of
the loan receivables, value of the collaterals and expected
timing and amount of realisation of outstanding
balances. Management also considered forward-looking
information that may impact the ability of the borrowers
to repay the outstanding balances in order to estimate
the ECLs for the impairment assessment.
EEEERENREBEEEERANGEERR BEER
ik - R EFERE - B mEEAREHERRER
RBNEEReESER - G ERERN T /@A R
HEERER((FHEERBE]) 2E - EBENCEERA
RERERERABERNERERENOAELEER - U
EstRE G TRREEEE
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Our procedures to evaluate the Group’s impairment
assessment on loan receivables as at 31 March 2025
included the following:

s EEER - -_AF=A=+—HEKEFTH
BERMEMEFBIEATRIE

obtaining an understanding of and evaluating the
design and implementation of key internal controls
over the assessment of the expected credit losses of
loan receivables;
THREFEEREKSEREREEEFRTANEE
M EPEL IR R T BB

assessing the Group’s impairment provision policy and
related management judgements with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standard;

2EZRTEFEUNBRE - 5TE EEEHRER
IR M AR R E IR 2 I

assessing the appropriateness of the estimated credit
loss rates by examining historical default data and
evaluating whether the ECL rates are appropriately
adjusted based on the current market conditions and
forward-looking information;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BEETEIR

FEEETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RPN ETOAEEERETSE

Impairment assessment on loan receivables
(Continued)
W E Rz BE ()

Management also assessed whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since their initial
recognition at the end of the reporting period.
Management considered reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue
cost or effort for this purpose. This included quantitative
and qualitative information and also, forward-looking
analysis.

EREMENREPRTEEERR BT HABIARE
BREZEM - ERERUEZEEBERBANLBZK
RAZNENAIREGE BN EER - AR BEREFEENRTE
MHERA KBTS AT

In assessing the lifetime ECLs on credit-impaired loan
receivable, the Group performed an assessment based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors specific to the borrowers, general economic
conditions, the current conditions at the reporting date
and forward-looking analysis. The Group also reviews the
amount and timing of future cash flows, guarantees,
value of the collateral received from the customers in
measuring impairment. The methodology and
assumptions used for estimating the impairment amount
are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between
loss estimates and actual loss experience.
RIFEEERERKERNEHERACEEHER - &
SETBRBEELBEEEFRCRETIE - WAREBER
ARFERE - —REEIRR - REE B B E AR
NATREMESITETAE - SXRETRAAKRESRE
W B MR - BR - REPUWHRAERmEEER - A
FTERE - ERESANEHRES BN ENMBRR
OB A B R EEH R ER BB R 2 MR ERER -

assessing the appropriateness of the Group's
determination of significant increase in credit risk and
the basis for classification of exposures into the three
stages, including review of loan overdue information
or other relevant information, and the appropriateness
of the three stages classification determined by the
Group;
it EEERTEERRBEZEMNNES R
R o /R=ERRNEKE BRESHEFEHER
‘Xﬁi\ﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬂ AR EREREN=ERRY
HHEE M

for credit-impaired loan receivables, checking the
valuation of the collateral and other sources of cash
flows, and developed a reasonable range of expected
cash shortfall for comparison with the Group’s
assessment of impairment allowance; and

HEERERKER  REEARNEMBESRE
FREE - LHESENTERRERAOSEE - L
B EEENRERGTEETHER &

assessing the adequacy of the disclosures in relation to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements
with reference to the prevailing accounting standards.
2ERTEHERFEEHVBRRANEBEER
iR EH T e -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
FRETER

BEEEEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RPN ET UM EEERETSE

Impairment assessment on loan receivables
(Continued)
W E Rz BAERT M ()

We identified impairment assessment on loan receivables
as a key audit matter due to the significance of these
amounts to the Group's consolidated financial position
and the involvement of subjective judgement and
management estimates in evaluating the expected credit
losses at the end of the reporting period.

B REEERREN (ARE A —RERENFE
WBREZEeRE EEESHUMBRANEEL -
ARIER A S IR TR B E B B RN S R E 8 26 &
BB L -

Impairment assessment of goodwill

EE 2 BER

Refer to Notes 4(c) and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2H A BERERME A M 16 °

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the
Group's goodwill was mainly allocated to cash-generating
units (“CGUs") in relation to the food trading business in
Hong Kong amounting to HK$14.48 million (net of
accumulated impairment loss of HK$8.03 million).
RZEZRAF=A=+—H ' E£EEEZEEEE
ENEEARAETERMESEB 2 ReEAEN((RE
ELEN])  £%/514,480,00078 7T (F1kk BT R EE
188,030,000 7T °

926

Our procedures to evaluate the Group’s impairment
assessment of goodwill as at 31 March 2025 included the
following:

B EEER T _RAF=A=+—HBHEZRE
AHENIEFBERA TSI

o obtaining an understanding and evaluating the design
and implementation of key internal controls in relation
to the impairment assessment of goodwiill;
THREEAREAEREN GO EZRNIMEENR
FENEM

° assessing the reliability of management’s cash flow
forecast by comparing the historical cash flow
forecasts with the actual results of the CGUs;
FRFATHeRERNERCELEMNERE
BETHR A ERERSRETRAMASEL

o evaluating the competence, capabilities and objectivity
of the valuation expert engaged by management to
perform the impairment assessment;

AR EEEZEENETRENEHNEEZRNE
e TRREEN
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BEETEIR

B > A BB

FEEETEE )

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
RPN ETOAEEERETSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

B R A ()

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or when
there are events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, goodwill has been allocated to respective
CGU. Management assessed the recoverable amount of
relevant CGU with the assistance of an independent
external valuer. The recoverable amounts were
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections of the relevant CGU based on
financial budgets approved by management. The key
assumptions involved include (i) revenue growth rate, (ii)
terminal growth rate; and (iii) pre-tax discount rates.
HMERGF INAEHNBREDETEAERE
i ETREAR - RETREN G  BEEIRESR
REeELEN - EREDEBLINBHERE 7B T T
AR SELSEMANAIKREEHE - AIREEEIRE
REEAELET  ETHRARBEEEHENVEE
BRHENEARSEFABLRERETRA - PR E
ZRVEFEOHWABRE - (i) KAEREK K i) BAT
BRI R -

Based on the results of the impairment assessment
conducted by the Group, an impairment loss of HK$8.03
million is recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

Big EXERRENGER ERBE_T-_AF=
A=1—HILFE 2B MR R(EEE 8,030,000/8

JG °

We identified the impairment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the significant degree of judgement and
estimation made by the management associated with the
determination of the recoverable amount of goodwill in
the impairment assessment.
BAEEERERNAERETFE - HHRNERER
EPETHEATREESER P REEBEHNERH
i N A&t

with the assistance of our internal valuation expert,
evaluating the appropriateness of the discount cash
flow model and pre-tax discount rates as used by
management in determining the value-in-use of the
CGUs;

EHRFMABEEZROHET @ HEEEERANUE
EREEFEMFEABEMNBRRB S MEEE R
AIBRIR IR E 1L

testing the mathematical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations prepared by the management;

AFHEREERROEREENENHRBER

evaluating the management’s future cash flow
forecast of the CGUs including the reasonableness of
the forecast in the context of historical results of the
Group’s businesses and production capacity, and
comparing the parameters used (including revenue
growth rates and gross profit margins) with the
market data and information as obtained from our
independent research;
AEEEERREEAEMIFHARRRERER
Al BERE BEREXBHBEEERER TG
ZEAMESENE WKAALE(BRRAERER
EAMR)ERMEBLFASPESNTSEBERER
HEITLLRR

challenging the appropriateness of the discount rates
and long-term revenue growth rates used by
management by reference to those discount rates as
adopted by comparable companies, market data and
information as obtained from our independent
research;

Z2EA LR AR FRMH IR KR AR R MBS
ERESNTSHEBEREN  SEREEEMERN
R R L REWAERREEE T

97



Hunlicar Group Limited ZXIMEBER AT § Annual Report 3k 2025

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
38 7 A B I e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BERETSEH®
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BRETSE RPN ET UM EEERETSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill (Continued)

B 2R A ()

o evaluating management’s sensitivity analysis to
ascertain the impact of reasonably possible changes of
key assumptions and performing re-calculation
independently for the downside changes in
management’s sensitivity analysis, focusing on the
most sensitive assumptions, including revenue growth
rates, gross profit margins and discount rate; and
AEEREENBRESN  UBEEEIERKNSIE

AR PMm RN E ]Ldi”qfil'@(@}; sR)iles
E’JT%'J EHENBYUE  EPEINRERAOR
CEREBAERR  EFMRREERE R

o assessing the sufficiency of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
impairment assessment of goodwill with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting

standards.
2ERTEELN  FHEHYBRERAGHERE
AR HHEENTT R
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

B > A BB
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
agreement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Gao Yajun.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025

Gao Yajun

Practising certificate number P06391
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
GLiliEEs

For the Year Ended 31 March 2025

BEZ A =H=1+—HILFE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RF —EUF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt & FHET FABT
Revenue WA 5 238,977 357,111
Cost of sales HERA (141,229) (342,907)
Gross profit EF 97,748 14,204
Other income and gains, net HA U A R Wz - JF B 8 7,706 2,542
Selling expenses HEEH (1.176) (1,347)
General and administrative expenses —REITHER (101,774) (47,053)
Reversal of expected credit loss on SREERBEERE
financial assets, net Bem - HER 7 2,152 53,962
Change in fair value upon transfer from  B¥1% « BE MR &
property, plant and equipment to EREREYFE
investment properties A EEE) 14 (56,034) =
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant  HEWZE « FE K& &
and equipment B (E18), M (2,726) 500
Share of results from associates e A= VNS 18 (181) =
Impairment of goodwill EERE 16 (8,035) -
Impairment of other intangible assets HinmEEERE 16 (657) =
Operating (loss)/profit e (F8),/RE (62,977) 22,808
Finance costs B TSR AN 9 (9.144) (11,666)
(Loss)/profit before income tax HBRFr SR AT (BE), RE 10 (72,121) 11,142
Income tax expense FriSfif = 11 (1,689) (115)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(FER) B (73,810) 11,027
(Loss)/profit attributable to: PG (B548) /75 :
Owners of the Company RATHER A (76,094) 14,759
Non-controlling interests FEE AR e 2,284 (3,732)
(73,810) 11,027

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable 772 T)#H AFE/L

to owners of the Company SR (BR) B 12
(Restated)
(&&=751)
Basic HAKR HK(97.00) cent HK27.56 cent
(97.00) &l 27.56 711
Diluted e HK(97.00) cent HK27.56 cent

(97.00) &1l 27.56 811l

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these (A 111Z280 B &M sE At Z 4 G0 75 ®
consolidated financial statements. KH)—EBD ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

A) RN
R TRed (e S
For the Year Ended 31 March 2025
BWEF -HHFE-H =T —HILEE

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
[tem that may be subsequently reclassified to

profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of

foreign operations

Item that will not be reclassified to

profit or loss:

Fair value (loss)/gain on equity securities
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, net of nil tax

Other comprehensive expense for the

year, net of nil tax

Total comprehensive (expense)/income

for the year

Total comprehensive (expense)/income

attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these
consolidated financial statements.
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ZA/NCIE PN
FEIE RS

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RHEF —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHIT
(73,810) 11,027
(190) (95)
(2,437) 34
(2,627) (61)
(76,437) 10,966
(78.,721) 14,689
2,284 (3,723)
(76,437) 10,966
HNRE 1112280 EMHTE AL E S OB B3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
B OF B4 55 R Dl R

As at 31 March 2025

AR ZHEZA=+—H

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024
—EB-RHEF —E_NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T THBxT FHETT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - BB REE 13 8,003 198,311
Investment properties A 14 123,500 =
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 6,008 8,999
Intangible assets EEEE 16 22,937 11,250
Other financial assets Hino @& = 23 4,887 4,354
Interests in associates P kN o e 18 479 =
Loan receivables W E K 20 12,216 =
Deposits, prepayments and e BAFER
other receivables E fib & W GRIE 22 3,010 3,156
Deferred tax assets IRIETR IS B 30 17,374 17,249
198,414 243,319
Current assets nEEE
Inventories TE 19 3,361 8,261
Loan receivables EIRE TR 20 26,520 14,940
Account receivables UL BR ZX 21 99,086 115,441
Deposits, prepayments and other e BAFIER
receivables E b e I FRIE 22 10,021 5,973
Other financial assets HtomEE 23 1,031 192
Income tax recoverable AU el A5 F - 1,016
Bank balances held on behalf of clients KB FPEE ZiR1T4E 24 199,363 6,305
Pledged bank deposits BHEFRITIF - 14,982
Cash and cash equivalents Be MIReEEY 25 21,898 67,730
361,280 234,840
Total assets EEHARE 559,694 478,159
EQUITY R
Share capital A% 2R 26 7,742 7,892
Other reserves H b 28 630,557 644,373
Accumulated losses 2:tEE (445,385) (369,291)
Total equity attributable to owners of RRBER NEIGER LR
the Company 192,914 282,974
Non-controlling interests JEFERR = 5,220 (3,735)
Total equity SR 198,134 279,239

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these (A 111Z280 B &M sE At Z 4 G0 75 ®
consolidated financial statements. KH)—EZ D
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B OF B 55 R Dl R
As at 31 March 2025

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHBxT FHIT
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Borrowings BE 32 27,000 =
Lease liabilities HEERE 15 4,262 5,826
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFRIEE & 30 1,727 815
32,989 6,641
Current liabilities REAE
Account payables FE SRR 31 251,369 60,392
Other payables and accrued expenses H At fE (I IB R BT B A 31 13,379 5,057
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 2,344 3,890
Borrowings BE 32 60,000 122,940
Income tax payables FEAS S AR 1,479 =
328,571 192,279
Total liabilities EEBE 361,560 198,920
Total equity and liabilities EnRkEE8HE 559,694 478,159
Net current assets REBEEFE 32,709 42,561
Total assets less current liabilities BEABRRBAE 231,123 285,880

These consolidated financial statements on pages 103 to 280 were 5103 & 280 Bt E A M BHRRE RN =
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and —FHENA=+HEESSHETEE AT

were signed on its behalf by: FIEERKREE .
Chan Wing Sum Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth
B 7K % RAUE
Director Director
BE BF

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these #FHMNFE 111 E280H WM &t %4 (B B3R
consolidated financial statements. RH)—ZD
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
o B 3 5 ) 5

For the Year Ended 31 March 2025
BEZ A =H=1+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company
EATEEAEL
Other reserves
At
Shares

held for
share Fair Non-

Share  Share  award  Merger  Capital Statutory Exchange value Accumulated controlling
capital premium  scheme  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve Subtotal losses Total interests

130
LR | AYE FER
Bx BGEE BERG ANEE HXRG iERE EXGE 1 Nt RiER @5t i
Note 27 Note 28(a) Note 28(b) Note 28(c)
W2r BiE28(@) KiE28(b) MEE28()
HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TEn TEz TEz TEn TEr TEx Tz TR TER TEn TEx TEn

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BZ-E-F%

ZAZt-ALEE
Balance at 1 April 2024 i S

iffe 7892 600,620 (21,554) 50,374 10,149 1,042 3,708 34 644373 (369,291) 282974  (3,735) 279,239
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(B58)/78 = = = = = = - - - (76094) (76,098 2,284  (73,810)

Other comprehensive expense  Eftia%
Exchange differences arising on BEBNERELH

translation of foreign operations ERER = = - - - - (190) - (190) - (190) - (190)
Net change in fair value of equity R ARATEAZ

securities designated at fairvalue ~ SFARAZBAESFZ

through other comprehensive income - AT EZ 875 = = = = = = - e @2430) - (243 - (243)
Total comprehensive (expenseincome £&44 (i),

for the year LN = = = = = = (190)  (2437)  (2627)  (76,094) (78,721) 2,284  (76,437)
Transactions with owners: BREEANRS
Decrease in non-controlling interests,  FERIRIERHL + ThmR

as a result of acquisition of additional KB A RIEIMES

interests in subsidiaries without (BhlEESS)

change on control (Note 39) (HizE39) - - - - (1332 - - - (1332 - (133 6671 (661)
Shares repurchased and cancelled BB R SRR

(Note 26) (izk26) (150)  (3,857) - - - - - - (3857) - (4,007) - (4,007)
Total transaction with owners HEEANRSEE (150)  (3,857) = - (7332 = = - (11189) - (11339) 6671 (4668)
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZBZR%

ZR=T—R&kH 7742 59,763 (21554) 50374 2817 1,042 3518  (2403) 630,557  (445,385) 192,914 5220 198,134

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these N E 111 E 280 B WM AL =4 (18 5 5
consolidated financial statements. R —Z5
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Ll E kS

For the Year Ended 31 March 2025
BE_Z-HF=H =T —HILFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AREER AL
Other reserves
Al
Shares
held for
share Fair Non-
Share Share  award  Merger  Capital Statutory  Exchange value Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium  scheme  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  Subtotal losses Total  interests equity
ARH
HRltEl AFE R

A RAEE #ARD ANERE A1EE iEEE EXGE i Nt RiER &3t s ERER
Note 27 Note 28(a) Note 28(b) Note 28(c)
Bit2r Hiiase) ME2sh) FHE28(0
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tér TEr TEr TEr ThEr TEr  TEr  TEr TR Tér TEr TEr T#Ex

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BZ-E-[%

ZR=t-ALEE
Balance at 1 Apri 2023 RZEZ=4mA-A

LIS 4385 53192 (21630) 50374 2810 1042 3812 - 559600 (384050) 179935 6347 186282
Profit(loss) for the year FEFE/(58) - - - - - - - - - 14759 14759 (3732) 11,027

Other comprehensive (expense)/  Eftr4 () /A

income
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEHELH

translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - - (104) (104) - (104) 9 (95)
Net change in fair value of equity R ARATEF AL

securities designated at fairvalue ~ ARAZBAES L

through other comprehensive income - AFEZ 8T - - - - - - - 34 34 - 3% - 34
Total comprehensive (expense)income £E 44 (i)

for the year [ = = = = - - (104) 34 (70) 14,759 14,689 (3,723) 10,966
Transactions with owners: RERANRS
Issuance of shares upon placement  BLEE TR

(Note 26) (it 26) 877 24,639 - - - - - - 24639 - 25516 - 25516
Issuance of shares upon rights issue ~ &AREZITRA

(Note 26) (it 26) 2630 54,19 - - - - - - 5419 - 56824 - 5684
Transaction costs attributable to shares #Es %17/ {3E(S

issued upon rights issue RHBA - (1,409) - = = = = - (1,409 - (1409 - (1,409
Deemed partial disposal of subsidiaries #{EH A EHERF]

without loss of control MR AE - - - - 1339 - - 7,339 - 7339 (6957) 382
Contribution from non-controlling ~ HIBARIFEAMRER

shareholders of subsidiaries & - - - - - - - - - - - 598 598
Others £t - - 76 - - - - - 76 - 76 - 76
Total transaction with owners BEEANRHEE 3507 77,428 76 - 7339 - - - 84843 - 88350 (6359 81,991
Balance at 31 March 2024 RIBZMmE

ZR=T-Ri&R 7892 600620  (21554) 50374 10,149 1,042 3,708 34 644373 (369.291) 282974 (3735 279,239

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these #HNFE111E 280 H KM X &t %4 (B B R
consolidated financial statements. RE)—E D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

B ESREER
For the Year Ended 31 March 2025
BEEZ-HFE-H =T —HILFE

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Income tax refunded

Net cash flows generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Acquisition of financial assets at fair
value through other profit or loss

Acquisition of financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
income

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Payment for acquisition of an associate

Payment for acquisition of a subsidiary,
net of cash and cash equivalents
acquired

Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged
bank deposits

Net cash flows generated from/(used in)
investing activities

RETDHERERE

REELNRS
B AEH
BEREMRFH

REREELER
REmEFHE

REZDABEESRE
BEUHE
BEWE  BENMERE

HEWE - BEK&E
PSR
WigtR N FER AR
BamlSRMEE
Wi N ER A A
HAEWRAZEREE

BERATES A RS
SRAEFERA
Bt — R A A RO R
bt — R B 2 R0k
(B RS R

e ZEY)
IRER, (M) BAEIRIR1T
#5

KREEHEE(EH)

OB Re A h=pE 2

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these

consolidated financial statements.

2025 2024
—E_RF —=E_puE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FHBxT FHETT
36(a) 1,089 39,362
(83) (916)
561 586
o 1567 - 39,032
1,619 410
13 (2,147) (864)
36(b) 2 500
(47,876) =
(2,970) (4,320)
48,090 =
(660)
38 (5,997) =
14,982 (14,982)
5,043 (19,256)

HNE 1112280 AN ERULFE HFRI K]
RE—# e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CLEI RN &

For the Year Ended 31 March 2025
BWEF -HHFE-H =T —HILEE

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—2-1F ZEMF
Note HK$°000 HK$'000

B FET TR

Cash flows from financing activities ®BEFREFREBRERE

Interest paid BAF A 36(c) (8,910) (11,902)
Drawdown of borrowings RHEE 36(c) 87,000 125,885
Repayments of borrowings BEEE 36(c) (122,940) (175,477)
Repayment of principal portion of EEMERBEZAESH D

lease liabilities 36(c) (3,053) (3,669)
Repayment of interest portion of BERSaEZNEHS

lease liabilities 36(c) (234) (284)
Proceeds from share issued upon fic & IRF 31T IR FT 1S 3R

placement, net of issue costs HBRFITA A 26 - 25,516
Proceeds from issue of shares upon rights A& FF 2517 AR FT 15 3B

issue, net of issue costs HIBRBETTRCA 26 = 55,495
Payment for acquisition of additional W REBIT B A R ZRSME A

interests in subsidiaries EORNEN 39 (661) =
Deemed partial disposal of interest in RIEHERH B AR 25

subsidiaries without losing control HEE 2o T TN 52 O 42 1 4 39 - 382
Shares repurchased &[] B 1) 26 (4,007) =
Contributions from non-controlling BB A R FEIERRAR R &

shareholders of subsidiaries - 598

Net cash flows (used in)/generated from  BW& &S (£/), FE4
financing activities IR MEIFHE (52,805) 16,544

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%ﬁ%

cash equivalents WD) R (46,195) 36,320
Cash and cash equivalents FUNRE MRESZEEY

at beginning of year 67,730 30,959
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, 4MNEEREFR L - F58

net 363 451
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FARAIR & KIESEEY 25 21,898 67,730

The notes on pages 111 to 280 are integral parts of these #HRFE111E280E W= AIES KR
consolidated financial statements. KA —ED o
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Hunlicar Group Limited ZRIINEEBRA 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Hunlicar Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 23 February 2011 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is 22/F, Sun
Hung Kai Centre, 30 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively “the Group”) are principally
engaged in (i) computer and electronic products trading
business (including computer and peripheral products and
electronics products business), (i) food trading business, (iii)
financial services business (including securities brokerage
business, advisory services business and money lending
business) and (iv) family office services business.

The Company changed its name from Huabang Technology
Holdings Limited to Hunlicar Group Limited with effect from 8
October 2024. As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s
controlling shareholder is Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth.

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousands,
unless otherwise stated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o DR A 5 ¥ B

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

2.1 Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective

for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period
beginning on 1 April 2024 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and related
amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5
(2020)

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group's financial positions and performance for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting

Standards in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have
been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of
Financial Instruments®

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent
Electricity®

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an
Investor and its
Associate or Joint
Venture'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume
113

Lack of Exchangeability?
Presentation and

Disclosure in Financial
Statements*

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the

foreseeable future.

Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIIEBEBR AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.2 New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements” (“HKFRS 18”)

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements and will replace HKAS
1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (“HKAS 1")
and this new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying
forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, introduces
new requirements to present specified categories and
defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss;
provide disclosures on management-defined performance
measures in the notes to the financial statements and
improve aggregation and disaggregation of information
to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition,
some HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
“Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates
and Errors” and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7
“Statement of Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per
Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and
disclosures in the future financial statements. The Group
is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of
HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards as issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of
preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by
primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for certain
properties and financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset
or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such
a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment
("HKFRS 2"), leasing transactions that are accounted for
in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16"”), and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

Hunlicar Group Limited ZRIINEEBRA 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which
are transacted at fair value and a valuation technique
that unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair
value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of subsidiaries begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when the
Group loses control of subsidiaries. Specifically, income
and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control subsidiaries.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlling interests according to the
Group's and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2

3.3

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of
the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting Standards).
The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets
which includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The acquired processes are considered
substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce
with the necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to
perform the related processes or they significantly
contribute to the ability to continue producing outputs
and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the
ability to continue producing outputs.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the
“Conceptual Framework"”) except for transactions and
events within the scope of HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (“HKAS
37") or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies ("HK(IFRIC)-Int 21"), in
which the Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair
value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.3 Business combinations (Continued)

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at
the acquisition date;

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard;
and

o lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset
is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared
with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at
acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.3 Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.
The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional
information obtained during the “measurement period”
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date)
about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to
fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the
corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.3

3.4

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
retrospectively during the measurement period (see
above), and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business (see Note 3.3 above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or
group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 WAUSHUBBRNEERE
REF

3.4

BERER (2

EBast@)

EXBAMHIOBRER  AEEB
ERA 2B T R R RN
BH(AIASERSZEHEER) 2
NP EEHNFE MBLEEZR
S ER (NE) AR Bk 4R
BRACRBRME) FHER - KUK
BEMAmREEIERELRB
FEREMEGEERATRERARE
FAMBHREEARIRTENS
B ASRBENASECERLE
Z RIS R TR AR EEASK -

WEBEHZNTETRES AR
B GHE A 2 3RS BAR AT W R SERK -
AREE2HATXNEFTERIES R
ZIAR 2 RSB - R TR BUE
ERFEHE(RE LX) REWH
B IHABPINEEXAE  UR
BRPTEIS AU B AE FE MR AT
HMAlER EZ AR R 2
SEEBRZHNER -

]

iR

RUWE —BEXBEL < HBER
WK B (R EXMHE33)
EZRARRRERE(IE) A
/H\E o

FRERRNE  BEKSEER
FEAGHBREMES X BHANE
EEReELEM(HBRESELE
/5l - AEREELEMELR
NEBEEEMNMERBENRKRE
Ao WAARR—EREDHE -

123



Hunlicar Group Limited ZXIMEBER AT § Annual Report 3k 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ DF U 5 % B R

124

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.4 Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill
arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating
units). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an
operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash-
generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the
basis of the relative values of the operation (or the cash-
generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the cash-
generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described in Note 3.5 below.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.5 Interests in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of an associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of that associate.

BERER (2

3.5 RBERNT DS

BERREAKRESEAERERY
ENER - BAFER2EARKE
TR MR E B EORENEN
M IFFE % ZE BRI N

RBERBzZREREERARTY
WERGDATT ARTE M B H
KA - RBEEHEZBENMS -
R Bl L N R 2 TS ERR TR & AT
HREAAEERBEUBR TETR
FREMHBE - RE#ER
& REBE QB 2 REV TR
RE GBI ERTER  WREER
EHAR AR A RERERE D
AlzBBEREMBEERA - Bt R
HigR e WA RN EEE R R EE
FEEHTEAR  BRIEZEEH
EYASERANEEEER LR
e  EAKBERIEBELRZE
BEEARERZE L AR 2 #s
B(EEREE LRAAEENZH
BRAZREFE o 2K
HtEs)  ARBEBURMREMGE
—FER ERAKBEEL LR
SHEEME  RERKZBERF
XNFBEZBERT - T ERRBEIN
B8 -

125



Hunlicar Group Limited ZXIMEBER AT § Annual Report 3k 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ DF U 5 % B R

126

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.5 Interests in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment
in an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss
in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the entire
carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is
tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is
not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any
reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in
accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.5 Interests in associates (Continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest
is a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that
date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on
initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate and the fair value of any retained
interest and any proceeds from disposing of the relevant
interest in the associate is included in the determination
of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate. In
addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that associate on the same basis as would be required if
that associate had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as
a reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or partial
disposal of the relevant associates.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series
of distinct goods or services that are substantially the
same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.6 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

(@)

(b)

©

(d)

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at a
point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery
of the goods.

Provision of underwriting and placing services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the customer has received the service
from the Group. Commission income from
underwriting and placing is recognised when the
underlying securities are being written or placed.

Provision of securities brokerage services

The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the customer has received the service
from the Group. Commission income on securities
dealing and broking is generally due within two
days after trade date.

Provision of family office services
The performance obligation is satisfied at a point in

time when the service is completed, according to
the nature and terms of the contracts.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 #HmHEHUMEBRRNWEERSE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL KETHERER (#)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
3.6 Revenue recognition (Continued) 3.6 WARER(E)
Revenue from contracts with customers KREEFEHZHA (&)
(Continued)
(e)  Provision of international education planning (e) FEHEIBRHE #EEIRF
services
Revenue is recognised over time on a straight-line WARE R BRI IE B 477 BE
basis over the lifetime of the contracts. RIMERR o
Revenue from other sources KB H b FIR A
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using MEWADLDEA KSR T EREE
the effective interest method by applying the rate that ST HASE B R EUE HARE A AT AR R
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over ReWALERUBREZSREERA
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter FERAE - FERERNERRRE
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of FTELERER o

the financial asset.

3.7 Leases 37 #HE
The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a REBENE VR GEBRRESRS
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at B R 5 22 R S8 16 5RIB T A E & AT
inception of the contract. Such contract will not be HEAREREEXBEHE - A
reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the e g EFRNMN  BRIES
contract are subsequently changed. AP B RN B R BE 1R 8 B o
The Group as a lessee KEBERFAEA
Allocation of consideration to components of a SERIEZE AR S5
contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one R SHEAKBS AR —HKZ
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the HFEINHESIEHEEX B E
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each AmME - AEERBHESHEKE S
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone RS E B RIEMEEKED
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand- VR B EREERAORES
alone price of the non-lease components, including REXEHEAK D @ BREKE
contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a —EHYE(REHAEL W NIEREE
property which includes both leasehold land and non- BFERED)NEBRENESL
lease building components, unless such allocation cannot BRIERREMEL IS AL

be made reliably.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 GHAHHBBENELERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REHFHERER ()
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.7 Leases (Continued) 3.7 HE &)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract (Continued)

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component and are accounted for by applying other
applicable standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REHHERER ()
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.7 Leases (Continued) 3.7 #HE &)

132

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated from
commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.7 Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in
market rental rates following a market rent review,
in which cases the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate.

o a lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.7

3.8

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

o the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the
effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price
of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone
price of the non-lease components.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.8

3.9

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign
operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.10Retirement benefits costs and short-term

emp

(a)

loyee benefits
Pension obligations

The Group participates in general defined
contribution pension schemes. A defined
contribution plan is a pension plan under which the
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations to pay further contributions if the fund
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees
the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or
privately administered pension insurance plans on a
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when
they are due.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the
Group's employees based in the PRC participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit,
housing fund, medical insurance and
unemployment fund plans organised by the
relevant municipal and provincial governments in
the PRC under which the relevant subsidiaries and
the employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group
has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised in profit or loss as employee benefit
expenses when they are incurred.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.10Retirement benefits costs and short-term
employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are
recognised as a liability when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of services rendered by employees and a reliable
estimate of the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled
within 12 months and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when they are
settled.

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.
Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.11Share-based payments

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

The Group operates a share-based compensation
plan, under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments
(options or awarded shares) of the Group. The fair
value of the employee services received in exchange
for the grant of the options is recognised as an
expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by reference to the fair value of the
options and awarded shares granted:

° including any market performance conditions
(for example, company’s share price);

o excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining as an employee of the Group
over a specified time period); and

o including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of
options or awarded shares that are expected to
vest. The total expense is recognised over the
vesting period, which is the period over which all of
the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options or
awarded shares that are expected to vest based on
the non-marketing performance and service
conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision
to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.
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RESHIBRROEERE
REFTBERER (&)

3.11Share-based payments (Continued) 311 URGBAERNAR (&)

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment (a) URBEZEURGRER

transactions (Continued)

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received, net of
any directly attributable transaction costs, are
credited to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium.

After vesting, when the share options are forfeited
before expiry or expired, the amount previously
recognised in “Shares held for share award
scheme” reserve will be transferred to
“accumulated losses”.

For the share award scheme, the Group may
purchase its own shares through the trustee of the
share award scheme from the open market for the
shares to be vested under the share award scheme.
The shares purchased by the Group that are not yet
vested for this share award scheme were accounted
for as treasury shares and recognised in “Shares
held for share award scheme” as a deduction of
equity. Upon vesting of the awarded shares, the
related costs of the purchased shares are reduced
from the “Shares held for share award scheme”,
and the related fair value of the awarded shares are
debited to “Shares held for share award scheme”
reserve with the difference charged/credited to
equity.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.11Share-based payments (Continued)

(b) Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant of options by the Company over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiaries
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as
an increase to investment in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding increase in
equity in the Company’s financial statements.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is
reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of diluted earnings/loss per share.

3.12Taxation

Income tax expenses represents the sum of current and
deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before
income tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.12Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.12Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities, and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a
deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly to equity, in
which case, the current tax and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.13Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated at in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
as “right-of-use assets” in the consolidated statement of
financial position except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under fair value
model. When the consideration cannot be allocated
reliably between non-lease building element and
undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the
entire properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.13Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-
occupation, any resulting decrease between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item (including the
relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) is
recognised in profit or loss and any resulting increase in
the carrying amount is recognised in other comprehensive
income and increases the revaluation surplus within
equity. On subsequent disposal of the investment
property, the revaluation surplus included in equity may
be transferred to retained earnings. The transfer from
revaluation surplus to retained earnings is not made
through profit or loss.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

The estimated useful lives by class of assets are as follows:

Leasehold properties 50 years or over the lease
terms, whichever is a
shorter period

Leasehold improvements 5 to 10 years or over the
remaining lease terms,
whichever is a shorter

period
Machineries 3 to 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

RAESHUBRRONEERE
REFTTBERER (&)

3.13M¥ - BMERRE(E)

W—EMERELBELRE (HE
XTeRABRRA) MRARENME
AFZEANRAER A FE 2 HA
{2 o] A bk 2E A B9 OB D 1A 18 2 R B
R AL B e 2 A RO R E B 48 0
AR B & A FERR - B AN
BEANEGHAR NEREER
EMER - stARSNEGLRRA
BRERFWS NERBRER
ERFWaEYIBEBEmIFD o

WETNREE 2 B AIE A FHR
EHFREE - UERETERIAM
HEMRA o (AETAIE A FH - RIgR
EBERFTETENEREMRET
ERH - MEMAGHESZFER
RTEEEARR -

FR8 EERE 5 B15 B fh 5 68 PR 4R
W :

HEWE 50F sk EHA
(A8 52 HA
RIE)

HEWEERE 5= 10F5FH
FAEH (AR
HARE A 22 )

25 3Z& 104

EENS 514

RERREE 54

RE 54



Annual Report &3k 2025

Hunlicar Group Limited ZRIINEEBRA 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.13Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.

3.14Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 WAUSHUBBRRNEERE
REF

BERER (2

3.13M% - MERRE(#E)

ME BELRBRBRHESLR
HBEERZEESTBEERR
BN SRR L FER - HENER
YR BERREREEEZE
e kBRI EMSHRIREER
ERAENERETE  YREBREA

3.14 BEYHE

REMEDEFBERRIRES
R/ RREREENYE

BREMENTZAATE - BRI
AT EZ AR L - RIAFERIK -
BREWMETRAFEFE - X
BB A R ITR S ERT 2 R &
HEWA -

Y A T (B A e M 6 o
RS 1R A BRTE A SRS -

REMENHERHEREYEK
ATBERARBLEESEELR
KA BN R AR L MR o AR IEFERR
YEEEM IRk EIR (R
EMFREFREEERAENE
Bt E) N LR E MG A

o
fBzs o

145



Hunlicar Group Limited ZXIMEBER AT § Annual Report 3k 2025

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o DR A 5 ¥ B

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.15Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Money lending license

The Group’s money lending license has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the license
over its estimated useful life of not more than 5 years.

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful lives
are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite
useful lives are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.
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(Continued)

3.15Intangible assets (Continued) 3.15 BILEE (&)

Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination (Continued)

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The customer relations have a finite useful life and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method
over the expected life of the customer relationship of 5
years.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

3.16Impairment on property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwiill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.
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3.16 Impairment on property, plant and

3.16 M1 - MERRE - EHEEE

148

equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwiill
(Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be established. The recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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3.16Impairment on property, plant and

3.16 M1 - MERRE - EHEEE

equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis
to a cash-generating unit, the Group compares the
carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units,
including the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets allocated to that group of
cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of
the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of
an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment
loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the
asset is allocated pro-rata to the other assets of the unit
or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating units or
a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash
generating units or a group of cash-generating units) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.17 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash;
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather than
for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.

3.18Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

3.19Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.19Provisions (Continued)

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows
(when the effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is
virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and
the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

3.20Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and
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3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is not held for trading.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern
of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing
so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting
mismatch.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so
that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the finance assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of
the equity investments, and is transferred to
retained profits.
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(Continued)
3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI
(Continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Dividends are included in the “other income and
gains, net” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains
and losses, net” line item.
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Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including loan receivables, trade receivables, certain
deposits, prepayments and other receivables, cash client
receivables, margin client receivables, cash and cash
equivalents) which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(Continued)
3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)
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RESHIBRROEERE
REFTBERER (&)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)

EHEE(E)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;
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(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, except for cash and margin client
receivables as described below, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

For cash client receivables, the Group considers
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when clients cannot meet the loan call requirement
and uses the loan-to-collateral value (“LTV") to
make its assessment.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

WREBEMBEHREEREIFRE

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

The Group considers a cash and margin client
receivable is in default when LTV is larger than a
defined benchmark. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a cash client receivable to
be in default when there is a significant shortfall
which indicates the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full taking into
account the pledged securities held by the Group.
A cash client receivable is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 €@ T A (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE &)

WREBEMBEHREEREIFRE

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL for trade receivables are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as
forward looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.
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(Continued)

3.20 Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

General approach

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they
are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do
not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in
credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of loan receivables, trade receivables, cash client
receivables and margin client receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued) ETREF e EE R E(E)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued) (v) TEHEEEBENT=RER
(&)
Foreign exchange gains and losses b 5 W es 2 548
The carrying amount of financial assets that are LASNEEHER B E ERRE
denominated in a foreign currency is determined in BEAZINEEE - WIRER
that foreign currency and translated at the spot HSEIRABNEfE R - AgE
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Specifically:
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.20Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset
and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the Fair value
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.
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3.20Financial instruments (Continued) 320 &I AE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) TREERER (&)
Equity instruments RATA

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including borrowings, account
payables, and other payables and accrued expenses are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Foreign exchange gains and losses

For financial liabilities that are denominated in a foreign
currency and are measured at amortised cost at the end
of each reporting period, the foreign exchange gains and
losses are determined based on the amortised cost of the
instruments. These foreign exchange gains and losses are
recognised in the “other income and gains, net” line
item in profit or loss (note 8) as part of net foreign
exchange differences for financial liabilities that are not
part of a designated hedging relationship.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.21 Offsetting a financial asset and a financial
liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group
currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

3.22Bank balances held on behalf of client

A subsidiary of the Company maintains trust and
segregated accounts with authorised financial institutions
to hold clients’ deposits arising from normal business
transactions. The subsidiary has classified the clients’
monies as client trust bank balances under the current
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position
as the subsidiary is allowed to retain some or all of the
interest income on the clients’ monies and recognised
corresponding account payables to the respective
customers in the current liabilities clients on grounds that
it is liable for any loss or misappropriation of clients’
monies. Under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571), the subsidiary is not allowed to
use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligation.

3.23 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.23 Share capital (Continued)

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity instruments, for example as the result of a share
buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from
equity attributable to the owners of the Company as
treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued,
any consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax
effects, is included in equity attributable to the owners of
the Company.

Shares held for share award scheme are disclosed as
treasury shares and deducted from contributed equity.

3.24Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.24Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

170

The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity).

Both parties are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the Group
or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(a) Provision for ECL allowance on trade
receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The
provision matrix are based on aging as groupings of
various customer that have similar loss patterns.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4 RBEREHHUEREHTFHBPE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a) Provision for ECL allowance on trade
receivables (Continued)

The provision rates are based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates and forward-looking information
that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic products) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults, the provision rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions and
ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is
sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group'’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future.

The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in Note 21 and 34.2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Provision for ECL allowance on other financial
assets measured at amortised cost

The Group calculate ECL allowance for other financial
assets measured at amortised cost, including loan
receivables, cash client receivables, margin client
receivables and certain other receivables, based on the
estimated probability of default of counterparties with
similar credit ratings, with adjustment to reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. At each reporting date, the
Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition or considers a financial asset in default.
Further details are set out in Note 3.20.

The information about the ECLs on the Group’s other
financial assets measured at amortised cost is disclosed in
Notes 20, 21, 22 and 34.2.

(c) Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated,
which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit and an appropriate
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of goodwill is
HK$14,475,000 (2024: HK$8,035,000). Details of the
recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in Note 16.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4 RBEREHHUEREHTFHBPE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(d) Deferred income tax

As at 31 March 2025, a deferred tax asset of
HK$17,550,000 (2024: HK$17,550,000) in relation to
unused tax losses for certain operating subsidiaries has
been recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised on the tax losses of HK$394,982,000 (2024
HK$365,382,000) for other subsidiaries due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future, which is a key
source of estimation uncertainty. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future taxable profits
estimation, a material reversal or further recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or
further recognition takes place.
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5 REVENUE 5 WA
(i) Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue () AEBERBEFENZBAD
from contracts with customers F

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-EZCHFCACt-HLEFE

Computer
and

electronic Family

products Food Financial office

trading trading services services

Segments business business business business
BER

ETEm 7 eV YN

28 EOES b eSS At

HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TRR TRR TRR TRR TR

Types of goods or services &R RITEHI

Sales of goods HEEm 90,040 76,972 - = 167,012
Provision of international REERHERE

education planning services R - - - 4,298 4,298
Provision of family office RERGHRAE

services R - - - 12,49 12,496
Underwriting income BEHBA - - 45,841 - 45,841
Provision of securities ARSI R

brokerage services - - 5,232 - 5,232

Revenue from contract with REEFEHNZ

customers WA 90,040 76,972 51,073 16,794 234,879
Interest income calculated RRER=:

using the effective interest STENERER

method from loan FEHA

receivables - - 4,098 - 4,098
Total o 90,040 76,972 55,171 16,794 238,977
Timing of revenue WARRRRE :

recognition:
A point in time EERE 90,040 76,972 51,073 12,496 230,581
Over time e B i - - - 4,298 4,298
Total revenue from REEFANZ

contracts with customers “IA 90,040 76,972 51,073 16,794 234,879
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5 REVENUE (Continued) 5 WA
(i) Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue () AEBERBEFAENZBAD
from contracts with customers (Continued) F(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_T-_NF=R=1+—HLFE

Computer
and
electronic
products Food Financial
trading trading services
Segments business business business Total
BiK &
ETEM RmE 5 SRR
pan:) ECES £ 7% et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT TAT FAL
Types of goods or services ~ EmzARKEEI
Sales of goods HEBm 248,840 107,001 = 355,841
Provision of securities RUBHCLRS
brokerage services - - 13 13
Revenue from contract with REEFPAKZHA
customers 248,840 107,001 13 355,854
Interest income calculated RABRFIE S E
using the effective interest KBS A S
method from loan BA
receivables - - 1,257 1,257
Total @zt 248,840 107,001 1,270 357,111
Timing of revenue WA BRI
recognition:
A point in time K2 248,840 107,001 13 355,854
Over time BE A - - - -
Total revenue from REEFEHZ
contracts with customers BHA 248,840 107,001 13 355,854
All the revenue from contracts with customers are for FrEREBEEEHZWMAY B—F
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS sA T EARE o IRIBE BB 1S5RS %
15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied BIE155RATA  WERBESIER
contracts is not disclosed. ZEARBITAHNNRZER -
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OPERATING SEGMENTS

The chief operating decision-maker (“CODM") has been
identified as the executive directors of the Company. The
CODM reviews the Group's internal reporting in order to assess
performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segment based on these reports.

The CODM considers that the Group has four operating and
reportable segments which are (i) computer and electronic
products trading business (including computer and peripheral
products and electronics products business), (i) food trading
business, (iii) financial services business (including securities
brokerage business, advisory services business and money
lending business) and (iv) family office services business.

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating
segments based on segment profit/loss. Expenses, where
appropriate, are allocated to operating segments with reference
to revenue contributions of the respective segments.
Unallocated income and expenses are not included in the result
for each operating segment that is reviewed by the CODM.

Segment assets consist primarily of certain property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, inventories,
account receivables, loan receivables, certain deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, certain other financial
assets, pledged bank deposit, certain cash and cash equivalents
and bank balances held on behalf of clients. They exclude
deferred tax assets, income tax recoverable and other
unallocated assets, which are managed centrally.

Segment liabilities consist primarily of account payables, lease
liabilities, certain borrowings, and certain other payables and
accrued expenses. They exclude deferred tax liabilities, income
tax payables and other unallocated liabilities, which are
managed centrally.
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6 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 KEsH@=
Segment revenues and results DEBRAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and results REFIR 2RO BE D WA R ELE
by reportable segments: ST :

Revenue from external
customers

Cost of sales from
external customers

Selling expenses

General and
administrative expenses

Reversal of expected
credit loss/(expected
credit loss) on financial
assets, net

Loss on disposal of
property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation and
amortisation

Finance costs

Other income and gains,
net

KESNEEPHRA

RESNBRFPHHEE
KA

HEER
—RRITHER

TREERMES
BiREE/ (R
FEER)  F8

HENE - BE R
REBREE

FEREH
ISR

Ht AR -
ekl

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-B-RFZAC+-HLFE

Computer
and
electronic T
products Food Financial office
trading trading services services
business business business business
BlR
EfEMm RmEZR SRBYE FHERLE
BA%K % 5% e ES)S ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THET THT THET THET
90,040 76,972 55,171 16,794 238,977
(83,798) (57.431) - - (141,229)
6,242 19,541 55,171 16,794 97,748
(34) (1.142) = - (1,176)
(4,157) (8,300) (41,869) (4,489) (58,815)
(783) 158 2,777 - 2,152
- (2,589) - - (2,589)
(53) (4,060) (1,066) - (5.179)
- (474) (634) = (1,108)
665 903 1,912 20 3,500
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable segments: (Continued)

Segment results

Reconciliation between
segment results and
loss for the year:

Impairment of goodwill

Impairment of other
intangible assets

Change in fair value upon
transfer from property,
plant and equipment
to investment
properties

Unallocated finance costs

Share of results from
associates

Unallocated income and
expenses, net

Loss before income tax
Income tax expense

Loss for the year

6 REDEE)
DB AR EE ()

AREBERAZ2H D EHED
DM : (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2025

o0l N E S

BE-Z_IF=A=1+-HLEE
Computer
and
electronic Family
products Food Financial office
trading trading services services
business business business business
EKR
ETER RmES SRRE FEBLAE
EoEK % % b st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THET THT THT
DEEE 1,880 4,037 16,291 12,325 34,533
PR AEERESE
H: -
HERE = (8,035) - - (8,035)
Hit Ry B ERE
- (657) - - (657)
Y% - BB K&
BREREMER
HATERS
(56,034)
RO BB A (8,036)
Bl = ARER
(181)
AABRMARRAT -

A (33,711)
MR FETATER (72,121)
FfEHRAX (1,689)
FEER (73,810)
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6 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 KEsH@=
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUMA R K& (&)
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s revenue and results REFIR 2RO BE D WA R ELE

by reportable segments: (Continued)

DM - (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_WE=A=1+—HILEE

Computer
and
electronic
products Food Financial
trading trading services
business business business Total
B R
BEFEMR RmE5H © B AR TS
B o i 715 @Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT FHETT F&T
Revenue from external KRB INEBE F HIUA
customers 248,840 107,001 1,270 357,111
Cost of sales from external REINBREHHEE
customers B (255,446) (87,461) = (342,907)
(6,606) 19,540 1,270 14,204
Selling expenses HEER (1) (1,346) = (1,347)
General and administrative —BRITHER
expenses (4,822) (10,089) (3,040) (17,951)
Reversal of expected credit loss/ & @EEBHAEE
(expected credit loss) on B R, (FaHA
financial assets, net ZEEE)  F8 (221) 40 54,143 53,962
Depreciation and amortisation 78 K # (632) (5,375) (236) (6,243)
Finance costs BATE R AR (6,652) (1,013) 24) (7,689)
Other (expenses)/income and Hah (FH), AR
(losses)/gains, net (B18), s
HEE (3,291) 570 (1) (2,722)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ F S 5 % B 5

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 KEsH@=

Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUBMA R K& (&)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results AREFR 2RO BE D WA K ELE
by reportable segments: (Continued) DT : (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_T_ME=A=+—HIFE

Computer
and
electronic
products Food Financial
trading trading services
business business business Total
H{((&
BFEm BEmE S R AR TS
B 5 %% 7% e st
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
T T FHATT FAT
Segment results DEPELE (22,225) 2,327 52,112 32,214
Reconciliation between 77 BB 548 B JZ
segment results and profit B -
for the year:
Unallocated finance costs R BB A (3,977)
Unallocated income and RAOBRA KA -
expenses, net HEE (17,095)
Profit before income tax HBR S ATRE 11,142
Income tax expense R (115)
Profit for the year FEEZFIHE 11,027
Interest revenue of HK$4,098,000 (2024: HK$1,257,000) was ) 8 4 A 4,098,000/ 0 (=T Z U 4F -
included in revenue from other sources, wholly contributed by 1,257,000/ 7T ) 5t A E A ORI A - 2
financial services business segment. HEHeRRBELS I ER
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Annual Report &3 2025

6 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 REDEE)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group'’s assets and liabilities AREFRIERDBEPHEERERE
by reportable segments: ST :
Computer
and
electronic Family
products Food Financial office
—E-RE trading trading services services
31 March 2025 =A=1+—H business business business business
EfEm BmES SHREE REHAZE
BEEK £ % BRBES @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THET TR THET FTHERT
Segment assets DEEE 85,337 50,267 261,535 1,898 399,037
Segment liabilities HEEE 50,375 6,980 203,728 560 261,643
Computer
and
electronic Family
products Food Financial office
—TNF trading trading services services
31 March 2024 —A=1+—H business business business business Total
BN
EfEm EBm¥EH RRE TEHLE
ECES % % BREEHB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THET TET
Segment assets DEEE 140,229 60,948 45,299 - 246,476
Segment liabilities DEEE 51,390 21,934 9,114 - 82,438
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OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

The reconciliations of segment assets to total assets and
segment liabilities to total liabilities are provided as follows:

Hunlicar Group Limited ZRIINEEBRA 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

rReEsE)

7

ﬁ

&

BEEREE#E)

BEERBEEABULSMEEERR

AR EIARE SN T

As at 31 March

Segment assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Property, plant and equipment

Investment properties

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

Interests in associates

Other financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Deferred tax assets

Other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Total assets

Segment liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Income tax payables

Borrowings

Other payables and accrued expenses

Total liabilities

THEE
R MREEHEY
YE NN
BEME

Be  ANFORREAMER

IR
N YNCIPA: 5

BAVERFARMEZRERAZ

Hiv SR EE
EREHAEE

BRAFEAABRZZEMSH

4%

BEEAR

DREE
EEHBEAR
FES RIS

=

H At FEA 50R S e 7T B

BEARE

R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
399,037 246,476
1,473 13,815
1,782 192,767
123,500 -
10,272 2,482
479 -
4,887 4,354
17,374 17,249
890 1,016
559,694 478,159
261,643 82,438
1,727 815
1,479 -
87,000 113,734
9,711 1,933
361,560 198,920
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6 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 RBESIE)
Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2025

BE-Z-HF=A=1-HLEE

Computer
and
electronic Family

products Food Financial office
trading trading services services
business business business business
BlR
BTEMm RmES ERBYE FERLE
B5 %% £33 34 PR @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"

000

ThR TER TR TR TR

Additions to property, plant mE - BERSHE

and equipment NE - 9% - -
Depreciation of property, Mk - BB R&

plant and equipment & - 1,068 234 = 1
Depreciation of right-of use EREEENE

assets 53 2,153 833 - 3,
Amortisation of intangible B AERH

assets - 838 - -

96

302

039

838
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6 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BHE-ZT-_NMF=A=1+—HItFE

Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIIEBEBR AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ F S 5 % B 5

rReEsE)

Hipp BWER (&)

Computer
and
electronic
products Food Financial
trading trading services
business business business Total
B
BFEm RmESH ©RARTS
B 555 EdS X715 HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAETT FHTT FHET T
Additions to property, plant Yz - BB k&
and equipment R - 220 644 864
Depreciation of property, M - BB R
plant and equipment e - 1,388 29 1,417
Depreciation of right-of use CREEENE
assets 632 3,147 207 3,986
Amortisation of intangible B EEEH
assets - 840 - 840
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6 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 K&
Geographical information i E & R
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the PRC. AEBMERESEMREBRFAE -
Majority of the Group's revenue were derived from operations AKEEN AL WAHEEBMNRES
located in Hong Kong. RIS EE -
Information about the Group’s total non-current assets NTAEEZERBDEERE(TBRES
(excluding financial instruments, interests in associates and BTE REEATRESNELEHREER
deferred tax assets) is presented below based on the E)EREREEBEENMIEMNERY

geographical location of the assets:

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —E_puE
HK$"000 HK$'000
TET FHIT
Hong Kong B 160,448 218,393
The PRC F = 167
160,448 218,560
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£ F S 5 % B 5

OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued) 6 REDEE)

Information about major customers FEEFER

Revenue from the top five customers for all reportable REMBAEZEmD HBAERNE S HRA L
segments is as follows: Ik

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2025 2024

—E"RE —E-NF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

Fi&xT FAT

Revenue from top five customers KEAARRFHKA 179,212 249,642
Total revenue BN 238,977 357,111
Percentage Aotk 75% 70%

Number of customers that individually BEEAREE10% LA EWA

accounted for more than 10% MEFHE
of the Group's revenue 2 1
Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=+t—HLEE
2025 2024

Customer Segment HK$'000 HK$ 000
=zE 2B F#&x FHIT
Customer A Computer and electronic products trading business 81,415 155,151
EFEA R EFEMESHES
Customer B Food trading business 69,012 N/A!
=FB RmB S E® TEA!
L The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 1 AW A S AR EF AW AN T ELTEBB10% ©

revenue of the Group.
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7 REVERSAL OF EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS ON 7 THEEFEHGEESERD
FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET B

Reversal of expected credit loss/(expected credit loss) on SREERPEESERRE (BHEE
financial assets, net are as follows: BB FHmT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T Fi&TT
Loan receivables (Note 34.2) FEWE R (M:E34.2) 1,684 58,154
Cash client receivables (Note 34.2) IR S EEZE(MiEE34.2) 1,093 (4,011)
Trade receivables (Note 34.2) B 5 EWERFR (15T 34.2) (625) (181)
2,152 53,962

8 OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 8 HkARW:E  BHE

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2025 2024

—E-FRE —Z e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

Finance income B 1,775 410

Exchange gain, net [ 5 e @ FEE 531 535
Change in fair value of financial assets BATEFABR e REE

at fair value through profit or loss ZRFEEE 1,054 (180)

Management fee income BEEBRA 2,325 =

Gain on early termination of leases RERIEHEE 2 W 105 =

Others Hth 1,916 1,777

7,706 2,542
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Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIIEBEBR AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ F S 5 % B 5

FINANCE COSTS

9 BB

Finance costs
— Interest expense on bank and
other borrowings
— Interest expense on lease liabilities

BTSN

— RITREMEEZFE

i

—HEREBEZHE

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

(Loss)/profit before income tax has been arrived at after

charging:

(a) Employee benefit expenses (including

directors’ emoluments)

£H

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1T—HLEE

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&x FETT
8,910 11,382

234 284

9,144 11,666

10 HIBRFTEBLAT (BE), FIE

MERFT B AT (), FB IR AT
RAREBH

(a)

BEENER (BEESHE)

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t—HLEE

Short term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits (Note i)
Others

2 e B a7
RRRER (i EED)
Hitp

2025 2024
—ZE_RE —EOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FETT
37,880 17,609
1,170 544

70 1,089

39,120 19,242
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10 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10 HIBRFFEHiAT(EE), FiBe)

(Continued)

(a) Employee benefit expenses (including () EEBANER(BREEEMS)
directors’ emoluments) (Continued) (%)
Note: FfzE -
These mainly represent: EITEE T EE

the Group's contributions to the Mandatory Provident Funds (MPF)
for employees working in Hong Kong. Under the MPF scheme,
each of the group companies (the employer) and its employees
make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5% of the
employees’ earnings with a maximum of HK$1,500 for employee’s
monthly contribution as defined under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Funds legislations. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately, there is no forfeited contribution that may be used
by the Group to reduce the existing level of contribution.

the Group's contributions to defined contribution pension plans in
the PRC for employees working in the PRC. These pension plans
are organised by the respective municipal and provincial
government of the PRC. These PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries to
the pension plans depending on the applicable local regulations.
Contributions to the plans vest immediately, there is no forfeited
contribution that may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

. REBAEDRBIENEES mo& s 1%
AES (8TES) fEH AR - RIRR
Beitd SEEAR(EXE) RERE
B¥9EET AmEELAEREES K
A5%HHF - BEESAHRR(ERR
BB ATEERZEM)H_ERA1,500
BT TR ENRRE  HED
R T R AT AN B2 [ AR AR IR ER A
TR o

. AEE AT E TERES M T B R
EHFERESFEERH - 2%
RSB AT EAREED RER
BFEE - zEh BB R RARE
BEHERERREEEAFEETH
DR ARE B - st BIHRE
BN 5R 8 - B E R R AT A &
B F AR E R A K -

The Group has no other material obligations for the payment of pensions MR EXHEEEN REBEBRESBRIESR
and other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than HBRKABSZMERE REMRKERFH
those disclosed above. HMBEBAREME ©
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10 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX 10 HIBRFFEBIAT(EE), FBE)
(Continued)
(b) Other items (b) HfEH

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —ZE U4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Cost of inventories sold (Note 19) HEFEKA (FI3E19) 141,229 342,907
Auditor’s remuneration Z BTN <
— audit service — BZARTE 980 880
— non-audit service — BRI = =
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WE REEITE
equipment (Note 13) (BF5E13) 10,193 11,066
Depreciation of right-of-use assets R EENTE (M5 15)
(Note 15) 3,039 3,986
Short-term lease rentals of premises LESSEYEN- ik
(Note 15) (M$=E15) 6,761 18
Amortisation of intangible assets E A EE S (FIsE16)
(Note 16) 838 840
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11 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11 FiEFHExX

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E U
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Current income tax B HIFT 1S
— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BBNEM 1,889 305
Under-provision in prior years BEFERETIR 126 -
Deferred income tax (Note 30) EIEFTS R (FI3E30) (326) (190)
1,689 115
Under the two-tiered Hong Kong Profits Tax rates regime, the ERBFERMRET cEREEER
first HK$2 million of assessable profits of the qualifying group & & 2,000,000 7% 7T FE 2R 5t A1) 2 8.25%
entity are taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 TR - A 2,000,000 7% T A FE R
million are taxed at 16.5%. The assessable profits of group TR ADE B2 16.5% 5 BRI o T4 Fl
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime 15 150 A AR 1l B 8 1 &R B B B Y R AR A A
are charged at a flat rate of 16.5%. 12 16.5% K — T REF o
The Group has no assessable profit in PRC and is not subject to AEERBEZE-_AFR_THF
any PRC corporate income tax during the years ended 31 A=t —BHIEFEEHEILEERT
March 2025 and 2024. The applicable PRC corporate income AE - B AN ER R BB EMEE
tax rate during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 is RBEE_ZE_HAFR_ZT_HMHF=H
25%. =+—HLFE  BERZPECEMSEH

TR 5 25% o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ F S 5 % B 5

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 11 FREHRRX @

The taxation on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax REBBRFAERA(ER) /FEa 5
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the HEFAEARKS A EZEENGEE TR
weighted average tax rate applicable to (loss)/profit of the (E518) FIEE IE PO Rt E IR R
consolidated entities in the respective jurisdictions as follows: SENEENT

Year ended 31 March
BE-A=+—HLFE
2025 2024
—EC-HF —ZT_mEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT THBT

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates
applicable to (loss)/profit in the
respective jurisdictions

Tax effects of:
— Expenses not deductible
— Income not subject to tax
— Temporary difference not
recognised
— Income tax at concession rate

— Tax losses not recognised

— Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised

— Under-provision in prior years

Income tax expense

kSR AT (E518),/F8 (72,121) 11,142

mERERER (B1R), 8
AR E ARG AR

(12,681) 1,829

TH S ERTRIGFE
— RNA IR EY B A 11,920 214
— BARTAHIUA (391) (66)

— AEREREE
480 951

— REEFEGTED
Frisai (165) (165)
— RHERFIEREIE 5,199 7,153

— PR LAIARERZTIE

Eia (2,799) (9,801)
—BREFERETT 126 =
PSR X 1,689 115
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12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

194

(a) Basic

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
(loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year excluding ordinary shares purchased by
the Company for share award scheme.

(a)

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of
the Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares in issue (restated) (re5E31))

Basic (loss)/earnings per share EREX(EBE),ZF
(restated) (#eE5)

Diluted

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024 was the same as the basic (loss)/
earnings per share as there were no dilutive potential
ordinary shares in existence during the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024.

ZAYNCIE 2 DN 3
(&18),FiE(T&T)

E#{TE BRI

(b)

12 BR(ER) B

BN

BREAER) B IREAR
A AREE (B1R),FIBKRAF
M E 31T E B M A N4 8 B
8 TNEEARRERN EEE
BEREBA -

Year ended 31 March
BE=HA=1t—HLEE

2024
—EFHF

(76,094) 14,759
78,447,063 53,550,429

HK(97.00) cent
(97.00) &A1l

HK27.56 cent
27.56 711l

g

BHE T _HAFK_ZT_WFE=H4
= t+—BLEFEFEEREF(E
B)/BFREGRER(ER),&EF
R DTHEREEZZ_AF K=
T NF=ZA=+—HULEFELE
GFHRETEEL AR -
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Cost

At 1 April 2023
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Additions

Disposals

Transfer to investment
properties (Note 14)

At 31 March 2025

Accumulated
depreciation
and impairment
At 1 April 2023
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals
Transfer to investment
property (Note 14)
Exchange adjustments

At 31 March 2025

Carrying amounts
At 31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Hunlicar Group Limited ZRIINEEBRA 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ F S 5 % B 5

13 Y% BERRE

Leasehold Leasehold Office Furniture Motor
properties improvements  Machineries  equipment  and fixtures vehicles Total
RENE RENELE B WO%E  BAEREE i )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TéL ThL ThL T T T THL
A
1) Rl 241378 16,532 480 1,703 1721 1,331 263,145
TE - 833 31 - - - 864
HE - - - (183) (132) = (275)
L2
=A=+-Ak
“Z-NMERA-R 41378 17,365 511 1,560 1,589 1,331 263,734
e - 150 - 802 720 475 2147
e - (3,607) (360) (17) - - (3.984)
(FizE14) (241,378) - - - - - (241378)
R_E-RF
ZA=t+-A - 13,908 151 2,345 2309 1,806 20519
ZiTEREE
1) Rl 46,356 4833 8 1371 1228 825 54,621
EERE 8,081 2226 103 205 m 209 11,066
R ER A - - - (143) (132) - (279)
B - 11 - - - - 1
L2
=A=+-Ak
“Z-NERA-R 54,437 7070 1M1 1453 1318 1,034 65,423
FEEE 7407 2240 - 25 104 217 10,193
I ER A - (1,143) - (99) ) - (1,284)
(P& 14) (61,844) - - - - - (61,844)
BiAE - 47 40 (59) - - 8
R_E-RF
ZA=t+-A - 8214 151 1,520 1,380 1,251 12,516
HEf
2
=A=1-A - 5,694 - 825 929 555 8,003
RZFZME
ZA=t+-R 186,941 10,295 400 107 271 297 198,311
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13

196

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Depreciation of the Group’s property, plant and equipment of
HK$10,193,000 (2024: HK$11,066,000) was included in
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated income
statement.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s leasehold properties with a net
carrying amount of HK$186,941,000 were pledged to secure
general banking facilities granted to the Group (Note 32).
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the leasehold properties
have been transferred to investment properties (Note 14).

The Group holds several office units and parking spaces. The
Group is the registered owner of these property interests,
including the whole or part of undivided share in the underlying
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered owners, and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease, other than payments based on rateable values
set by the relevant government authorities. These payments
vary from time to time and are payable to the relevant
government authorities.

13

ME - BERRKE®)

AREEYE - BEK&MEITE 10,193,000
B (ZZE /M4 : 11,066,000/ 7T) 2
STAGHRERFH—MEITHER -

NZT_WME=A=+—H  KxEEZK
R EH BRI E A 186,941,00078 TR E
MEIE AR EBER N —ARIRITRE (M
E32)MEER - RBEE-_ZE_RF =1
=t+—HIFE HEVEDEREZRE
P (HiaE14) o

AEERFEETHAEENFOREM - &
SESZENEESNEMAEEA - B4
AL ZMRMAORD BN - A%
EFEEXN —RENRAREBET
A ARIBEZ Y - B TREN
MBI HERERRABENZMIN - B8
H i F IR L & GRR M AE TR R E
K - ZEFAGTREL - WESNT
MERABUT S -
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£ F S 5 % B 5

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14 REWE
Investment
properties
REME
HK$'000
FAT
Fair value A¥E
As at 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZEZ=FMmMA—AQH -
—E-FE=/A=+—Q8"
—ET-MFW™A—H -
Transfers from property, plant and equipment (Note 13) & E Y% - HE K& E (HE13) 123,500
At 31 March 2025 R-EB-HF=ZA=+—H 123,500
During the year ended 31 March 2025, leasehold properties REBEE-ZZ-_AF=A=1T—HILFE
with carrying amount of HK$179,534,000 included in property, FAME BEEARXRGZEREER
plant and equipment (Note 13) were transferred to investment 179,534,000 B T A EMZE (HE13)E
properties and fair value loss of approximately HK$56,034,000 BEREREDE MAFEEEYDY
was recognised and presented as a separate line item on the 56,034,000 7T B R & ff = K iR I
consolidated income statement. The fair values of the Group’s 2V ABUIAR - AEEREMFENR T
investment properties at 31 March 2025 have been arrived at —THF=ZRA=t+—HZRAFEDNRER
on the basis of a valuation carried out on the date by an AEERBYL 2 BLEEREEGERM
independent qualified professional valuer independent to the Nz BET 2 MEMER -
Group.
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14 BEWE»)

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and RESTEZ AT ER  DEIEE LR

best use of the properties is their current use. ERBAHRKAE -
Valuation Significant unobservable Relationship of unobservable
technique inputs inputs to fair value

TABREAHBE

fhERM EXTUBRBAHE DR ENEE

Office units located in Direct comparison  Market unit rate, taking into An increase in the market unit rate

Hong Kong approach account the recent transaction used would result in an increase
prices for similar properties, in fair value, and vice versa

adjusted for nature, location
and conditions of the property,
which ranged from HK$9,000
to HK$13,000 per square meter
("sqm”)
MRBEHNMAEEN BHELEE MHEMNEE KA REUME  ARATSELEREMEER AT
BT HIRZ 5B - RS BEI8I0 - R2 A
ME B RAAIEHFE -
NFFFAKR(TFHK]1)9,000
YSITZE 13,0008 7T

Car parks located in Direct comparison  Market unit rate, taking into An increase in the market unit rate
Hong Kong approach account the recent transaction used would result in an increase
prices for similar properties, in fair value, and vice versa

adjusted for nature, location

and conditions of the property,

which ranged from HK$1.5

million to HK$2 million per unit

R EBNEES BEELEE MHEMEE KA REUME  ARATSEALEREMEER AT

BT HRRK X (B - Wt ey 1t BEI8I0 - R 24

B UBRRIELHFE - N

T 841 1,500,000 FLE

2,000,00078 7T
The fair value measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair NEEFESHEAEF =R ATEREE -
value hierarchy.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, there are no transfers BE_TZ_RF=A=+—HILFE £
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. — R ERAEE — A% 2 BN RS o JRERE A B
ERE=-
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers between levels of
fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur.

At 31 March 2025, the Group's investment properties with a
net carrying amount of HK$123,500,000 (2024: HK$Nil) were
pledged to secure other borrowings granted to the Group
(Note 32).

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

() Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows
the following amounts relating to leases:

14

15

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

BEWE®)
AEBMOBE AN BEEBBNBRERE
RRATEER MMEE -

N-B-—RE=A=+—0  A&EEERA
F B /123,500,000 70 ( ==& — P 4 ¢
THEIL) 2 REMECEER - (EALXE
EEREMER 2 ER(FIE32) -

EHEEE

AW EEEAE (EAERMARRA) 2
-

(i) REHUBRARBEANESE

BHBBEMRRERIN R TIEBESR

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Leasehold properties HEYZE
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current TE
Non-current JEmB

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2025 were HK$3,382,000 (2024:HK$1,865,000).

SR
2025 2024
—E"RHF —E_E
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHETT
6,008 8,999
2,344 3,890
4,262 5,826
6,606 9,716

BE_ZE_RAF=A=+—HBIF
B FREEERE A3,382,000
B ot( = = — P9 4 : 1,865,000
JT) °
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15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the following

amounts relating to leases:

15 FRAEEE®

(i) RESRBREINEHE

BHKRERIIR T BEERREN

Depreciation charge of right-of- FHEEERES

use assets
Leasehold properties

Interest expenses (included in
finance costs)

Expense relating to short-term
lease (included in general and
administrative expenses)

HEME

MBS (R AR
PRAR)

B A E AN
FEA—REITHR
&)

Total cash outflow for leases in 2025 was HK$10,048,000

(2024: HK$3,971,000).

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

SR
2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5E TET FET
3,039 3,986
9 234 284
10(b) 6,761 18

“E_hFHEENBEeRLAES
10,048,000/8 jt( — & — PO 4F :
3,971,000 7T) ©

16 EBREEE

As at 31 March

Goodwill
Other intangible assets

200

mE
A

R=A=+—H
2025 2024
—ZE_hE —E-mOF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt TEx T T
(a) 14,475 8,035
(b) 8,462 3,215
22,937 11,250
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BREEE®)
(a) Goodwill (a) EE
HK$'000
T
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024 and R-ZE_=FMB—H -
1 April 2024 “EME=ZA=+—HRK
—E_MEW™A—HA 8,035
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) WRERTE A 7 (FIEE38) 14,475
Impairment R (8,035)
At 31 March 2025 R-E-_HE=HA=+—H 14,475

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following CGUs for impairment testing:

7 2 6l 18 )

EBEHBMENRENKRENTR
TELBMETRENR

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —EOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHBT

Food trading 2023 cash-generating unit RMEBESH T -_=FIR&

("cGu”) EEBN((BeEE
By )
Food trading 2025 CGU RmEH_T_RFERS
EEEN

Food trading 2023 CGU

The Group recognised goodwill of HK$8,035,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2023 as a result of acquisition
of the equity interest in Shag Mei International Food
Limited (“Shag Mei International”). Shag Mei
International is principally engaged in the food trading
business in Hong Kong (the “Food Trading 2023
CGU").

= 8,035

14,475 8,035

RmEB S T _—FRTEFE

AEBRBE-_ZE-_==A
= +—HI-FEREREE 8,035,000
BT YRR IEK BB R 5
BRAE ([EWRER]) 2R - K
EREZERBEENRERMEIEN
((RRES-—E_=FHLELE
fiz]) -
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16

202

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(@) Goodwill (Continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

Food trading 2023 CGU (Continued)

The recoverable amount of the Food Trading 2023 CGU
is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year
period (2024: 5-year period). Thereafter, the cash flows
are extrapolated using the terminal growth rate not
exceeding the long-term average growth rate for the
business in which the Food Trading 2023 CGU operates.

The key assumptions used in value-in-use calculation are
as follows:

(a)

Terminal growth rate SK A £ &
Discount rate (pre-tax) ALIR K (FiAl)

Based on the assessment, as at 31 March 2025, the
recoverable amount of the Food Trading 2023 CGU, as
included in the food trading business segment, was
determined to be HK$1,721,000. Due to the downturn
in the food and beverage business in Hong Kong, there
has been a decrease in customer demand, leading to
lower sales revenue and profit margins. As a result, the
expected future cash flows associated with the Food
Trading 2023 CGU have diminished and the carrying
amount of the Food Trading 2023 CGU has been reduced
to the recoverable amount accordingly and an
impairment loss of HK$8,692,000 was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2025.
Goodwill related to Food trading 2023 CGU amounted to
HK$8,035,000 has been fully impaired, and the
remaining HK$657,000 was allocated to the customer
relationships acquired upon the acquisition of Shag Mei
International.

16 BREEE #)

[k 1€
R E B E R (&)

RinEBS _E_—FHEELE
fiz (%)

EmBES _T_=FHReELEN
BRI E B DEREREERAE

MEETE o Zar & S 12 E it /&R
ENFHR(ZZE_HF: AFH
B WP BEERSREREN - K
& HeRECATEBARMES
TR FRSEABUMKEEE
BHRPFIGERR 2 KAZRER
HH -

EREEFEMANEZMRAOT

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2024
“ECNE
2.0% 2.2%
20.1% 21.7%
RIRFE RZFT_FAF=A

=+—8" ﬁkaﬁa%%%‘%
HNRERES T _=FHELELS
R AT Y Bl & RE & 7E 41,721,000
BT AR EBEREREK - &
PHEFRD - BEEEERARFE
KT Al BRMESH=-Z
__iﬁﬁﬁiﬁuﬁ%Mﬁﬁi
RESHREECRD  REEH-Z
TR eEABMMERERR
FERZER W E &5 - s EEE
8,692,000 B LEREE_T_HF
AT BLEFENBEETE
ReEBRBEG T _—FHREE
Eiuﬁ%mﬁ%&wmm%ﬁ
BB EURE - &R T 657,000 T
B 5 Bt = Y288 IE TR B B 1% B iR BB /9
PR -
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BEEE#)

An increase in the terminal growth rate used in isolation
would result in a increase in the recoverable amount of
the Food Trading 2023 CGU, and vice versa. A 1%
increase/decrease in the terminate growth rate holding all
other variables constant would increase/decrease the
recoverable amount and decrease/increase the
impairment loss by HK$372,000 and HK$333,000
respectively (2024: nil).

An increase in the discount rate used in isolation would
result in a decrease in the recoverable amount of the
Food Trading 2023 CGU, and vice versa. A 1% increase/
decrease in the discount rate holding all other variables
constant would decrease/increase the recoverable
amount and increase/decrease the impairment loss by
HK$574,000 and HK$653,000 respectively (2024: nil).

Food trading 2025 CGU

The Group recognised goodwill of HK$14,475,000
during the year ended 31 March 2025 as a result of
acquisition of the equity interest in Ocean Fresh Supply
Limited (now known as Shag Mei Gourmet Group
Limited) (“Ocean Fresh”). Ocean Fresh is principally
engaged in the food trading business in Hong Kong (the
“Food Trading 2025 CGU").

The recoverable amount of the Food Trading 2025 CGU
is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a 5-year
period. Thereafter, the cash flows are extrapolated using
the terminal growth rate not exceeding the long-term
average growth rate for the business in which the Food
Trading 2025 CGU operate.

(@) Goodwill (Continued) () BHE#E)
Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued) P el 1B B (48
Sensitivity analysis BURE T

BBFRAMAKAEBER FFAFEE
RmEH T - —FHRGEAEN
AU B S REIEIN - R Z IR © K
AEREHR/THB1%  MAA
EMESRFAE B kEELzE
#51% 0,38 4> 372,000 7T K R 1E
BRI,/ 18 H1333,000/8 7T (=
TPUF ) o

EBEANBRE L ABERRR
B T —FRSELBEMNA
WEEERD  RZIFA - B =

A THI% - MfEEmEE
R¥EFE BT KESEER

A /18 11574,000 % 7T R R & & 18
#5124 k4> 653,0008 T ( —
PO £E) o

EREG T - hFEHGELE
iz

REBREBEE_ZT_HAF=A
=+t BLEFEBEBREYE
14,475,000 7L ' TR RWIBR £
HFMARARCRBERRE MEE
BRAR)((BLERD 2RE - R
FTEHAQEEREBNERAESE
B EREZ-—E-_LEHREESE
Bl -

AMEBES _E_hFREELEN
WA ESE T EREAEENE
MEE ° Zar EEAEEEIER
ELTHHENMBBEERSRER
B Hg BenEFATHAR
MBS T _RAFREELESBAMM
KB E R R IIBRE Z KA
HREHE o
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16

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(a) Goodwill (Continued)

204

Impairment tests for goodwill (Continued)

Food trading 2025 CGU (Continued)

The key assumptions used in value-in-use calculation are
as follows:

Annual Report &3 2025

16 BREEE #)

[k €9,
BB R R ()

RmES T _hFHReELEN
(%)

EREEFEMANIZRRAOT :

As at 31 March
MR=HA=+—H

2025
—E-EHF

Terminal growth rate SK AR &R
Discount rate (pre-tax) BLIR = (FRAT)

Management determined the budgeted revenue based
on their expectations of market developments with the
growth rates being estimated based on the industry
forecasts and management’s expectations. The terminal
growth rate is based on the expected inflation rate. The
discount rates reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
operating segments. As at 31 March 2025, the estimated
recoverable amounts of the Food Trading 2025 CGU
exceeded its carrying value and the directors are of the
opinion that there was no impairment of goodwill as at
31 March 2025.

Management believes that any reasonable possible
change in any of the above assumptions would not result
in impairment.

2.0%
23.5%

EEEREEMSERRNERNETE
REWA G MERRDERITER
RN B ERFEIMAE © KA
REDERAHEREX - BREXR
HH%EE-HH?%M B EA B R E R
-R-FE_RAF=A=t+—8"
ﬁu%féf%_v_ﬁifﬁéﬁiﬁu
Mt R E S REBERAE -
MEFAABERN_FT_AF=H
=t+—HRBAERE-

EEEMRE - LA EAIRKRTHOE
MEEA R EB TS EBHURE -
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 16 BEEE#)

(b) Other intangible assets (b) HtEFEEE

Money
lending Customer
license relationship Total
AR AR EFBE #et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FABT T FAT
Cost A
As at 1 April 2023, RZZEZ=FMA—H
31 March 2024 and —E_mE
1 April 2024 =A=+—HkK
—E-MFMA—H 1,703 6,950 8,653
Addition NE = 6,742 6,742
At 31 March 2025 R-BE_F=E
=B=+—H 1,703 13,692 15,395
Amortisation and impairment  #85  B{E
At 1 April 2023 RZZE_=FMA—H 1,703 2,895 4,598
Charge for the year FEZMH - 840 840
At 31 March 2024 and R-ZZ_M4F
1 April 2024 =A=+—HK
—E-EmPA—H 1,703 3,735 5,438
Charge for the year FEXH - 838 838
Impairment (Note 16(a)) RE (MIFE 16(a)) = 657 657
At 31 March 2025 R-ZE_REF
=RA=+—H 1,703 5,230 6,933
Carrying values FREE
At 31 March 2025 R-EBE_FE
=A=+-—H - 8,462 8,462
At 31 March 2024 R-ZZ M4
=A=+—H” - 3,215 3,215

BE-_Z_RF¥=-A=+—HL#HF
€ - #4955 %838,0008 L(=F
VU4 : 840,000 7T ) st A A HFIK
BRA—MBRRITHRER -

For the year ended 31 March 2025, amortisation charge
of HK$838,000 (2024: HK$840,000) was included in
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement.
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16

206

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

(b) Other intangible assets (Continued)

Money lending license

In July 2016, the Group acquired a money lending license
in Hong Kong through acquisition of a Hong Kong
incorporated company. The money lending license has a
legal life of one year but is renewable at insignificant
cost. The directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group could renew the money lending license
and maintain the license continuously. At the end of the
reporting period, the money lending license has been
fully amortised.

Customer relationships

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The customer relations have finite useful lives and
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the
expected useful life of the customer relationship.

The useful life of customer relationships recognised
during acquisition of Shag Mei International was five
years. At the end of the reporting period, the remaining
amortisation period of the customer relationship of Shag
Mei International is 34 (2024: 46) months.

The useful life of customer relationships recognised
during acquisition of Ocean Fresh was five years. At the
end of the reporting period, the remaining amortisation
period of the customer relationship of Ocean Fresh is 60
(2024: nil) months.

16 BREEE #)

(b) HttBPEE#E)
BEAMRE

R-ZBE—XRELH  AEEERER
B-HAREBEMAINAR - &£
FREDFREARR - HEARR
HEERARHR—F  BARTE
BEKAERE - ARBEERR
AEBAIABEERBEARR A
BRAEZMER - RMEHK - WE

ARRRRE BB 5

EFEF

EFBREXHAFERTES
BREBERBRNOA T EREDR TP
FEOERFHBR - WRKARE R
a8 55 S (Efa] REHRER RS -
B AERRRETPBEOMGE

A EREHETEE

Yo B I K B R B A R 0 35 P R A2
REMSAF - RBEHR - ER
BRA PR ROR T HEH /5 34

(Z==m4F : 46) @A -

WER EEmRERNE P REE
RERSRF - RBEHR RE
MM EPRERNER N HEES60

—TomET)@EA -
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17 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17 X EME QRIS

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RIEBE_RAFR-_FE_WNF=A=+—
2025 and 2024, are as follows: BRARREEZMBARFBHINAT
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued,
Principal place Principal registered/
Name Legal status of business activities paid up capital Interest held
BalE Ve BRT M/
2B/ 1% SRR TREENY TEEH BRRAFE sz
2025 2024
“E-RF pmbdedufid
Directly owned:
EEER:
Golden Profit Global Limited liability British Virgin Islands  Investment holding US$10,000 100% 100%
Trading Limited company ("BVI)
BEBRREHERAT BREEARF EBRAES REER 10,0003%7T
(RBEZEE])
Indirectly owned:
BEHS
Top Harvest Capital Limited Limited liability BVI/Hong Kong Property holding Us$100 100% 100%
company
hEEABRAF BREFAF RERUME/BE NERE 100%7T
Goldenmars Technology Limited liability Hong Kong/ Assembling and trading HK$43,000,000 100% 100%
(Hong Kong) Limited company Hong Kong of electronic
components and
products
ROMR (BE)RNERLE  BREMERH BE/BA AERBEESFM 43,000,000
REm
Goldenmars Components Limited liability Hong Kong/ Assembling and trading  US$1,000,000 51% 51%
Company Limited company Hong Kong of electronic
components and
products
iR EMBARRA BREER Bh/BE BEREES T 1,000,000%7T
REm
Hunlicar CCIG Financial Limited liability Hong Kong/ Money lending HK$10,000 100% 100%
Management Limited company Hong Kong business

(Previously known as: Huabang
Finance Limited)

FHMERMERERAA BREEAR BB/ B EEEH 10,0007 7
(RITE : EARBERAA)
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17 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

208

(Continued)

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March

2025 and 2024, are as follows: (Continued)

R-_ZE-_RAFR—

17 FEWBRATNFE®)

“WE=/A=+—

HOARRAREIZ2WMBRAFHBHINDT

(&)
Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ issued,
Principal place Principal registered/
Name Legal status of business activities paid up capital Interest held
SMAL I ERT 2R/
B/ 1% eSS FTEEEBY TEXRH BEREFHE risEs
2024
ECRE
Indirectly owned: (Continued)
BERE: (8)
Huabang Financial Investments  Limited liability BVI/Hong Kong Property holding Us$100 100% 100%
Limited company
EASRREBRATA BREEAF RBRLEB/BE WERA 100%7T
Huabang Corporate Finance Limited liability Hong Kong/ Advisory services HK$15,000,000 100% 100%
Limited company Hong Kong business
ERRERRAR EREAAR BB/ EE HARKEH 15,000,000 7T
Wanhai Securities (HK) Limited  Limited liability Hong Kong/ Securities brokerage  HK$97,500,000 100% 100%
company Hong Kong business
BEES (BB BRATA BREEAF BE/BA BHRERTE 97,500,000 7T
Shag Mei International Food Limited liability Hong Kong/ Food trading business HK$10,000 100% 100%
Limited company Hong Kong
ERERRRERAF BREERR  BE/EA RREFES 10,000/7C
Ocean Fresh Supply Limited Limited liability Hong Kong/ Food trading business HK$1 100% 100%
company Hong Kong
REBERARAF BREFAF BB/ BR RmBHENK 187
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FREVNESRAETELERNFTEES

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the

Group.

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised financial information below

represents amounts before intragroup eliminations.

B AR -

B o

FERAREFEEERNLOINARE

BERASERERERIFEBREE M
BRI B EMBEHINT LA TRF
BEMBEREEARRHEHHHANES
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17 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 17 FEME A TN E (&)

(Continued)
Goldenmars Components Company Limited EERREAEAERDT
2025 2024
—E_RF —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#BT T
Non-controlling interests percentage SEERERA DL 49% 49%
Current assets mENE B 106,545 141,043
Current liabilities mENB R 95,967 135,459
Equity attributable to owners of RAREE AR
the Company 5,395 2,848
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R = 5,183 2,736
Revenue WA 89,570 225,848
Expenses 53 (84,577) (233,217)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FEEFE(BE) RGeS
expense for the year 1R 4,993 (7,369)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive AARHEE AREFIE(BE)
income/(expense) attributable to RirA WA () 5
owners of the Company 2,546 (3,758)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive JRIE R RS TR AR, (B 1) &
income/(expense) attributable to AW () %
the non-controlling interests 2,447 (3,611)
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FEEME () RGa
income/(expense) for the year WA/ (X ) #8358 4,993 (7,369)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests & ik JEFZE AR A z5 2 A% 5. = =
Net cash (outflow)inflow from REEEELNIRE CRit),/
operating activities AR EE (39,814) 46,614
Net cash inflow from investing activities R E/EBEEMNRSHRAFE 47 =
Net cash outflow from financing activities B4 & /EB)E £ RR 7 HIFHE - (18,701)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow Be R,/ RAFE (39,767) 27,913
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210

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

18

Costs of interests in associates

Share of post-acquisition loss and
other comprehensive expense, net of
dividends received

Impairment loss recognised

Exchange adjustments

Share of loss of associates during the year

N NI I 2N
FEIEWBRBE LR MRS
X kR E AR R

FERRIRL (B8R
b 5 B

FERIGBERRER

The Group has not recognised a share of result of the associate
for the year as the accumulated share of losses and impairment
loss recognised are greater than the interest in this associate.
The unrecognised share of losses for the year and accumulated
share of losses up to and as at 31 March 2025 is approximately
HK$nil and HK$4,036,000 respectively (2024: share of losses
and accumulated losses of HK$nil and HK$4,036,000

respectively).

REE Qa2 s
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —EpuE
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#&x TFETT
10,581 9,921
(4,177) (3,996)
(6,258) (6,258)
333 333
479 -
(181) -

AR A EEEERERERBERBERXR
RN RIS - SRS B F R
ETERIENE S ARG - FARERIE
HEEREERN-_E-_RAFE=A=1+—
HREGERFABEESNAS B TR
4,036,000/ (=T W F : fE(HE1E
N 25EE S BB T & 4,036,000 7
JL) °
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18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 18 REHENT 2 (@)
Particulars of the Group's associates are as follows: NEB ML AT SO ¢
Particulars Place of Percentage of
of issued, incorporation Al
registered/ and principal
paidup  Legal place of Ownership Principal
Name £8/14 capital  status business interest Voting power Profit sharing activities
BEf ER/ AL
HERAHE Aeh  RITEEME  fEERR Er AR TERH
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
ZRCRE il 2T it CEof ek
Hong Kong Financia BACRRE HK$1,000,000  Limited iabiity - Hong Kong 30% - 30% - 30% - Provision of
Senices Holding Limited BB A company financia
advisory
senvice
100000087 BREEAF EE RUAHH
BRI
Hangzhou Shierzhangwen — fIMTZZ400k  RMBI1,641,384  Limited liabity PRC 0% W% 4% 4% 4% 4% Publication
Wenhua Chuanbo ERARAT company of comic
Company Limited ([+=&4]) books
(“Shierzhangwen’)
M+ =B ER
BRAA
ARE BREfLR °H hREEE

11,64138470
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19 INVENTORIES 19 #&
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RF —E U
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Finished goods UK M 3,361 10,072
Less: provision for impairment of B EEREREE
inventories - (1,811)
3,361 8,261
The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in BRARZ W ABEREAHNFERAR
cost of sales amounted to HK$141,229,000 (2024: #141,229,00008 7t( — & — M F :
HK$342,907,000). 342,907,000 7T) °
Movements in provision for impairment of inventories are as FEREREZSHNT
follows:

As at 31 March

R=RA=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Beginning of the year F1) 1,811 1,811
Written-off i (1,811) =
End of the year FR - 1,811
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20 LOAN RECEIVABLES

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

20 EWER

As at 31 March

Loan receivables
Less: Impairment
— Loss

Analysed as
— Current
— Non-current

R
WA
— iR

v
— n#
— R

The Group’s loan receivables, which arise from its money
lending business in Hong Kong, are denominated in HK$,
unsecured, bearing fixed interest rate from 10% to 15%
(2024: 8% to 15%), and recoverable within one to three years
(2024: one year) from the dates of inception of the loan

agreements.

A maturity profile of the loan receivables as at the end of the
reporting periods, based on the maturity date and net of

impairment allowance, is as follows:

R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FETT
85,224 63,112
(46,488) (48,172)
38,736 14,940
12,216 -
26,520 14,940
38,736 14,940

AEENEKRERBBBHEE XL
B - DAUETTEHE - EIEIE R UAE EFIE
10% Z215% st BE(Z T ZMHF 8% &
15%) * WA B ER =Rz BiE—=
—FRWE(ZEZMF - —F) o

RS HRIZ D B R I0ER R E R AT
BORWERBMBERMT

As at 31 March

Within one year or recoverable on demand —4F LAY Sk A] #2 2 sk @]

More than two year and not more than
five years

M LA FBAEEE RS

R=RA=+—H”
2025 2024
—E_RF —EOF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT TFETT
26,520 14,940
12,216 -
38,736 14,940
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20

21

214

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the loan receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the due date and net of impairment
allowance, is as follows:

20

EWER 2

RB|BEMRIZBY A M ENRRERE
A ENERET KRR D

R -

As at 31 March
R=A=+-—8
2025 2024
—E_RE —EpuE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT Fi&TT
Not past due SR HR 38,736 14,940
=h
ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES 21 BUWHRRK
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_hE —E-F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E TExT FAT
Trade receivables 5 EBER TR (b) 184,916 192,128
Cash client receivables JEUIR & = P FRIE (a) 2,417 240,709
Margin client receivables JERRE S F FFUR (a) 923 =
188,256 432,837
Less: Impairment s ORE (89,170) (317,396)
99,086 115,441
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21 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21 EBRERER®)
Account receivables are denominated in the following JEUBRFR T A TN 5 E ¥ EHE -
currencies:

As at 31 March

W=A=+—H
2025 2024
—E_REF —ZE U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
HK$ BT 7,421 27,711
us$ ETT 91,665 87,730
99,086 115,441
Other than those disclosed in Note (a) below, the Group does Br N SCHIRE (@) AT 4 BR B O » AN S B 4
not hold any collateral as security for other account receivables. F A T 4R o 1 7 H fth 8 AR SR A 3R
o
Notes: Bt
(@)  Analysis of cash and margin client receivables () EURASRRBEEFREDIM
The carrying amount of cash and margin client receivables of the Group AEERKER € RREFEEF RIEREEN
was as follows: T

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8
2025 2024
—E-REF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
Cash client receivables IR & TP I 2,417 240,709
Margin client receivables BRIRES R FIE 923 -
Less: Impairment R ORE
— Doubtful — &R (10) -
— Loss — B (475) (229,336)
2,855 11,373
@) As at 31 March 2025, the Group held securities with an aggregate @ R-ZFE_AF=ZA=+—H &5&H
fair value of HK$30,134,000 (2024: HK$23,384,000) as collaterals BEHBRATEA30,134,0008 T (==
over the receivables. The cash and margin client receivables are U4 : 23,384,000/870) ME S 0 E
interest-bearing and have no fixed repayment terms. REMGRENE R R - BUCRE KK
BEEPHAEAE B EET B
[R o
No ageing analysis is disclosed as in the opinion of the directors, BEERA BERREEBNMEE - R
the ageing analysis does not give additional value in view of the AT &S REIMEE » BRI ER
nature of brokerage business. BAREC DT ©
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21 ACCOUNT RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(b) Analysis of trade receivables

The carrying amount of trade receivables of the Group was as follows:

21 EUWERR (&)
MIEE : (&)
(b) B SRR DT

AEEE S RERHREENT

As at 31 March

Trade receivables & 5 BRI
Less: Impairment e ]

(i) The Group grants credit period ranging from 1 day to 90 days
(2024: from 1 day to 60 days) to the customers of trading
business. The ageing analysis of relevant trade receivables at the
end of the reporting period based on invoice date and before
impairment allowance is as follows:

R=A=+—H
2025 2024
—B_FHF —ZT &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHT
184,916 192,128
(88,685) (88,060)
96,231 104,068

(i) AEERTESEBEPNEEHN
T1HZEOA(ZZE=_MF : 1HZE60
B) 2 RRESHRIEZEZEHRR
MBI E R ER R ERE 5 IR

216

1-30 days 12300

31-60 days 31260H
61-90 days 61Z=90H
91-180 days 91% 180 B

Over 180 days

BB 180 H

BRECHITEATE -
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZT
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
14,912 8,325
3,049 8,033
889 =
- 80,150
166,066 95,620
184,916 192,128
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22 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22 £€ -  BARERHEMERK
RECEIVABLES 15
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E-AHF —E O
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T THxT FH&TT
Non-current IERB
Other non-current deposits HIEmaiz e 2,805 3,001
Other assets Hi&EE (1 205 155
3,010 3,156
Current TRED
Prepayments SCENE 494 1,576
Deposits and other receivables e &k E A RERFIR () 9,371 4,397
Interest receivables JiE LR 2 (3) 156 -
10,021 5,973
Total deposits, prepayments and e FENFIEREMER
other receivables FIB4RRE 13,031 9,129
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables are denominated Be - AAFE R E A EKFIETIA TS

in the following currencies: E¥ETE -

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —ZE_puE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT T
HK$ BT 12,651 8,992
RMB AR 380 =
US$ ETT = 137
13,031 9,129
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22 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 22 &% BAARERHMERK
RECEIVABLES (Continued) 15 (4)
Notes: B &E
(1)  Other assets 1) HaEE
The gross carrying amount of other assets of the Group was as follows: AREFERHMEERBDAMBERT :

As at 31 March

R=A=+—8H
2025 2024
—EB-RF —E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHT

Hong Kong Securities Clearing Company Limited ~ F# R4 EHRE AR

— guarantee fund deposit — REFEESES 50 50
— admission fee — 205 50 50
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited BABBARXZER AR
— compensation fund deposit — BEESRE 50 50
— fidelity fund deposit — ERESERS 50 -
— stamp duty deposit — ENfER RS 5
205 155
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all other assets were not past due. RZB-_AFE=-_ZT-_WNF=R=+—A8 "
Fir G Hofth & ZE 0 R H o
(2)  Deposits and other receivables 2 ReRHMEKRITIE
No aging analysis is disclosed for deposits and other receivables as in the ARRBERE BEREBOHE RS
opinion of the directors of the Company, the aging analysis does not give WMASEREIMEE WL ERIZE R EM
additional value in view of the nature of the business. UG IEH: BB AR IR D AT ©
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all deposits and other receivables were RIE_RAER-_TE_WNE=A=+—H "
not past due. FrE12& I H fh FEUGRIE N KR8 Ef o
(3) Interest receivables 3) ERIE

As at 31 March

R=B=+—8H
2025 2024
—EB-HF —EgF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FRT FHTT
Interest receivables RIS 5,343 5,187
Less: Impairment B ORE (5,187) (5,187)
156 =
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OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
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HitEMEE

As at 31 March

Investments designated at fair value #&7E R R FEEFA
through profit or loss: BmoigE
Listed equity securities — ETRAFS —
Hong Kong BB
Other fund investments HEESIRE
Equity securities designated at Tai%ﬁ EFE*H\/H\WE
fair value through other FREWAZ IR FE
comprehensive income
Unlisted equity securities FE_ETARRANTE
Notes:
(i) The listed equity securities and other fund investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

(ii) The unlisted equity securities represent ordinary shares of unlisted entities
in Hong Kong. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they
are held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company
have elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at
FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in these
investments’ fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent with the
Group's strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and
realising their performance potential in the long run.

BANK BALANCES HELD ON BEHALF OF
CLIENTS

The Group has classified the clients’ monies as bank balances
held on behalf of clients in current assets of the consolidated
statement of financial position and recognised the
corresponding account payables to respective clients in current
liabilities of the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group is allowed to retain interest on the clients’ monies.
The Group maintains segregated trust accounts with licensed
banks to hold clients” monies in accordance with the relevant
legislation for HK$ 175,940,000 among the balance. The Group
is not allowed to use the clients’” monies to settle its own
obligations. The remaining balance are not subject to any
relevant legislation.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no impairment was made on
bank balances held on behalf of clients.

24

R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E-NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THT T
(i) 141 192
890 =
1,031 192
(i) 4,887 4,354

BEE

@ EEE"LmHﬁ$ HFRAMBERATIRHER
MO BEREATEFABRSZEREE

(i) AETBRABHERESARALMER LA
fi& - EZ%&ES‘@F%VEE% MR ERE
REAR ARAEEEEERZERAT
B & E/‘%}Tz’aiﬁ FTAEMARE WA
BAARSHE  RESTERZELEZA
FEMNEHES BAEEAREBNFA
ZERBVEREMS BRERBENZR
& — B o

REFFEZRIT

REER

AEBBEEFPFELDBEEAHYBEARR
RARBDEEE NMNEPEB ZIR1TE
£ IEAAHHM‘%#R%WU@ELJET
MERIEEEMAEE PR - AEB AR
BEFRBBOHE - REBEREFEMEE
Bl - RIFRRRITR BB EAERLPRER
P RIE - Eih 456275 175,940,0007%8 7T ©
AEBTAERARFPAEREES TN
BT - B TNEBTZEMABEEBIER -

R-B_AFR-_F_MNF=A=1+—
A YEAKEPHE ZRITARELR
(1510
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25 REeERBREEEY
Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following He RIS EGEW AT EEEHE -
currencies:

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024
—E-RE —ZEpU4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FABT
Cash on hand FHERE
HK$ BT 30 32
Israeli Shekel (“ILS™) LA ZIE e R
([AEFI#HH=E]) 4 4
34 36
Cash at banks RITER
HK$ BT 5,695 54,996
RMB AR 8,415 1,027
us$ E 7,754 11,671
21,864 67,694
21,898 67,730
The effective interest rate on cash at bank was 0.1% (2024: RITEFNEBENEREEF01%(=F
0.3%) per annum. ZVOF 1 0.3%) °
The conversion of bank and cash balances denominated in RAAEKAARBHENRITRRS
RMB into foreign currencies in the PRC and the remittance of BRI INEE R A5 Lt 77 RS ER B B AP
these deposits or cash out of the PRC are subject to the B 78 38 <7/ B BT Il TE B S E 7 2 AR
relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange control EHIRIFE - RSB RAF=A=+—
promulgated by the PRC government. As at 31 March 2025, H - AEBGFERFBIRARITHRITIE R
the Group's cash at banks of approximately HK$402,000 #97/2402,000/8 (= ZF = PU4 : 1,009,000
(2024: HK$1,009,000) was deposited at banks in the PRC. BIT) ©
As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, no impairment was made on RZE—RAFR-ZZT-_MFEF=A=1+—
cash and cash equivalents. H WERRERRSEEWIELRE -
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26 SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised shares:

As at 31 March 2025, the total authorised number of ordinary
shares is 800 million shares (2024 (restated): 800 million shares)
with a par value of HK$0.1 per share (2024 (restated): HK$0.1

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

RZEBE-_RAF=A=+—8  LT@EKRNZE
TE #2204 800,000,000 A% (ZF — P 4F (&
£ %l ) : 800,000,000 % ) © &F A% EI1E 0.1

per share). BI(ZEZNF (KLE5) - FREEO0.1
BTT) e
Issued shares: BT ¢
Number of
shares  Share capital
BREHE [N
‘000 HK$'000
FHTT FHT
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=FPmWA—H 526,162 4,385
Issuance of shares upon the placement Fic & B 31T AR (s (1))
(Note (1)) 105,228 877
Issuance of shares upon the rights issue AR EF 3217 (B 5E(2)
(Note (2)) 315,695 2,630
As at 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 RZZEZWF=A=+—H -
—Z_PFMAE—H 947,085 7,892
Consolidation of shares (Note (3)) & in & B (HEE3)) (868,162) =
Cancellation of treasury shares (Note (4)) = #5EFAM (FiFE(4)) (1,500) (150)
As at 31 March 2025 R-_E_RF=A=+—H 77,423 7,742

Notes:

(1

On 19 September 2023, the Group completed a placing of new shares
under general mandate (the “Placing 2023"), 105,228,000 ordinary
shares were issued by the Company. Shares were issued at a price of
HK$0.25 per share giving the gross proceeds of approximately HK$26.3
million. The net proceeds of approximately HK$25.5 million from the
Placing 2023 are intended to be used for general working capital of the
Group. As at 31 March 2024, all of the net proceeds of approximately
HK$25.5 million are used for general working capital of the Group.

On 18 December 2023, the Company proposed to implement the rights
issue on the basis of one rights share for every two existing share held on
1 December 2023 (the “Rights Issue”), being the record date, at the
subscription price of HK$0.18 per rights share. The Rights Issue was
completed on 22 January 2024. As such, 315,695,100 shares, with par
value of HK$0.18 each, were issued and allotted under the Rights Issue
with proceeds of approximately HK$55.4 million after deducting direct
cost credited to the Company’s equity under “Share premium”.

GEE

(1)

RZZB-_=FhA+IB AEERE—K
BRETKESTRN(=ZBE=_=EESE
1§ ) » AR EIE %17 105,228,000 f% @A
B 1D 12 B8 B A% 0.25 /8 L 31T FriSaEA
5 #9726,300,0008 7T —E-=FRES
T8 Fr 15 70 38 % 58 49 25,500,000 7 7T 48 B R A
SEN—REELEL - RN=_FT-_WFE=A
=+—H ' 23PFr{5FIEFE 4 25,500,000
BITEAEASE, —REEES -

RZZZ=F+ZA+/\H AAREZRR
R=FE=_=F+=-A—H (BB H) 5
BRI A R EEE —RERR G 2 BEEE
THAR(TER]) - REERSRERAR?H0.18
BT HRER-ZE-_MNFE—A=-_+=-H=
Ao B bt B R E IR B 1T kBB
315,695,100 IR FAREIE0.18 BT 2 iR 15 * BT
15 XA #955,400,000 7 7T (K& B E#E AR AN)
Bt ARR R Z A [IRDHEE] JT -
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26

27

222

SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(3) On 23 August 2024, the director of the Company proposed to implement
a share consolidation on the basis that every twelve (12) issued and
unissued shares of HK$0.008333 each would be consolidated into one
consolidated share of HK$0.1 each.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 24 September 2024, the
share consolidation was approved by the shareholders of the Company
and has become effective on 26 September 2024.

(4) During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Company proposed to cancel
and buy back 1,500,000 shares. Shares were purchased at a consideration
of HK$4,077,000. The cancellation was completed on 6 December 2024.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Share award scheme

On 14 March 2019, the Company adopted the share award
scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) under which shares of
the Company (the “Awarded Shares”) may be awarded to
selected employees (including directors) and non-executive
directors of the Group (the “Selected Person (s)”) pursuant to
the terms of the Share Award Scheme and trust deed of the
Share Award Scheme (the “Trust Deed"”). The share award
scheme became effective on the adoption date and, unless
otherwise terminated or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date, i.e., 13 March 2029. The Share Award
Scheme is subject to the administration of the Board of
Directors and the trustee of the Share Award Scheme (the
“Trustee”) in accordance with the Share Award Scheme and
the Trust Deed.

The Board of Directors shall not make any further award of
Awarded Shares which will result in the nominal value of the
Shares awarded by the Board of Directors under the Scheme
exceeding 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
from time to time. The maximum number of Shares which may
be awarded to a Selected Person under the Scheme shall not
exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

26

27

[} & NE )
MIEE : (&)

(3) R-ZZB-_WENA-+=8 " ARAFRESE
HIET T Z(12)REZAREE0.008333 & T HY
BRITRARETROEEMHA—REREE
0.1 BT A HIIR (D M E RTINS B -
BRER-_ZE-_MNFEALA-+HABANER
RFBER - RD A GHEEARR R I R
—EoFEAR - ANBEEK

4 REE-T-_AF=A=+-BLFE' &K
AR & BB 1,500,000 BEAZ 1% ° BR1D
LA {B4,077,0008 TEA - FHER=-Z
—mE+ = ANRBEREK -

BAR 40 5% 27 B9 4 3K
42 SR =t &

R-ZF-NF=ZA+EA  ARREEH
Betn BB ET 8 (IR RBEHE ) - &t
EBEEE (BRES) RAKEIFNTE
S(TEEAL]) AIRERD BT8R
LB SR Et BE R B (EERE )
EBETARBIRG (TRBREG ) - KK
BRIt 8B RM B MR - BRIERTTR
IEsER]  HABMAEZBER TF
E—T-AF=A+=A1 - REKRNH
RE)TEIRERERE - R EREIXE
FehkEhBZBAEXZEATZERAD

B o

HEEERERBBNREERESES
REAGFECELNRMEEBBAR
AITHEEITRAZ10% @ BITFE—
HR AT B o BEATRIBEANG
M ERNERSBROBETREELAR
BITREBEITRAZ1%
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)
Share award scheme (Continued)

The Board of Directors may contribute funds to the trust
constituted by the Trust Deed (the “Trust”) for the purchase or
subscription of shares of the Company and other purposes set
out in the Share Award Scheme and the Trust Deed. The
Trustee shall hold the trust fund in accordance with the terms
of the Trust Deed. The Board of Directors may instruct the
Trustee to purchase shares of the Company on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and to hold them in trust for
the benefit of the persons who are eligible for the Awarded
Shares on and subject to the terms and conditions of the Share
Award Scheme and the Trust Deed (the “Eligible Persons”).
The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of any
shares, including but not limited to the Awarded Shares, any
bonus shares and scrip shares derived therefrom, held by it
under the Trust.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Award
Scheme and the fulfilment of all relevant vesting conditions,
the respective Awarded Shares held by the Trustee on behalf of
a Selected Person pursuant to the provision of the Share Award
Scheme shall vest in such Selected Person in accordance with
the vesting schedule (if any) and the Trustee shall cause the
Awarded Shares to be transferred to such Selected Person on
the vesting date at no consideration.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no Awarded
Shares were granted to any Eligible Persons of the Group.

OTHER RESERVES
(@) Merger reserve

The Group’s merger reserve represents the difference
between the share capital of the Company and the
aggregate amount of share capital of other companies
comprising the Group, after elimination of intra-group
investments.

27

28

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

IR AERNSRE)
B SE Bt &l (42)

ExgnRERRERRNER(ERE]D)
HE - ARBEXRRBARR RN KD
BB ENERREMENEMEN - X
AABABRBEAZBENERTHEELE
T  BEEGAHETIAAERBHARS
FIBRARBEARRRD - AR
REDET 8| SR B IRRMGN - &
ERFERBENDAL(EERALD
A SRR AR B A RRD - X5
ANBRRBEERAEMRD (21
BRI BN ~ (17T b EE A AL H
PR B AR AR BB An ) FTE IR M -

BRI B A0 B2 B ET B A0 5 SR B AR 1 A B2
FETTET A 1HRR R B Rt - XEEARIRAD
BB XAREREATHANRE
RpROERREEREAR (WA RB
THEEAL  MEFAARLZHREER
SRR EESETREREAL -

BE_E-_RER-_ZT-_ME=HF=+—
BIEFE - BIER N RERG T ERAS
BEEBEBAL -

Hitbf s

(a) ABHREE
AREE A GHEEREA D A MRA
HAREBE T AL THRAN 2

CHREHEEARRERER)Z
EIHYZEER ©
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28 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(b) Capital reserve

The Group’s capital reserve represents i) deemed
contribution by the immediate holding company as a
shareholder acquired the remaining non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries and contributed to the Group at
no cost prior to 1 April 2011; ii) placing commission paid
to a subsidiary of the Company for the placing of shares
on 19 September 2022; iii) the excess of the
considerations received from over the changes in the
carrying amounts of non-controlling interests in the
disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries; and iv) the
excess of the considerations paid over the changes in the

28 HittfEE &)
(b) EAEEE

REBERERFEER)GIEEBE
B A B A ELRR 3R & 10 W B R A /)
BRTIEEREZRELNERE
A ZBERBRAER T ——FM
A—BREEFIANER i) FER
—E__FAATNABEERMM
S FARE —ERNBARZEE
e i REERBAR D ER
FrE R BRI EERERRAEE
=5 Riv) RIKEKE QR
o R RER L IEE AR

carrying amounts of non-controlling interests in the mREEEE) =58 -
acquisition of partial interests in subsidiaries.
(c) Statutory reserve () ZEEMRE

The Company’s subsidiary in the PRC is required to NN = LSl =N TR < R e s
transfer 10% of its profit after income tax calculated in & st XE R RO ERIBR TS
accordance with the PRC accounting standards and FRB TR 10% 8248 25 0% TF fh
requlations to the statutory reserve until the balance HEERBEERERAIMERN
reaches 50% of its respective registered capital, where 50% * M —PEEBGHEES
further transfers will be at their directors’ discretion. The B ERE o A ERER ALK S
statutory reserve can be used to offset prior years’ losses, FFEMNESE(INE) W ABEE%E
if any, and may be converted into share capital by issuing AR B A A R iERE A ARIRE R
new shares to equity holders of the PRC subsidiary in FE L 5 [A) 18 S5 35 1T AR (D S iR 1
proportion to their existing shareholding or by increasing N1 25 B A B3 A% (7 7Y [ (B 52 18 A%
the par value of the shares currently held by them, X MEEAERBEBRETEROGREDT
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory BN BB A T IR A 25% ©
reserve after such issue is no less than 25% of share
capital of the PRC subsidiary.

29 DIVIDENDS 29 BB

No final dividend for the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024

RBEE—_ZE_AFA_ZT_NMF=A

St HALEFE YEZRERARAK

B o

o

was proposed.
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30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax recoverable
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxation authority. The deferred tax
assets and liabilities are to be utilised and settled after one year
and the following amounts, determined after appropriate
offsetting, are shown in the consolidated statement of financial

position.

Movements of deferred tax assets:

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

30 EEFTBH

WEAEAHITENLE RAEHAR
HIHE MR R E IR - R AR
—BEKEAREE - AREHRAREERE
REERH - BTV BREERBGE/R —F
BBMREE  REBEBRETN T
SRHIINAFHBARNEA

BB EEERS -

Decelerated

Lease tax

liabilities  depreciation Tax losses Total

HESRE REHENE BEER st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET

At 1 April 2023 RZE-=f0NA—H 1,835 = 17,550 19,385

Charged to profit or loss naks (350) = = (350)
At 31 March 2024 and R-F-NE

1 April 2024 =A=t+-8k

“E-NENA—H 1,485 - 17,550 19,035

Charged to profit or loss meHn (494) 27 = (467)
At 31 March 2025 R=Z-IF

=A=+—H 991 27 17,550 18,568

Offset between deferred tax assets and liabilities:

EERAEENABHEEIEE

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HILEE

Balance as at 31 March

Amount offset between deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the consolidated

R=A=+—HEL&H

statement of financial position

EERREENMABZEREH
MR KRB NS R

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
18,568 19,035
(1,194) (1,786)
17,374 17,249
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30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 30 RIEFAEBRH &)
Movements of deferred tax liabilities: ELETRIE A EEE)
Fair value
Accelerated  adjustments
Right-of-use tax  arising from
assets  depreciation subsidiaries Total
REMBELRMN
EREEE MEBRBENE DAFERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT FHT
At 1 April 2023 R-E-=FmWA—H 1,835 637 669 3,141
Credited to profit or loss FTAEE (350) (51) (139) (540)
At 31 March 2024 and R-E-mE
1 April 2024 =A=+—-HRk
“E-_NFENAE—H 1,485 586 530 2,601
Acquisition of subsidiary W B AR - - 1,113 1,113
Credited to profit or loss STAEZ (494) (52) (247) (793)
At 31 March 2025 R-B-RE=f
== 991 534 1,396 2,921
Offset between deferred tax assets and liabilities: EEFIREEMBEHEERH
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FET
Balance as at 31 March R=ZA=+—Bm&sH 2,921 2,601
Amount offset between deferred tax FIERIBEENMBEZHRE O
assets and liabilities in the consolidated AN KRB S5
statement of financial position (1,194) (1,786)
1,727 815
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T DR S 5 ¥ o B

30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued) 30 EIEFTEH (&)

Offset between deferred tax assets and liabilities: (Continued)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of HK$382,399,000 (2024: HK$353,422,000) in Hong Kong,
which have no expiry dates, and HK$12,583,000 (2024:
HK$11,960,000) in the PRC which will expire within 2025 to
2029. No deferred tax assets have been recognised for these
tax losses as the directors considered it is not probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is

BERERAEENABEREEE : (8)

N-ZE-_RE=A=+—0 AEERE
B AR A K18 382,399,000/8 T (=

— PO 4F : 353,422,000 7T )+ I & JF
WBE YRR REBRERIAEIE
12,583,000/ 7T (= Z Z 4 : 11,960,000
BIL)  BR_E-_RAFE_ZT-_NFRA
[ER o W RE R SR I R M R R B 1R
BE  JHRESFSRABERTFETAI8
FA DS 85 7] B) P B TR /g5 48 o

RIETFRIBEE MNELEHRIBEEOET ¢

as follows:
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E-HF —TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT F&7T
Deferred tax assets as presented in B I BARR R 25 REET I
the consolidated statement of BE
financial position 17,374 17,249
Deferred tax liabilities as presented in BRI BN R 2V HEERIE
the consolidated statement of =N
financial position (1,727) (815)
Deferred tax assets, net EEFIIREE - F5 15,647 16,434

The movement on the deferred income tax is as follows:

BIEFSRESBEREINNT

As at 31 March

At beginning of the year F1)

Acquisition of subsidiary L B BT /8 7 )
Credited to profit or loss (Note 11) st AEE= (FFEE11)
At end of the year FR

R=A=+—H
2025 2024
—2-EF Lt
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT TAET
16,434 16,244
(1,113) -
326 190
15,647 16,434
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31

228

ACCOUNT PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES 31 BERM HttENREBERE
AND ACCRUED EXPENSES HEH
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—ECHF —TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
Trade payables B S TR 52,065 54,238
Cash client payables (Note (a)) FERIREZ A (K@) 179,746 6,154
Margin client payables (Note (a)) ERESRE P FKE (KT @) 19,558 -
Total account payables eSS BRI AR 251,369 60,392
Other payables and accrued expenses HAb R FIE R EFTE
Accrued expenses et E R 5,843 3,951
Other payables H At T FRIE 7,536 1,106
Total other payables and accrued HA B RIE R Bt & AR
ewenses s 5,057
Total account payables, other payables FERTRRER - ELh RIS FRIE R
and accrued expenses m%%#%%ﬁﬁ%@&ﬁ 264,748 65,449
Notes: MHEE -
(a) The settlement terms of payables arising from securities business are (a) REBELSEBNENRBEEHRBE B

normally two to three days after trade date or specific terms agreed. The
majority of the cash and margin client payables are unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and repayable on demand, except where certain balances
represent trades pending settlement or cash received from clients for their
trading activities under the normal course of business.

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, all trade payables were aged within two
months, based on invoice date. No aging analysis is disclosed for cash
client payables as in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
aging analysis does not give additional value in view of the nature of the
business.

%EI&WI_EIW&WJEE’H#E%WE N
SENRERRESE S FASEER T
AEBARENRER  HGEEXZNET
BRIAREPRERXEBBETHNRZEY
T HEREY 3R & BR SN

REZE-RFR-ZZT-ZWMF=A=+—H"
FAEEREZEAMNE 5 EMERERAREK M
BAR - AAREERE  EREHHMEE

AR DT A& A REIMEE - I & IR
ﬁ%%ﬁ KIBHTRERER DT
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31 ACCOUNT PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES
AND ACCRUED EXPENSES (Continued)

Account payables, other payables and accrued expenses of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

31

EARR  HUBENRERE

STER @

AREBREMERR - H RN IR R

BERNTIIEHEHE

As at 31 March

HK$ BT
RMB AR
US$ ETT

Other than those disclosed in Note (a) above, account payables
and other payables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand.

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT T
41,482 15,515
96,951 3
126,315 49,931
264,748 65,449
Br _ESCHIRE @) PTIREE &SN - BT ERFA K

HAid B RIRAEER - T8 BRRE
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32 BORROWINGS 32 BE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —EpuE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTER FHET
Non-current: FERB -
Other borrowings HEMEE 27,000 —
Current: B8
Bank borrowings RITEE - 122,940
Other borrowings HibgE 60,000 -
87,000 122,940
Analysed as: DR
— Secured — B 60,000 113,734
— Guaranteed — BER = 9,206
— Unsecured and unguaranteed — EEAREER 27,000 =
87,000 122,940
As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s other borrowings of R-ZZB-AF=A=1+—0 AKEHM
HK$60,000,000 is secured by the Group’s investment f& & 60,000,000 7 7T JA 78 52 B A 10 & 78
properties situated in Hong Kong amounted at 2 ¥ & ) % 123,500,000 5% 7 (B 1 (BT
HK$123,500,000 (Note 14). E14) o
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of RZZZWNE=A=+—8 ' "EERT
HK$113,734,000 is secured by the Group’s owned properties B 5 113,734,000 BT AR R BRI N EE
situated in Hong Kong of HK$186,941,000 (Note 13). B B £ % 186,941,000 7 7T VE K 8 (Fft

13) o
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32 BORROWINGS (Continued) 32 [E8 %)

The maturities of the bank borrowings that contain repayable BEEEREBRINETEEREM
on demand clause and other borrowings in accordance with EERET 2B N EE RN T -

the scheduled repayment dates are as follows:

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT T
The carrying amounts of other HihEERREEZER NI
borrowings that are repayable: HEE :
— Within one year — —FHUA 60,000 =
— After more than five years — BBAFE 27,000 =
87,000 -
The carrying amounts of bank BEREREEGKOIRT
borrowings that contain a repayment BERRBEEEN27))
on demand clause (shown under RBREE M B T 5l fE
current liabilities) but repayable: =5
— Within one year — —F R - 105,421
— Between one and two years — —EmWE - 13,910
— Between two and five years — WERF - 3,609
- 122,940
87,000 122,940
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32 BORROWINGS (continued) 32 &)
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as follows:

AEEWEERRIT :

As at 31 March

232

R=A=+—H
2025 2024
—E-EHF —Z s
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT T
Variable-rate borrowings FEEER = 120,110
Fixed-rate borrowings BEFEEE 87,000 2,830
87,000 122,940
Borrowings of the Group are denominated in the following REBNBEUATIEEE :
currencies:
As at 31 March
MR=BA=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RE —E-mFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
HK$ HBIT 87,000 24,727
us$ =Sl - 98,213
87,000 122,940
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33 SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS
(a) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were the
highest in the Group are as follows:

33

Hunlicar Group Limited ZFIIIEBEBR AT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
£ F S 5 % B 5

EREEEMNS

(a)

%= (MizE40)
==

Directors (Note 40)
Employees

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group include three (2024: nil) director whose
emolument was reflected in Note 40.

The emoluments payable to two (2024: five) non-director
individuals during the year are as follows:

FEBRSHEMAL

AEBRAEAESH
T

A == &9 357 B 40

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
4,008 —
10,616 4 957
14,624 4,957

Short term employee benefits
Discretionary bonus FIBTEAL
Post-employment benefits RNER

AEELERRFMALERE=S
—EoFFR)ES AHM

B RBRPFIFE40

FRARMRAG(ZE-_NE: 5R)
FEEATHFMAT :

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—ZE_hE —EOE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx T T
1,020 4122
9,573 746

23 89

10,616 4 957
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33 SENIOR MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS 33 SREEEME #)

(Continued)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) () EEBRESFMALE)
Remuneration of the two (2024: five) highest paid non- FAMB(ZZE_WEFE: AR)IFE
director individuals during the year fell within the ERSHMATHMNFATER :
following bands:

Number of individuals
AE
2024
—TNF
Emolument Bands e E
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 /8LE
1,000,000 % 7T 1 4
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 &L E
2,500,000 77T - 1
HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 9,500,001 &L E
10,000,000 /8 7T 1 -
During both years, no emoluments were paid by the RREFEA  AEBETWERA S
Group to the five highest paid individuals as an ST A TSNS EAIMA
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as o0 AN & B B 19 22 B 3k /E A Bk B
compensation for loss of office. fHIE -
(b) Senior management’'s emoluments (b) ESREEEFHFMH

The emoluments of nil (2024: one) senior management
during the year fell within the following bands:

Emolument Bands i &1 =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 BT E
2,500,000 7% 7T
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34.1 Categories of financial instruments
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T DR S 5 ¥ o B

34 €T A

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:
As at 31 March 2025

Financial assets

Loan receivables

Account receivables

Financial assets included in
deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive
income

Bank balances held on behalf
of clients

Cash and cash equivalents

FERER

TR

SIS  BNFUR
R At R IR R
TREE

BRYE ARG
EREE

BRFER AL
HaBAZER
EE

REFRAZET
&%

RekReSEN

34.1 R T AR

RBEMRESR T EDENRE
BT :

R-ZZE-_HEF=H=1+—H

EHEE

At fairvalue At fair value

through through

profit or loss other

At amortised (held for comprehensive
cost trading) income Total

BOVEFA  BROVERA
RBERES BE(GIFEE) HttReRA At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TET THT
38,736 - - 38,736
99,086 - - 99,086
12,537 - - 12,537
- 1,031 - 1,031
- = 4,887 4,887
199,363 - - 199,363
21,898 - - 21,898
371,620 1,031 4,887 377,538
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.1 Categories of financial instruments

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2025 (Continued)

Financial liabilities

3 £@IR®)

341 €T AR (&)

R-BE-_FEE=A=+—H(%E)

Account payables

Financial liabilities included in other
payables and accrued expenses

Lease liabilities

Borrowings

236

THEE
At amortised

cost Total
% 8 85 AR 2N st
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHT
FETRR R 251,369 251,369

ST AE A FRIE K BT
EAMNESRAE 13,379 13,379
HE&E 6,605 6,605
BE 87,000 87,000
358,353 358,353
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As at 31 March 2024
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34.1 Categories of financial instruments
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T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 €@ R ®)

341 WM I AR (E)

R-E_mWE=A=+—H

Financial assets THEE
At fair value At fair value
through through
profit or loss other
At amortised (held for  comprehensive
cost trading) income Total
BATEFA  BRATEFA
REEMA Bm(BEEE) HEfgaKA @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THT THT
Loan receivables FEYRE TR 14,940 - - 14,940
Account receivables FEURER SR 115,441 - - 115,441
Financial assets included in FTARS - BRFE
deposits, prepayments and R Eft R R)
other receivables PREE 7,553 - - 7,553
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABE
through profit or loss SHEE - 192 - 192
Financial assets at fair value RRTFE AR
through other comprehensive ERAZ SR
income BE - - 4,354 4,354
Bank balances held on behalf of ~ KEFH4E 21T
clients faER 6,305 - - 6,305
Pledged bank deposits B BTN 14,982 - - 14,982
Cash and cash equivalents ReLREEEY 67,730 = = 67,730
226,951 192 4,354 231,497
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34 €M IH®
34.1Categories of financial instruments 341 SR T REB (&)
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2024 (Continued) R-ZB-_WE=A=+—H(#)
Financial liabilities TREE

At amortised

cost Total

birg: LIz ) DN WBET

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHTT FAT

Account payables FET R SR 60,392 60,392
Financial liabilities included in other FT A EAth A FRIE R FE T

payables and accrued expenses ERMEmMAE 5,057 5,057

Lease liabilities HEBE 9,716 9,716

Borrowings BE 122,940 122,940

198,105 198,105
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and 342 B AMEEREBERBXR

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
receivables, account receivables, deposits, prepayments
and other receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, bank balances
held on behalf of clients, pledged bank deposits, cash
and cash equivalents, account payables, other payables
and accrued expense, lease liabilities and borrowings.
Details of the financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, price risk,
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management of the Group manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risks
()  Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to US Dollars (“US$") and Renminbi
(“RMB"). The Group manages its foreign exchange
risks by performing regular review and monitoring
its foreign exchange exposure. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

AEENTIESHMTABREREE
Ao BUERR  BE - BNRER
H WA - B FERAERRE
ZEMEE - BRAFET AR
BURAZERMEE RKEFHAEZ
RITHERR  EEMBITER B
EReEEY  BARX - EME
NRELEAER HERERE
E-eRMTANFERER AR
FoHZEeMIAGHANRRE
EmisRR(E%RR - BRERR -
FMERR) - EERBRLREE SR
B o IR BB F AR B BRER B A a0
T-AKEEEEEEREEZS
R\ - AFERARKERN T AE
HEE &

5 @ i

(i)

BEm 5

AEEmE SRS E SR ERmES
MSNERER > EZFRET( X
R EARE(TARE])  AKHE
BB TE MNES N B 1 E S E R ik
AREREIMNERR - AEE B Al
I M HNE SRR o AT EEE
SEEINERR - XHRAHER
EREREANIMNER o
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

240

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

0]

Currency risk (Continued)

The Group operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China and most of their transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$"),
Renminbi (“RMB"”) and United States dollar
(“US$"). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk primarily through expense transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the group companies. The
Group manages its exposures to foreign currency
transactions by monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The Group ensures
that the net exposure to foreign exchange risk is
kept to an acceptable level from time to time. The
Group has not used any forward exchange contract
to hedge against foreign exchange risk as
management considers its exposure as not
significant.

As at 31 March 2025, if Hong Kong dollar had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2024: 5%) against
RMB with all other variables held constant, pre-tax
loss (2024: pre-tax profit) for the year would have
been HK$888,000 lower/higher (2024: HK$51,000
higher/lower), primarily due to exchange gain/loss
arising from revaluation of net RMB denominated
monetary assets.

As the HK$ is pegged to the US$, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the US$/
HK$ exchange rate.

3 £@IR®)

34.2 BiEMEEBZERBUR (&)

m5 AR ()
() EEERE

AREBERESMHBEAMEE
X755 KD RZAETT (18
T ARE(TARS]) RE
T(ERDFE - A&EE®E
ERASMNERR ER /SAKRE R
AW EE AN EEHED
MR 5 - REBERIINER
BRMAFKE - BABEINE
R R AR o AEREFHERAE
[ Fr) SN PEE JL g P RR T R A A 0
AEEKF - HRERERR
ZINERBRIIFEX - AKE
I EAE ERERIIINES K%
RN Rz ©

R-ZEBE-_RAF=A=+—8
WABTHARBHE LB
5% (=ZZF —MU4F :5%) i AT
BHMBHERFBTE  BER
BREAEBEB(ZE_MFE: B
AT B ) 1B m 4 18
888,000/8 L ( = & = /Y 4 :
#hn, B4 51,0008 7T) © £
EEHEMUARKESTENE
BEEFERELSMNE LK
=/ EIEpTE R -

BB ITEETTHE - AKE
HHET  BTEXTEFE
AERKE °
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risks (Continued)

(ii)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk from equity
securities and fund investments held by the Group
which are classified in the consolidated statement
of finance position as other financial assets. Price
risk is the risk of changes in fair value of financial
instruments from fluctuations, whether such a
change in price is caused by factors specific to the
individual instrument or factors affecting all
instruments traded in the markets. The Group
mitigates its price risk by performing detailed due
diligence analysis of investments and dedicated
professionals are assigned to oversee and monitor
the performance of investments.

As at 31 March 2025, if the equity price of the
equity securities had been 5% higher/lower, with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s pre-
tax loss (2024: pre-tax profit) for the year ended 31
March 2025 would have decreased/increased
(2024: increased/decreased) approximately by
HK$52,000 (2024: HK$10,000) and other
comprehensive expense (2024: other
comprehensive income) for the year ended 31
March 2025 would have decreased/increased
(2024: increased/decreased) approximately by
HK$244,000 (2024: HK$218,000).

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 £@IR®)

342 MBEREEEERBEKE)

i g ()

(i) (BB R
AREBREFERBRAES R
HSREAZERER  %ZF
BHR AR BIRRR T D

BHMEREE - BRAKA
ERsEH & T EATEE
FWER - Tine EERE

AER TAMNEERENFE
RS EENETAENAE
B - BREERRR - A%
B T RETERSNT - TE
TEEEEATEERERK
BERHE -

R_ZE-_A&E=A=+—8"
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34.2 Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Market risks (Continued)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to loan receivables, lease liabilities and
fixed-rate borrowings. The Group is also exposed to
cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate bank balances. The Group cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of interest rates on bank balances. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The directors of the Company considers that the
Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk on
variable-rate bank balances as a result of the
change of market interest rate is insignificant due
to low interest rates on bank balances at the end of
the reporting period, thus no sensitivity analysis is
prepared for cash flow interest rate risk.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's
counterparties default on their contractual obligations
resulting in financial losses to the Group. The Group’s
credit risk exposures are primarily attributable to loan
receivables, trade receivables, deposits and other
receivables, interest receivables, cash client receivables,
margin client receivables, bank balances held on behalf
of clients, pledged bank deposit and cash and cash
equivalents. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets, except that the credit
risks associated with cash client receivables are mitigated
because they are secured over pledged securities of each
individual client.

3 £@IR®)
342 MIEEREEBERBEEK(£)

5 AR ()
(i) FIFE/E R
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B BN R IRTT AR A BV IR
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MENEREREEEPRIERT
RERRNI R ) B o NEE B AT
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Y KR BRZREZBLEIHEK
B R R

ARAREERE  ARRED
RIRTTREBRE N RRIE - A%
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and 342 I RAMEEBERBE (B)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments =B R R B EFE (&)
(Continued)

REEEERR  AEEEEER
R¥REHARERN L S IEEREE
Y AT W Bl & 58 - ARER LN AT

In order to monitor the credit risk, the management of
the Group has reviewed the recoverable amount of each
aforesaid individual assets at the end of the reporting

period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group’s internal
credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

categories:

TRELRTNRERSE - AEE

A EEE R

85

Trade and bills

R AARHEBREIAT

Other financial

Internal credit rating Description receivables assets/other items
B 5 BURRR HithemEE
KB EERR R BB RE Hg B
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL — not 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due credit-impaired
amounts
Ve RZUFENERE - BEEMEH FHEHEEERE T+T-EARHEE
;R — FEERE B
Watch list Debtors frequently repay after due dates Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL —
but usually settle in full credit-impaired not credit-impaired
BRLE EBAREEIHEREN  EBF THEREEEE HRPEEER
£y — FEERE — FEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — not Lifetime ECL —
credit risk since initial recognition credit-impaired not credit-impaired
through information developed from
internal or external resources
R BRI ERRENERER - THEREEEE HRPEEER
FERRE B RERAREEZELM — FEERE — FEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
B RREBEREECHREERNE THEREEEE HRIGEER
—EERE — EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written Amount is written off
debtor is in severe financial difficulty off
and the Group has no realistic prospect
of recovery
isH BREBRREBARAREV BN - LM SRMHE

10 2N SR [ 3 4 B R e [0 Y ] B
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments
(Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the
Group'’s financial assets, including loan receivables, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash client
receivables, margin client receivables, bank balances held
on behalf clients, pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents, which are subject to ECL assessment:

External Internal
Notes creditrating  credit rating

WiE SHEETR ABEETR

34.2 BiEMEEBZERBUR (&)

= B K B EF G (4)

TRAVNAEBAEEHEEER
AENEREE(BREEREN
BHRWIERR - e A RUR
H - RUCRESFPRIA - BUIRE
EEPHIA KEPKBZRITA
# CEARTERERE RS

Financial assets at amortised cost

BREEATENEREE

Loan receivables N/A Low risk

ERER TNEF EEH
Loss
B

Trade receivables included in (i) N/A Note (i)

account receivables

TR E SRR TERA =0}
Loss
B

244

ZEMEERR
12m or
lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
TZEAS
2HRHEESR EHBE
2025 2024
—E_RE —ECNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TART THBL
12m ECL 38,736 -
+ @ AEH
FEBE
Lifetime ECL 46,488 63,112
(credit-impaired)
2HEHEEER
(EEHME)
Lifetime ECL 97,240 104,308
(collective
assessment)
2HEHEEER
(G5ERT(E)
Lifetime ECL 87,676 87,820
(credit-impaired)
2HEHEEER
(EEHME)
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34.2 Financial risk management objectives and

34.2 BiEMREEBZERBER (&)

1= B L B2 K el {8 51 (4

(Continued)
External Internal 12mor
Notes creditrating  credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
+ZfEAs%
M  IBEETR APEETR 2HRHEEER HETRCA]
2025 2024
—E_RE 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
TART THBL
Financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)
BRERATENSRER(2)
Financial assets included in deposits, N/A Low risk 12m ECL 12,537 7,553
prepayments and other
receivables
FARSE - BRFEREBEK NER &R +-AAEHEE
TEMSRAE g
Loss Lifetime ECL 5,187 5,187
(credit-impaired)
BB *HEHEEER
(EERA)
Cash client receivables included in N/A Low risk 12m ECL 1,932 -
account receivables
FABMIRSHERR B P 50R NEF il T-ERBHEE
BB
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 1,828 =
credit-impaired)
R 2 HRBEEER
(FEENB)
Loss Lifetime ECL 485 240,709
(credit-impaired)
Bi S HEBEEER
(EERE)
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34 €M IH®
34.2 Financial risk management objectives and 342 AMEEBERBEK (B)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessments EE R B R B EFF1E (&)
(Continued)
External Internal 12m or
Notes creditrating  credit rating lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount
TR
M SPEETR ABEETR  2HEBEEER REEE

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-NE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEL

Financial assets at amortised cost
(Continued)
BBERATENSRER(2)

Margin client receivables included in N/A Low risk 12m ECL 923 -
account receivables ‘
FARKRFNENRESEP NEF iyl TERRHEE
FE g
Bank balances held on behalf clients Baa2 Low risk 12m ECL 199,363 6,305
REPRE 2RI Baa2 R R TZEABEEE
BiE
Pledged bank deposits AaltoBaa3  Low risk 12m ECL - 14,982
BHERRTER AalZBaa3  RER TZEABHEE
BiE
Cash and cash equivalents Aal to Baa3 Low risk 12m ECL 21,898 67,730
Be RASEEN AalEBaa3  EEK TZAABHEER
B8
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and 342 I RAMEEBERBE (B)

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments
(Continued)

(i)  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired,
the Group determines the ECL on these items on a
collective basis, grouped by past due status.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for
its customers in relation to its trading operations because
these customers consist of a large number of small
customers with common risk characteristics that are
representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade and bills receivables
which are assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors
with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired
with gross carrying amounts of HK$87,676,000
respectively as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$87,820,000)
was assessed individually.

1= B L B2 K el {8 51 (4

() BEZFERUERMS @ AEH
ERABEAMBEREREREI
SO CAREMENEEES
B EBREE - RBEXK
BN BRI EERENEEA
5 REBERBBMR RS -
N REEEEZEFHE A
HEEEE -

EAAEBEERKBRERN —IF
7 A E A A ERABREST (G 8
EBSXBEBANEPHNRE &R
FAAEZERFEesRZARRARR
BENNEF  AEBBRERER
RRE NG EE B ERUEN
BB TRIRHEBR 2 HTEHE
EEECGEEERE) A AREE
Fe 3% 2k [R] EERT A A0 B 5 e UK AR 3K
MEREENEERRHER - B
—E-_RE=A=+-—HB AEX
RENEBIEERENEEA
EERMARE D 5 587,676,000% 7T
(ZZE /M4 : 87,820,000/ 7T) -
B EE BT ©
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments

3 £@IR®)

——

——

Average
loss rate

FHREAE

(Continued)

Gross carrying amount IREAE
Current (not past due) FPER R )
1-90 days past due BHH1ZE90H
91-180 days past due BH1 =180 H
181-270 days past due #H181E270H

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific trades is updated.

248

0.03%
0.11%

34.2 BiEMEEBZERBUR (&)

= B K B EF G (4)

2025 2024
aE “EomE

Gross

amount of Gross amount

trade Average of trade

receivables loss rate receivables

ESEKR B oK

RREE RSk Fes

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET THT

17,646 0.03% 49,745

1,204 0.12% 18,763

56,500 0.54% 35,800

0.53%
3.23%

21,890 N/ATE A =
97,240 104,308

ERHBERTIBEES ABRF R
FELBREAXETHT - XA
EFBERARE B R T AR
ESHAEMEERTARE - D8
REERE TR ABREREFER
SHRRE RS AT #
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments

3 £@IR®)

34.2 BiEMREEBZERBER (&)

1= B L B2 K el {8 51 (4

(Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRARBEGERE S EIER
that has been recognised for trade receivables under REERN AR SRS o
simplified approach.
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2 HATE HA ZHTEHR
EEEE EEBR
(FEEERE) (FERIE) Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT THET
As at 1 April 2023 R-ZEBE-_=FMNMA—H 58 87,821 87,879
Impairment losses recognised/ E#:2, (#[2) Fi{E
(reversed), net E518 - FE 182 (1) 181
As at 31 March 2024 and R=ZTB=-NF
1 April 2024 =A=t—HK
—E-_NFEWNA—H 240 87,820 88,060
Impairment losses recognised/ TR,/ (#@ ) B(E
(reversed), net E518 - JF58 769 (144) 625
As at 31 March 2025 N-EBE_RF
=B=+—H 1,009 87,676 88,685
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments
(Continued)

The following table shows reconciliation of loss
allowances that have been recognised for loan
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash client
receivables and margin client receivables.

12m ECL

T-EARHS

£RTITHE®

34.2 BiEMEEBZERBUR (&)

= B K B EF G (4)

TREJEREKRER RERHE
b EMKIR - BUREEFFRIAR
FEM R FE & B P RIRER BB R
YR -

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL

(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total

S HIR HEH
FEBR FEBR

FEER  GHEERE) (FERE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THr THT FHT
As at 1 April 2023 R-Z-=£MA-H - - 368,750 368,750
Changes due to financial WZEZ=%
instruments recognised as at M A— B R
1 April 2023: SRIAZE:
— Impairment losses (reversedy ~ — B (¥[El) /#R
recognised, net REEE  F8 - = (54,143) (54,143)
— Written-off — 8 = = (31,912) (31,912)
As at 31 March 2024 and R-BZ-NE
1 April 2024 =A=t-HEK
—E-MENA-A - - 282,695 282,695
Changes due to financial RZTZME
instruments recognised as at T H— AR
1 April 2024: SRIAEE:
— Impairment losses (reversed)/ ~ — 2 (%) /HE2
recognised, net HERE 38 - 10 (2,829) (2,819)
— Written-off — A - - (227,758) (227,758)
New financial assets originated ~ EE£HEREE -
net of those derecognised HBREAEE ML L
due to settlement R EE - = 42 42
As at 31 March 2025 R-Z2-E5%F
=ZA=t+-8 - 10 52,150 52,160
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments
(Continued)

0]

(ii)

Bank balances held on behalf of clients, pledged
bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents

The credit risk on liquid funds, including bank
balances held on behalf of clients, pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents, is limited
because cash at banks are placed with reputable
financial institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC
which management believes are of sound credit
quality and without major credit risk.

Deposits and other receivables

For deposits and other receivables (excluding
interest receivables), the directors of the Company
make periodic individual assessment on the
recoverability of deposits and other receivables
based on historical settlement records, past
experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The directors of the
Company believe that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of these amounts since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12-month ECL. For the years ended 31
March 2025 and 2024, the Group assessed the ECL
for deposits and other receivables were insignificant
and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 £@IR®)

342 BHEBREEBERBEK (&)

1= B L B2 K el {8 51 (4

(1)

(ii)

REFHBZRITASLS B
BARITEARRA L REE

nBEEFERR(BERE
FHAzRITHES - DEMAR
TEH - AERERREEHE
W) BER - REJRITERTY
FHEEEERREEERE
RABRBREERRNEES
ENTERTPENSREE -

e REMER IR

MiRe R EMERFIE(TE
FEREFE)ME  ARFE
ERBBETLEF L - UELK
B URAEBAEENTE
EERTEMEER - THIES
I B Ath PR AR SR IR A AT U B R
HEBIFE - "RAREEE
15 BYIFHERNAK %ZES
BEHEE R I mAEEIL M -
BARSER @A 2 BHE
BEEEfiRRE - #EZT
—THER-ZZFT-_NHFE=H
=t+—HIFE  AEEHIEZ
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TR R -
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

252

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments
(Continued)

(ii)

(iv)

Trade receivables

The Group has concentrations of credit risk from
account receivables from its customers of the
trading business. The Group manages and analyses
the credit risk for each of their new and existing
customers before standard payment terms and
conditions are offered. If there is no independent
rating, the Group assesses the credit quality of the
customers based on their financial positions, past
experience and other factors. The group’s top five
account receivables of the trading business
accounted for approximately 97% (2024: 97%) of
the Group's total gross account receivables of the
trading business at 31 March 2025. The Group
maintains frequent communications with these
customers to ensure relevant transactions are
running effectively and smoothly and balances are
reconciled. Settlements from these customers are
closely monitored on an ongoing basis by
management of the Group to ensure any overdue
debts are identified. Follow-up action is taken to
recover the overdue debts.

Loan receivables/Interest receivables

For the Group’s money lending business, the Group
manages and analyses the credit risk by making
reference to the financial strength, purpose of
borrowing, and repayment ability of each of the
borrower before incepting business with them. The
Group also reviews the latest financial capabilities
of the borrowers in determining whether there is
credit risk on the loan receivables and interest
receivables at any point in time.

3 €T R %)

34.2 MBEREEERERBR(#)

1= B L B2 K el 18 51 (4

(iff)

(iv)

AEEFEREAEFIEBE
FPHEKESHEERRET
1BU o RIBEZEZER T R IEK
Mg/l - ANEBSEER
AMESHEFRRABEFHN
EERRE - WEBLTR A
SEAIREEF 2 AR -
AR EEMERTEER
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A=1+—H  X&£BESX£K
RAT AN EWEFE RS EZ
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BREER 5= REFEST
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessments
(Continued)

(iv)

v)

Loan receivables/Interest receivables (Continued)

The Group considers the loan and respective
interest receivables as loss if the repayment of
principal and/or interest has been overdue for a
pro-longed period and the collection of principal
and interest in full is considered improbable after
exhausting all collection efforts such as initiation of
legal proceedings. The Group has concentrations of
credit risk from loan receivables from its customers
of the money lending business. The top five loan
receivables accounted for approximately 82%
(2024: 100%) of the gross loan receivables
balances as at 31 March 2025.

Cash and margin client receivables

The Group has concentrations of credit risk from
account receivables from its customers of the
securities business. The Group’s five largest
customers (excluding clearing house) of the
securities business in aggregate accounted for 90%
(2024: 90%) of the Group’s total gross account
receivables (excluding those are from clearing
house) of the securities business at 31 March 2025.
The Group maintains frequent communications
with these customers and reviews the recoverable
amount for each individual account receivable of
the securities business at each reporting date to
ensure that adequate allowance for impairment is
made for irrecoverable amounts.

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 £@IR®)

34.2 BiiE R bR

EEERERBER#E)

1= B L B2 K el {8 51 (4

(iv) FEWELTEWFIE ()

v)

REEASHN HFEBELR
HEER - T A BRA REE
7% AR RIERTFA - I
O] 2 ZAR B FF B SWR AT
AAlgE - AEBEHRERMNEZ
B AT B RBGRIEAEE - A
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E BhAANERERIGEKE

ERRMAERA)82% (Z T =Y
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EWE & RIREEELHE

AEBFEXREEBSFEBE
FH KRR ERERBRES
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REF(TBREEEMN) E’JFE
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and 342 AMEEBERBEK (B)

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the
Group to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
of the Group monitors the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be demanded for repayment.
The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

RBELEE

EEERBESARTH - NEE
ERTHRASEEEERREN
MIREMRRSEEBYKE  ABA
SEMZEERTES BRERER
BERPNEE AEEEEBER
fEENEREBER  LREAFRETER
e

TRAMASEFITESRARE
A 1 T8 28 FR SR T 8RS 49 B
B e ZRIIBRBEAEBER AN EK
B &FAMZERABERR
REnEBME - ZRBENERAE
THRERE °

Liquidity tables MEBEH KR
Weighted
average Between  Between
interest On Llessthan 1and2  2and5 More than Carrying
rate  demand 1 year years years  5years Total  amount
g
TERE  REX -FUR -EZWF WEDF BAILF it BEE
HK$'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Tén TEx THz TExr TEx Tz TEn
As at 31 March 2025 R-B-EF
=h=t-R
Account and other payables  EERZUR
Rt AR 264,748 - - - - 264748 264,748
Lease liabiites HERE 3.05% - 2518 2683 16% - 6891 6606
Borrowings B8 8.71% - 68852 1,485 4455 29478 104270 87,000
264,748 71,370 4,168 6,145 29478 375909 358,354
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.2 Financial risk management objectives and 342 MIERAKMEEEERKE (&)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) TEELEE (E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) MEBEE K (B)
Weighted
average Between  Between
interest On lessthan  1and2 ~ 2and5 More than Carrying
rate demand 1 year years years  5years Total  amount
g
THRE  RER -ENR -ERE MELE HELE &t REE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Ténr TR ThEr TEr  TEr  TEr  TEx
As at 31 March 2024 R-B=mE
=B=1-H
Account and other payables  EREZR
Ht AR 60392 5057 - - - 65449 65449
Lease liabilties HERE 3.05% - 415 3058 2950 - 1013 9716
Borrowings B8 734% 122,940 - - - - 122940 122,940
183,332 9,172 3,058 2,950 - 198512 198,105

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
were included in the “on demand” time band in the

W*ﬁ‘%ﬁ%/\f%f IR RTT BB
ALEXEHB O TREREE] B

above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2024, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings
amounted to HK$122.9 million. Taking into account the
Group's financial position, the directors did not believe
that it is probable that the banks would exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment.

H&EEA - ﬁé_%‘\_mifﬂ
=+—H ZERTEEZERAAZ
8 122,900,000 7t ° & 5t B A
SEMNBBMRN - EFRA - RTT
AARAI BT EE BB A Bk B
BE -ARAEERE - BHERTT

The directors of the Company believe that such bank EEEIRIESRIZEAEH N 2E
borrowings would be repaid after the end of the ZEHERREHRBES  S5H
reporting period in accordance with the scheduled Rk
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details
of which are set out in the table below:
Less than Beyond Carrying
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total amount
—F0R -EWME WERF  BB8LF @t AR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR Thr ThT TiEn TR TR
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME
ZR=t-H 110,455 14,434 3373 240 128,502 122,940
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.3 Fair value measurements of financial 343 SR T AN A FEE

instruments

256

Some of the Group’s financial instruments are measured
at fair value for financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. For
instruments with significant unobservable inputs under
Level 3, the Group engages third party qualified valuers
to perform the valuation.

AREFHSBIARMERE S
SEONTEE R

ERATER  AREEER
MEENERMSAIREEE - &
RE=ZFETEAEATAERE
ABEENTE  AEEBEFEE=]
BERMAERMETHE -

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets (i) ZTEEEZEZEZMHEREELLD
that are measured at fair value on a FHEHTEHNETHEEERN
recurring basis FE

Some of the Group'’s financial assets are measured
at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The following table gives information about how
the fair values of these financial assets are
determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s)

and inputs used).

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2025

AEEFDEHEENERE
HIRIR A FEAE - TREHR
BRZSEREEQFENMA
BE (52 Ae S ERM
RBABUR) WER -

R—F_AF=A=+—H
R FIEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-3 -t =& @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET FER FEx
31 March 2025 i e 2
=A=t-H
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRL
through profit or loss EREE
— Listed equity securities in —REELMZ
Hong Kong BRAE S 141 - - 141
— Other fund investments —HtESRE - 890 - 890
141 890 - 1,031
Equity securities designated at BEARATEA
fair value through other Hipfra A2
comprehensive income RAE S
— Unlisted equity securities — FEmRAES - = 4,887 4,887
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.3 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a

recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 March 2024

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 £@IR®)

343 SR T AN D FEEE)

(i) FAEEZREEMEELR

FHEHAEHNETHBEENL
FE(E)
RZFE—pWF=HA=+—H
B~ FEER
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R Bk E=R @at

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT THBT TaT THER

31 March 2024 —EomE
=A=+—H
Financial assets at fair value BRATFEGFABRLZ
through profit or loss SRMEE
— Listed equity securities in —REBLTZ
Hong Kong R E

Equity securities designated at EBEBEATERA

fair value through other Hita Az
comprehensive income BRAE S
— Unlisted equity securities — ¥ ETRAES

192 = = 192

_ - 4,354 4,354
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 3 I AW

34.3 Fair value measurements of financial 343 SR T AN DA FEEE)
instruments (Continued)

(i) Fair value of the Group’s financial assets () FTEFELZMHEEL R
that are measured at fair value on a FEFTEHNEHEENL
recurring basis (Continued) SEE (&)

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 3 fair FE=HANTFEFEFMRGHER
value measurements: iy K2 8y A B -
Significant
Valuation unobservable
techniques inputs Range
BEANAER
e ERT i A ZUR £ [E]
Equity securities designated at BEREBERAFEETA Market Price-to-Farnings 6.12
fair value through other Hr s WAz approach (P/E) ratio (2024:11.10)
comprehensive income: BRAFE SR : LT
unlisted equity securities RAFE S
misA T & 6.12
(ZZZm%F -
11.10)
Equity securities designated at BERERFERA Income Discount rate 12.9%
fair value through other Hibgr A Z Approach (2024: nil)
comprehensive income: WRARZE 2 - FE L
unlisted equity securities RANFE 5
WAE LIRS 12.9%
(ZTZm%F -
=)
Terminal 1.15%
growth rate (2024: nil)
KA RE 1.15%
(ZFZm%F -
=)
An increase in the P/E ratio used in isolation would BEFANTREER EAFEE
result in a increase in the fair value measurement of FELEMBRAKENAFETE
the unlisted equity investments, and vice versa. A EF RZTR - AR L
5% increase/decrease in the P/E ratio holding all Ft/ TB&E5% + AT E
other variables constant would increase/decrease ERFAE - BIFE EMBRAE
the carrying amount of unlisted equity securities by sz REESEMm RS
HK$127,000 (2024: HK$127,000). 127,000 (= F — /4 4 :

127,000/ 7T) °
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.3 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

(i)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a
recurring basis (Continued)

An increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a decrease in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity investments,
and vice versa. A 1% increase/decrease in the
discount rate holding all other variables constant
would decrease/increase the carrying amount of
unlisted equity investments by HK$481,000 and
HK$579,000 respectively (2023: HK$205,000 and
HK$229,000 respectively).

An increase in terminal growth used in isolation
would result in a increase in the fair value
measurement of the unlisted equity investments,
and vice versa. A 1% increase/decrease in the
discount rate holding all other variables constant
would increase/decrease the carrying amount of
unlisted equity investments by HK$91,000 and
HK$84,000 respectively (2023: HK$205,000 and
HK$229,000 respectively).

There were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2
and Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy during both
years.

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

3 €@T R %)

343 SR T AN D FEEE)

(i)

FEEZEEMEELR
FEFEHEHBEEN L
FE (&)

\

BEFEANRIRE EAEES
EEMBRAKEN N FEFZE
TB& - RZINA o wBhIE & |
Tt/ TE1% » 0 Fr A E g
ERFILE - BIFEEmRAE
&2 REES D BR8N
481,0007% 7T } 579,000/ JT
ZT =% : 55lA205,000
77T % 229,000 7T) ©

EBEREOKAERE LTS
BYF EMBRARENAFE
FHELE RZIA - fHEhR

= L7,/ TR1%  MHELR
BB RETE - BIFE LR

KZE 2z REE® D 5
m R 491,000 T &
84,0008 T (ZBE=-=4%: »H
7l &205,0007% 7T & 229,000
PBTT) °

RAEFEER - AFEFHP

NE— - F_BREZFz
Faﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂ °
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34 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34.3 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fair value of the Group’s financial assets
that are measured at fair value on a

recurring basis (Continued)

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements:

34

£RTITHE®
343 £ T ENAFEE(E)
() FXEFBZREEMEELR
FEFTEHNEHBEEN A
FE(E)
E=HATEEE 2 HE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2025 2024

—ZE_hE —E-OFE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

At 1 April REA—H 4,354 =

Additions NE 2,970 4,320
Fair value (loss)/gain in other HAbAr & WA #Y

comprehensive income ANFE(EE) M (2,437) 34

At 31 March R=A=+—H 4,887 4,354

(ii) Financial instruments not measured at fair
value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s other financial
instruments including cash and cash equivalents,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances held on
behalf of clients, loan receivables, account
receivables, financial assets included in deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, account
payables, borrowings and financial liabilities
included in other payables and accrued expenses
approximate their respective fair values.

260

(i) THEAFPETEHESEHT
A

AEENEGERTA(ERE
RBe MREEEY - BEMR
TR REPRAZRITHE
B BUESR - YRR - 5t
ARE - FANFIE R E MK
PR REE  ERRFUA
Kt AE RN FE MR &
ANEERERAE)NERE
EEEZEANATFERS °
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35 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital (the
sum of total equity and net debt), as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings less cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank
deposits.

The Group's strategy was to maintain a solid capital base to
support the operations and development of its business in the
long term. The gearing ratios as at 31 March 2025 and 2024
were as follows:

35

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

EcRRER

AEBEEEANBNEZREASE L
WBBBAFBERLENDARBRRERDH
AR RS R A AR - WA
REBRNEBAREESKR o

AEBEREBEEANAELREITER - N5
HHBGIRARPUR » A RTIZAEFE
BRABE AR B (A @Sl R EFE M)
AE - AEFRAREERERRE MR
SEEYWARDERBITERTE -

A S5 40 SRS 2 AR TR A0 R AR ZE R A
SREBSEREBYUR - R-B_HE
R-T-ME=A=+—A - ARAML
ET :

As at 31 March

Borrowings (Note 32) &8 (FizE32)

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25)

and pledged bank deposits REERRITIFR
Net debt BEFHE
Total equity 4R
Total capital BR4RTE
Gearing ratio BEREBELE

o Re MReEEY (HFE25)

R=R=+—H
2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T FETT
87,000 122,940
(21,898) (82,712)
65,102 40,228
198,134 279,239
263,236 319,467
24.73% 12.59%
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36 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 &f#fH&
OF CASH FLOWS

2= B

ﬁlr

&7

1L

(@) Reconciliation of (loss)/profit before
income tax to cash generated from
operations:

() MERATEHLA(EE) FHE
REEENRESYERMT :

Year ended 31 March

BE=A=1-HLEE
2025 2024
—E-RE —EoNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL
(Loss)/profit before income tax M AR Al (518) /FIE (72,121) 11,142
Adjustments for: B TIBEfE A%
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 0% BERZENE
(Note 13) (FfizE13) 10,193 11,066
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) FREEERE (F315) 3,039 3,986
Share of results from associates i NI 181 =
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) EFEEHH (K 16) 838 840
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and HENE « BEREER
equipment (Note 36(b)) B8/ (&) (Fi7E36(b) 2,726 (500)
Exchange gains, net (Note 8) [ 5 Wees - FEE (EE8) (531) (535)
Finance income (Note 8) S (BiE8) (1,775) (410)
Finance costs (Note 9) FISEA (B3 9) 9,144 11,666
Loss on change in fair value in transfer of BENE  BERFEOAT
property, plant and equipment (Note 14) EEBEE (:14) 56,034 =
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair ROTEMABRZER
value through profit or loss (Note 8) BEMNATEZD () (1,054) 180
Impairment of goodwill (Note 16) EERE (M 16) 8,035 =
Impairment of other intangible assets (Note 16) Hin R & RE (FiE16) 657 =
Impairment losses under expected credit loss ABEEEREAETH
model, net of reversal HEBE  MkRED
— Loan receivables (Note 7) — ERER(KE7) (1,684) (58,154)
— Cash client receivables (Note 7) — AR &R PR
(FizE7) (1,093) 4,011
— Trade receivables (Note 7) — ZHREMER (H5E7) 625 181
Gain on early termination of lease (Note 8) RELFRE 2 Iz (FTEE8) (105) =
Changes in working capital: EEEL B
— Inventories —FE 8,465 19,411
— Loan receivables — EWER (22,112) 63,576
— Account receivables — BUERR (953) (60,690)
— Bank balances held on behalf of clients — REFPHA ZBTHH (193,058) (3,991)
— Deposits, prepayments and other —&e  BRFERAM
receivables FEWRIE (3,662) 38,194
— Account payables — ERERR 190,977 3,744
— Other payables and accrued expenses — Hfth e 3RIE R B ST
=4 8,323 (4,355)
Cash generated from operations REESNRS 1,089 39,362
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36 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 SR &REXME 2
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) In the consolidated statement of cash (b) REHBEESREXRKN HEY
flows, proceeds from disposal of property, ¥ BERREMEREERRE:

plant and equipment comprise:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2025 2024
—EBE_REF —E_PUE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
A7 T

Net book amount of property, plant EHEWE  BE&FZE

and equipment disposed (Note 13) RO BRTEFE (FH7E13) 2,728 =
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, HEWE « R KRED
plant and equipment (E518), M= (2,726) 500

Proceeds from disposal of property, LEME - BER&
plant and equipment FrfS#8 2 500
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36 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 36 &fiR&REBXRMT 2
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from (0 REMETB2EENHERM
financing activities is as follows: T
Lease
liabilities Borrowings Total
HEEE )= st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAET THET
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-_=F[mWA—H 11,520 173,052 184,572
Drawdown of borrowings RIEE = 125,885 125,885
Repayments of borrowings HEEE - (175,477) (175,477)
Interest paid BHAFE - (11,902) (11,902)
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEEREZRE
lease liabilities By (3,669) = (3,669)
Repayment of interest portion of EEEEREBEZME
lease liabilities B (284) - (284)
Other changes H{th B )
New lease entered HIVE: gk 1,865 - 1,865
Interest expenses (Note 9) FE X (FE9) 284 11,382 11,666
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-MF
ER=ET=FH 9,716 122,940 132,656
Drawdown of borrowings RMEE - 87,000 87,000
Repayments of borrowings EEEE - (122,940) (122,940)
Interest paid B2 - (8,910) (8,910)
Repayment of principal portion of EEHERE RS
lease liabilities B (3,053) - (3,053)
Repayment of interest portion of BEREEREZME
lease liabilities o (234) = (234)
Other changes Hfth &)
Early termination of lease RERIHAE (3.439) = (3.439)
New lease entered HEivEk) 3,382 - 3,382
Interest expenses (Note 9) FlEx H (KEE9) 234 8,910 9,144
At 31 March 2025 RZZ_h%E
=RA=+—H 6,606 87,000 93,606
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37 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments
The Group did not have any capital commitments for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

(b) Operating lease arrangement — where

the Group as a lessor

The Group has contracted with tenants for the following
future minimum lease receivables:

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

37 &iE

(a) BEAEE

HE_Z _NEA_ZT-_=F=A
=+ —HIEFE  AEEWEEM
BARHESE o

(b) REHERY — AKEERH
HA

AEBEEHRA T REFERERK
RABRBPETLAH -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2025 2024
—E_RF —EPOE
HK$’'000 HK$'000
T FETT

Properties ES
Within one year —FNR

Leases for properties are negotiated for 1 year (2023:nil).

38 BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 21 March 2025, Excel Goal Limited, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, completed the acquisition
of 100% equity interest in Ocean Fresh from an independent
third party pursuant to a sales and purchase agreement dated
21 March 2025 at a consideration of HK$7,078,000, to be
satisfied by cash. Ocean Fresh is principally engaged in trading
of food products and provision of processing and preserving of
fish in Hong Kong respectively.

In accordance with HKFRS 3, “Business Combinations”, the
Group is required to recognise the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities that satisfy the recognition criteria at
their fair value at the acquisition date. Accordingly, the Group
has undertaken a purchase price allocation allocating the
purchase consideration to the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired at the acquisition date. Significant accounting
estimates have been involved when performing the allocation.

45 =

MWEHEBES—FHB(ZFE=_=
F: 8-

38 EXBaH

R-ZB-_RE=A=-+—0  xAF2H
E2EMWBRARERAGRARIRERH
A_E-_RFE=A-+—B2EEWE
ERE—ZBLIFE=FWRER EHRZ
100% A% % - X {8 57,078,000/ &
BAREFUBREST - REESABIEE
REBRERAEZ REHAENNT
NFEEd o

REFEEVBHRELNEIRIEHE
Bf - REEZARRNEE B B Q- FERE
RPEWE T TR ERE WA BRIEE -
BEKKARE - Bt - AEREDLET
BEEIK  BBERESEZWERS
PGB IR B EEMAE - 17D
FCh S REAGRTART ©
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38 BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 38 ¥Batt»)

REERREBESNAHENEERE

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Ocean

Fresh as at the date of acquisition were as follows: EAFEENT :
HK$'000
FHIT
Purchase consideration WEERE 7,078
Recognised amounts of identifiable assets acquired BB ERNEENEAERBED
and liabilities assumed at fair value ERRERE —Z AV E
Other financial assets HEthemEE -
Customer relationship (Note 16) BEBE (ME16) 6,742
Cash and cash equivalents ReKIREEEY 1,081
Inventories FE 3,565
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables e - TRRIE R E M EGRIE 84
Account receivables FEUT AR R 785
Account payables FETBRFKR (18,541)
Deferred tax liabilities FEFIEEE (1,113)
Total identifiable net liabilities AR F B EEE (7,397)
Goodwill (Note 16) EESICIER)) 14,475
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition WHEEA 2R &L T
Cash consideration paid BEfEENRE (7,078)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B WERRe RIRSEEY 1,081
(5,997)

266

Included in the goodwill of HK$14,475,000 recognised above
is an assembled workforce, which is not recognised separately.
Because the Group would not have sufficient control over the
expected future economic benefits arising from the assembled
workforce, it does not meet the criteria for recognition as an
intangible asset under HKAS 38, “Intangible Assets”. None of
the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

Revenue included in the consolidated income statement since
acquisition date contributed by Ocean Fresh were
HK$2,184,000. This acquired business contributed operating
profit of HK$80,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025 from
the acquisition date.

R RERE 14,475,000 75 7T 8 2 B 1
REET H WAEBER EAEBTRE
EEEFIRES TEANTBHRREE
i BB B ERIFE 385 [ &
FEE]BTERERLEENKRME - &
BRSBTS R A °

AR ERATBEARERARRAR L&
mEREUA 2,184,000 7T - B &= =
T_RFE=A=+—HIFE - kg
570 B YR BE B #E B B AS &% 1 80,000 75
—
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BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued)

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
financial year ended 31 March 2025, the revenue from
continuing operations of the Group and the loss of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2025 would have been
HK$333,645,000 and HK$70,932,000 respectively.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered into
the capital injection agreement with independent third parties
pursuant to which the independent third parties agreed to
contribute a total of USD49,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$382,000) into Aspire Well Limited which resulted in passive
dilution of equity interests in Aspire Well Limited. The
transaction was completed on 31 January 2024 (“Deemed
Partial Disposal Completion Date”). Accordingly, the
Group's effective equity interest in Aspire Well Limited reduced
from 100% to 51% without loss of control in Aspire Well
Limited, and the excess of capital injection recognised of
approximately HK$7,339,000 was credited to capital reserve.

As at the Deemed Partial Disposal Completion Date, the
financial effect on the equity attributable to the owners of the
Company is summarized as follows:

38

39

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

E S5 3E )
MAEHEREE-—E-—HAE=A=+—
B REEENE  ARE-S—%

FZA=F+—HIEFEAEEFELE
WA K 7 & B &5 18 1% 9 51l & 333,645,000
Y571 % 70,932,000 4 7T ©

EFERERNRS

HE_ZT-_ME=A=+—HILFEE 'K
SEEFEE=FF T E M - Bt
%837 56 = 75 [F] & [7] Aspire Well Limited )£
& & 49,0003 7T (18 & 7 49382,000 7%
TT) » BE Aspire Well Limited 2 B #E H IR
WEEE - ZERSHER T _WF—A
= t+t—H(REBIHETKBEH]) T
B o Bt - 72N 55 B 7 Aspire Well Limited
ZEBRRERI100% D ES1% - B
7K 5= 2= ¥ Aspire Well Limited 2 2 i) 4 -
MmE MR BRI &4 7,339,000/8 TE
T AB NG o

RO HETK A - HARAHEE
ANEIEER 2 BT BRI T

2024

—E_mEF

HK$'000

FAT

Capital contribution by non-controlling interests IRt A 382
Carrying amount of equity interests obtained by LR EVS MR AR E (BB

non-controlling interests 6,957

Excess of capital injection recognised in WA Z TSR
non-controlling interests within equity fidsk=bE | 7,339
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39 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group entered into
an agreement with the aforementioned independent third
parties in which the Group purchased the equity interests in
Aspire Well Limited with consideration amounted to a total of
HK$661,000. The transaction was completed on 5 December
2024 ("Deemed Partial Acquisition Completion Date”).
Accordingly, the Group'’s effective equity interest in Aspire Well
Limited increased from 51% to 100%, and the excess of capital
consideration and non-controlling interests derecognised of
approximately HK$7,332,000 was debited to capital reserve.

As at the Deemed Partial Acquisition Completion Date, the
financial effect on the equity attributable to the owners of the
Company is summarized as follows:

39 HEFERESNRS &)

BHE_T-_AF=-A=1+—HLFE &
SEHE FMBE = FRI MR 0 Bt

7N £ [E B8 B Aspire Well Limited 2 B 4 -
BRER661,0008T - RHER_T
—ME+=-—AAHZEK(BEDD RE
SSRBH) o Eit - ANEE R Aspire Well
Limitedz & & IR # B51%E M =
100% - i E TR ERBH B KR LR IEE
R HEZR 497,332,000/ cE 5t A B AR o

RO WEZK B - HARBHEE
ARG MR ERAnT

2025
—E-EHF

HK$°000
TR

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests

BB SR At et 2 BRENE

acquired (6,671)
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests BT IEE R 2 B (661)
Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity Mgz ARER 2 B RER LD (7,332)

40 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(a) Transactions with other related parties
Save as disclosed in Note 40(c), during the years ended
31 March 2025 and 2024, no material transactions were
undertaken by the Group with related parties.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, there were no material
outstanding balances with related parties.
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40 EXRBEH LIRS

(a) EEEMBBMLTETZRS

BRPSFE40() IR EESN  BE—F
“hER-FE_HNF=A=1+—H
I E - RSB0 HE B e U 1T
EREARS

(b) EEREEES HVRIBLEER
RZE_AFAR_ZT_MF=HA

=t+—B  BEEEYRTNENK
IBAEER ©
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40 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40 EXBE LR Z (&)

(Continued)

(c) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group

(0 FAEBEFEEBASHFHH

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

Short term employee benefits R ES R
Discretionary bonus FIETEAL
Post-employment benefits RIREF

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in Note 42.

2025 2024
—E_RE —E-OFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT BT
3,913 3,020

60 1,016

48 37

4,021 4,073

EXEREFETBRABMENESF

BRI E42 ©
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 7/
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY -

270

Annual Report F#R 2025

ﬁﬁz,ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁﬁ%&ﬁﬁ

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
2025 2024
—E-RfF ZEZUFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
ASSETS E
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG IEPNE ol 95,214 95,214
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables ®&  TARFRIEREAMEWKIE 1,470 1,470
96,684 96,684
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS BT A Rl k1A 321,792 82,153
Other financial assets HivemEE 890 -
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Z&  FARHRIEREAMEWKIE 3,555 645
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSFEY 604 12,622
326,841 95,420
Total assets BEEAE 423,525 192,104
EQUITY ER
Capital and reserves attributable to equity ZAQATREZFEAEBLERR
holders of the Company e
Share capital AR 7,742 7,892
Reserves (Note a) e (st a) 175,946 182,292
Total equity B 183,688 190,184
LIABILITIES aE
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables and accrued expenses ﬁ@ﬁéﬁmlﬁ)&ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ 2,634 1,920
Amount due to subsidiaries Vﬁ [ IIESNGIE= e 210,203 -
Borrowing BE 27,000 =
239,837 1,920
Total liabilities B fEAE 239,837 1,920
Total equity and liabilities EEREBEHEE 423,525 192,104
Net current assets RBEEZRE 87,004 93,500
Total assets less current liabilities EELATERADERE 183,688 190,184

The statement of financial position of the Company was
approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2025 and was

signed on its behalf by:

Chan Wing Sum

BR K #x

Director

EE

RAZMBERARKER TR FN
FedE  YHIATEER

?H‘:DH}

i ]

1D
i
e

Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth
REIE
Director

EE
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 XA T ZHBERREREES

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY B (#)
(Continued)
(@) Reserves movement of the Company: (@) XATFEST :

Shares held
for share
Share Contributed award Accumulated
premium surplus scheme losses Total

RROER

RoEE BRES SERERG  RAEAE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THET THET THET
(Note)
(i)

For the year ended 31 March BZ-Z-1%

2025 ZAZT-HIERE
Balance at 1 April 2024 RZZZJ4F
MAREES 598103 95114 (21554 (484371) 182292
Loss for the year FEBR s L I ) )
Total comprehensive expense FAXMLAR e L I ) )
Cancellation of treasury shares T HERRR (B8 - - = (3855)
Balance at 31 March 2025 RZZZhE

=A=+—-BnEs 589,248 95,114 (21,554)  (486,862) 175,946
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41 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 41 XA T ZHBRREREES

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY B (&)
(Continued)
(a) Reserves movement of the Company: () ZAATRESE : (&)
(Continued)
Shares held
for share
Share  Contributed award  Accumulated
premium surplus scheme losses Total
RinEE  ESRH HEARERGL  ZHEBE R

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT

(Note)
(KrzE)
For the year ended 31 March BE-E2-MmE
2024 SACt-HLEE
Balance at 1 April 2023 RZTZ=F
RA-Re&ER 51565 9114 (21630) (478169 110,990
Loss for the year FEBR === (6200)  (6202)
Total comprehensive expense FAY LGS === (6200)  (6:202)
Issuance of shares upon placement  EZEBFETTRD 24,639 = = = 24,639
Issuance of shares upon rights issue ~ FAREFE1TR (D 54,194 - 76 - 54,270
Transaction costs attributable to AR ATAR (D B
shares issued upon rights issue RHHA . (a45) - - - (1405
Balance at 31 March 2024 RZZZME

ZRA=T—Rm&EH 593,103 95,114 (21,554) (484,371) 182,292

Note: Contributed surplus represents the difference between the excess Mzt BHBHIEDBITANTKRND EER
of the nominal value of the Company shares issued and the HiREEBEAMKENBATESE
aggregate net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to SR(E AR EEE o

the group reorganisation.
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42 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

42 EENmkERS
(a) EZHH

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31

March 2025 is set out below:

MrQu
Honggqing
(Note (ii))

Biltans
(HF& (i)
HKS'000
Tén

REE-_ZE_AF=A=+—HL
FE EZNMSHIET ¢

Executive directors

HnEs

Mr Chan
Wing Sum

R E
HKS'000
TR

Ms Kwok

Ling Yee

Pearl Elizabeth
(Note (iii))
BEMLL
(Wi (i)
HK$'000
TR

Mr Cheung

Lit Wan

Kenneth

(Note (i))

RAERE

(EE ()

HK$'000

THL

Fee e 2220

Salaries and other henefits in kind e RAMEMEN -

Discretionary bonus RETA -
Employer's contribution to a retirement (£ #i&{KRHIz Tl

benefit scheme e 14

Total emoluments Hifag 2,234

Ms Luo Ying
(Note (iv)) Total
BEut
(R (iv) Eh
HKS'000 HKS'000
Tin Tén
690 3913
60 60
16 48
766 4,021
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42 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31

March 2025 is set out below: (Continued)

Mr Loo
Hong Shing,
Vincent

BEALE
HKS'000
TR

Fee

Salaries and other benefits in kind

Discretionary bonus

Employer's contribution to a retirement
benefit scheme

Total emoluments
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e

FeREeENREN

AL

B HRAEAEE
il

fieg

(a) EE=HM (&)

42 BEEFBZRER#)

RBE_T-_AF=-A=1t—HL
FE - EFOMEHIWNT : (B&)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Zhu
Shouzhong
(Note (v))
RYhEL
(R ()
HK$'000
Thn

Mr Lee

Ka Leung
Daniel
(Note (vii)
3FRRE
(R (i)
HK$'000
Tin

Mr Mao
Shuguang
(Note (ix))
Ed- 3
(ki)

HKS'000

Thn

Total

it
HKS'000
TR

BuunEs
MrLi  MrLeung
Huagiang ~ Wai Kwan
(Note (vi))  (Note (vii)
FEBRE  RRERE
(W) (i)
HKS'000  HKS'000
Tin Thn
81 84
81 84
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42 EEFZNER#)

The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31
March 2024 is set out below:

Mr Qu
Hongging
(Note (i)
i
(PF3E (i)

Salaries and other benefits in kind

Discretionary bonus

Employer's contribution to a
retirement benefit scheme

Total emoluments

FeRABENET
BRI
(X HR ARG

HIAEK

A

Hunlicar Group Limited ZRIINEEBRA 7

(a) EEHM (&)

RBEE-T-mE=A=+—AL
FE  EZMEHINAT

Executive directors
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42 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 42 EEFFRER B

(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EEHEM (&)
The remuneration of the directors for the year ended 31 NEBEE—_ZE_NWE=/A=+—H I
March 2024 is set out below: (Continued) EE BENMESETWOT : (&)
Independent non-executive directors
BUENITES
Mr Loo Mr Zhu Mr Li
Hong Shing, Shouzhong Huagiang
Vincent (Note (v)) (Note (vi) Total
RTHREE FEREE
ERKTE (FI5E W) (B & (vi)) @5t
Fee fiikn 161 161 161 483
Salaries and other benefits in kind ~ %4 & E M MEF - - - -
Discretionary bonus iBTEA - - - -
Employer’s contribution to a EEHRREFIE
retirement benefit scheme ey 8- -8
Total emoluments Fiseza 169 161 161 491
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42 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

(b)

Notes:

@)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Mr Cheung Lit Wan Kenneth was appointed as the chairman and
an executive director of the Company with effect from 2 July
2024.

Mr Qu Hongging has resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 31 March 2025.

Ms Kwok Ling Yee Pearl Elizabeth has resigned as an executive
director of the Company with effect from 5 April 2024.

Ms Luo Ying was appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 5 April 2024.

Mr Zhu Shouzhong has retired as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 24 September 2024.

Mr Li Huagiang has retired as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 24 September 2024.

Mr Leung Wai Kwan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 24 September
2024.

Mr Lee Ka Leung Daniel was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 February
2025.

Mr Mao Shuguang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 24 September
2024, and then he has resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 1 February 2025.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
director waived any emoluments.

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
retirement benefits during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

42 EEFZNER#)

(a) EEHM (&)

(b)

B aE -

(i)

(iif)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

RUEEERZTEARNRRERFERD
TEE B-ZE-_NEtA-HEE
B e

EHBEEDBHAIARRANTES
B-E-_RAF=A=t+—HB4ER-

BEMEZLEBHEARRANTES
BT NFENARARBENR -

BRAXTERZETANRRITES -
BT NFUARARBENR -

KTFHAEEBRERNRRIBEILIENIT
B2 H-ZT-WNFAA=-TMAR
HR e

FER L AT IREANRRIBMIEANTT
EE BE-ZT-MFAA=TMAR
A o

Z2EEFEEBEZTARNRRBILIE
WITESZ BT FAAZ=1M
HARARL

ERBEECEZEARAQBBEILIE
BITEE A-_E-_RHE_A—H#E
AR e

EENEECEZEANARELIE
WTES BT -_MFELA =1
HREER  HEEBHEAQRB I
WITES BT -_HAF-_A—HiE
AR e

BE_Z_hAFAk_FT_WFE=HA
=t HIEFE  BMEESREL
BN -

EEZRHKEF

MEEENHEE T _AFE_F
—HE=/A=+—HtFEWKEE
AU TR AR F o
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42 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

278

(o)

(d)

(e)

()

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any
termination benefits during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no
consideration was paid by the Company to third parties
for making available directors’ services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, there
are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company has
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of 31 March 2025 and 2024 or at
any time during the years ended 31 March 2025 and
2024.

During both years, no remuneration was paid by the
Group to the directors of the Company as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the directors of the Company has
waived any remuneration during both years.

42 BEEFBZRER#)

(0

(d)

(e)

(f)

EEZERERN

BMEEENEE_T_AFE_F
“ME=A=t— EIJJ:iEHﬁZHXjZ
75 U B A o] B BB AR ) o

RERHKESHERBEONF =X
FHRE

BE_Z_hAFk_FT_WWF=H
= +—HIEFE  ARRBEE
REEEREANZE=Z A ZMARE -

FHRES ZFTEEZRE
HEZERBEEBREHAENR
BERERREMXZNESR

BE_ZT_RAFER-_Z_NFE=H
=T HLEEE BEREE - %
FEECXBHEEREAEERRR
HER BERERREMRHLHE -
EERRE  THAEGHZE
K=

RZE-_RAFR_T-_NHF=A
- HEREXBEEZZT-_AF
MZE-_NF=A=1+—HLFE
AE AR MEERNEBEXEKS
BMARB AR RARBES
REFBEEEAER(TwEEL
M) ZERRS RHEREH -

RREFER » NREBELERAR
AEEXMNME - ERMAZMA
AEE R SRR ESBERRE -
ARBEEZHEN M EFEREE
B -
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43 NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE

REPORTING PERIOD
Partial Offer in April 2025

On 20 January 2025, Talent Virtue International Limited (A 1=
% B BR A 7)) (the “Offeror”) and the Company jointly
announce that the Offeror intended to make a preconditional
voluntary cash partial offer to acquire a maximum of
19,439,034 shares in the issued share capital of the Company
from qualifying shareholders (the “Partial Offer”) at an offer
price of HK$4.50 (the “Offer Price”) per offer share.

The Partial Offer closed on 7 April 2025. As at the date of joint
announcement, the Offeror has received: (i) valid approval of
the Partial Offer in respect of a total of 28,118,499 Shares,
representing approximately 51.80% of the Shares not held by
the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it. (ii) valid
acceptances in respect of a total of 21,527,700 Offer Shares,
representing approximately 27.81% of the Shares in issue as at
the date of this joint announcement.

For details of the Partial Offer, please refer to the joint
announcement dated 20 February 2025 jointly issued by the
Offeror and the Company; the composite document dated 12
March 2025 jointly issued by the Offeror and the Company;
the joint announcement dated 24 March 2025 jointly issued by
the Offeror and the Company; and the joint announcement
dated 25 March 2025 jointly issued by the Offeror and the
Company.

43

T DR S 5 ¥ o B

BRERRNFEARER

REZBZAFHANBIEN

RZE-—RE—F=+RH  AE=ERER
PEIBHAD REARABEEMR 2
H) AR AE BT S R IR B FESR £ 205
A BRERBLHRMHA50BTTHEL
B(EHE] MEERBREWREBARD
BB BT IR AN A % 19,439,034 B Bk 19
([BAEL]) °

HOBEHAR T -_RAFMNALHE L - B
BMEREBEE BHOAEEE: ()&
28,118,499 % fi% 0 &Y & 0 E XV 89 B W H#t
B HEEREODARE—BITEA LR
BRD#151.80% - (i) & 21,527,700 i%
BERG (ERAHE AL BEE BT
7BHI27.81%) 2 BB -

BRI ZHNFE  FREEHAER
AEETERMA—S —_AF A=+
HREA QL « B ABEKRQ TS FIEE
BHA-ZT-_AF=A+_HHEAX
H BOAERRABAETIRESEAE =T
“HE=ZF-+MBENBARE  REL
ANEXRRARBATIEBHA T _FF
“A-+HBHEAEASE -
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43

280

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

Acquisition of Victoria Wealth Management
Limited

Subsequent to 31 March 2025, the Group completed the
acquisition of 82% of Victoria Wealth Management Limited.
The acquisition has been accounted for as acquisition of
business using the acquisition method. The transaction was
completed on 30 May 2025 and the acquisition cost of
HK$1,400,000 was satisfied from its internal resources under
the Share Transfer Agreement on the date of the Completion.
Details of the acquisition are set out in the Group’s circular
dated 30 May 2025. The Company is of the view that the
business being conducted by Victoria Wealth Management
Limited has great development potential and could provide a
new source of income for the Group. The Directors believe that
the acquisition will provide an opportunity for the Group to
expand its financial services business in Hong Kong and are of
the view that the terms of the Share Transfer Agreement are
fair and reasonable and are on normal commercial terms and
the entering into of the Share Transfer Agreement is in the
interest of the Group and the shareholders as a whole.

43 REHRPFEFREE &)

WisEEMEEERRAA

RZZE-_RAF=A=+—RH%  £&EZ
R BERENEERERAFINS2%
o ZWBERA BB EARIMEWRIE X
B ZRHGER_E_RAFAA=+HR
B - WX 751,400,000 7 T E AR B AR 7
EEHAN T B HUE RSB RS -
ZRBEBNHBEENAKERRA-F -0
FRA=TENBER - ARRIRR - #E
MEEBERAREEETNERAESR
ERBRES - A RAKEREHETVKRA
R - EEMIE - ZBBRBRARERNE
BRERRESBRREEBRERE - ARS
B EEGZENIRRERAFEERZ—
A RIRET L - BIRI SR B
FTAAEE RBRNELE -

o
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